
 

If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call Governance Services on 01432 260635 or e-
mail ruth.goldwater@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
Cabinet 
 

 

Date: Thursday 19 March 2015 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Place: Shire Hall, St Peters Square, Hereford, HR1 2HX 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Governance Services 
Tel: 01432 260635 
Email: ruth.goldwater@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 



 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Cabinet 
Membership  
  
Chairman Councillor AW Johnson 
Vice-Chairman  
   
 Councillor H Bramer  
 Councillor JW Millar  
 Councillor PM Morgan  
 Councillor GJ Powell  
 Councillor PD Price  
 Councillor P Rone  
 

Non Voting    
 
 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  19 MARCH 2015 
 

 

AGENDA  
 Pages 
PUBLICINFORMATIONFIREINFO OCT 14 
 

 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

Notice has been served in accordance with Part 3, Section 9 (Publicity in 
connection with key decisions) of The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012. 
 
Item 
No 

Title Portfolio 
Responsibility 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

28 Day 
Notice 
Given 

5 Herefordshire Older 
People’s Housing 
Strategy and Pathway 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Health and 
Social Care 
Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 

28 
January 
2015 

7 Waste Management 
Services Update 

Corporate 
Strategy and 
Finance 

General 
Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 

12 
February 
2015 

 
 

 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on the 
Agenda. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES 
 

7 - 14 

 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 26 February 2015. 
 

 

4.   PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 
 

15 - 38 

 To publish the statutory annual report of the Director of Public Health on the 
health of people of Herefordshire, as required by the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012. 
 

 

5.   HEREFORDSHIRE OLDER PEOPLE'S HOUSING STRATEGY AND 
PATHWAY 
 

39 - 96 

 To approve the Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway. 
 

 

6.   STAYING PUT STRATEGY 
 

97 - 112 

 To approve the Staying Put policy and procedures. 
 

 

7.   WASTE MANAGEMENT SERVICES CONTRACT UPDATE 
 

113 - 118 

 To approve the deferral of the payment for the purchase of the Energy from 
Waste plant site in Hartlebury and provide an update on the outcome of the 
execution of joint waste PFI contract variation concluded in May 2014. 
 

 

8.   CORPORATE DELIVERY PLAN 2015-16 119 - 138 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  19 MARCH 2015 
 

 

 

 To agree the projects and measures within the 2015/16 corporate delivery 
plan. 
 

 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business 

to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a report is 
given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer 
has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with 
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject 
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a 
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents. 

 

Public Transport Links 
 
• The Shire Hall is a few minutes walking distance from both bus stations located in the 

town centre of Hereford. 

5



RECORDING OF THIS MEETING 
 

Please note that filming, photography and recording of this meeting is permitted provided that 
it does not disrupt the business of the meeting. 
 
Members of the public are advised that if you do not wish to be filmed or photographed you 
should let the governance services team know before the meeting starts so that anyone who 
intends filming or photographing the meeting can be made aware. 
The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the 
reporting to ensure that they comply. 
 

 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 
In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the nearest available fire exit 
and make your way to the Fire Assembly Point in the Shire Hall car park. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning to collect coats or other 
personal belongings. 

The Chairman or an attendee at the meeting must take the signing in sheet so it can be 
checked when everyone is at the assembly point. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

6



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Cabinet held at Shire Hall, St 
Peters Square, Hereford, HR1 2HX on Thursday 26 
February 2015 at 2.00 pm 
  

Present: Councillor PM Morgan (Chairman)ouncillor  (Vice Chairman) 
   
 Councillors: H Bramer, JW Millar, GJ Powell, PD Price and P Rone 
 
  
In attendance: Councillors CNH Attwood, WLS Bowen, ACR Chappell, EPJ Harvey, 

TM James, RI Matthews, FM Norman, AJW Powers,  
Mr A Neill, Mr B Norman, Mr P Robinson, Mrs J Davidson and 
Ms H Coombes 

  
  
61. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
  
 Apologies were received from the Leader, Councillor AW Johnson. 
  
62. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
  
 There were no declarations of interest. 
  
63. MINUTES   
  
 RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 January 2015 be 

approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
  
64. CHILDREN'S SAFEGUARDING UPDATE   
  
 The Cabinet Member, Young People and Children’s Services, introduced an update 

report on the outcomes of three inspections concerning safeguarding within 
Children’s Services.  
 
The Director of Children’s Wellbeing and the Head of Safeguarding and Review 
presented the update.  
 
It was noted that the Department for Education (DfE) review was positive and that 
steps are being taken to improve the areas that were identified as requiring further 
attention. The rate of progress is dependent upon sustaining stability and quality of 
the workforce which is being addressed through a range of recruitment activity with 
the intention of reducing the proportion of agency workers from 31%.   
 
There is ongoing support from all agencies and progress is being made despite 
some issues with capacity, which is being addressed to ensure effective 
safeguarding.  
 
It is hoped that the DfE will take the decision at the end of March 2015 to lift the 
intervention notice and this will enable transitional arrangements for effective 
safeguarding and for the service to then focus on continuous improvement. The 
appointment of a new Chair of the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board will be 
announced next week. 
 
The Peer Diagnostic pilot scrutinised the functionality of the Safeguarding Board and 

AGENDA ITEM 3

7



CABINET THURSDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2015 
 

 

informed the DfE review. It also recognised that better alignment of partnership 
working was needed and that the voice of the child needed to be embedded. Both of 
these matters are being addressed. The review also noted improvements in multi-
agency working and in business support and was positive about what has been 
achieved within the past twelve months.  
 
Progress on the Ofsted action plan was noted; the Safeguarding Board is now 
responsible for assuring delivery of the plan and this will form the bench-mark for any 
future Ofsted inspection. Key evidence will be that there is a case by case difference 
reflected in feedback from families.  
 
In answer to a member’s question regarding sufficient resourcing of the business unit 
of the Safeguarding Children Board, the Director of Children’s Wellbeing explained 
that that there was support from partner agencies to enhance structures. A 
management of change process is underway and there is confidence that the 
structure will be fully staffed from April 2015. It was further clarified that there is work 
across the partnership to ensure that priorities are addressed through the 
Safeguarding Board.  
 
The leader of the Independent Group asked about the scale of the concerns reported 
by staff feeling overwhelmed with administrative tasks. The Head of Safeguarding 
and Review confirmed that capacity in the business support function was being 
addressed to support the volume of calls to the service, further enhanced by 
improvements in telephony. The casework management system, Frameworki, is also 
being modernised to simplify processes.  
 
The Chairman of the General Overview and Scrutiny Committee commented that 
there is more to be done to ensure stability and that nationally there is an alarming 
volume of complex cases that remain unreported including those relating to child 
sexual exploitation. 
 
The leader of the Green group asked for reassurance that there is now focus and 
strong leadership and that the service can be flexible to the nature of casework 
without the level of police resources as reported impeding the safeguarding process.  
The Director of Children’s Wellbeing explained that the Safeguarding Board has 
identified priorities and will be held to account.  The leadership role is key here in 
raising the profile of safeguarding across Herefordshire to ensure that children are 
protected from harm. She added that child sexual exploitation is both a national and 
county-wide issue for communities as well as for agencies. As regards police input, it 
is recognised that there is pressure on all agencies regarding participation in child 
protection conferences, making it harder to progress some cases. The involvement 
of Mental Health and General Practitioner services is also being addressed. The 
focus is on achieving an “outstanding” review to improve lives and to provide high 
quality work for every family. 
 
A Member observed that, in the context of a forthcoming new administration, the 
report contained a high number of acronyms, and requested that this be addressed 
to ensure that reports are accessible. It was noted that a glossary is being developed 
and this matter will be taken into account in the induction programme for members.  
 
The leader of the Liberal Democrats commented that the focus needs to be on 
having a strong workforce that is not distracted by process, and cited a social worker 
who left the service due to increasing administrative tasks. The Director for 
Children’s Wellbeing explained that safeguarding relies on the judgement of all 
professionals and that it is governed by regulation and legal process. These factors 
were previously of poor quality at the time that the service was deemed 
“inadequate”. A good process protects the interests of all and supports people to 

8



CABINET THURSDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2015 
 

 

perform well and improve outcomes. The Head of Safeguarding and Review added 
that there is a long term plan underway to ensure a high quality workforce which will 
pay dividends over time.  
 
The leader of It’s Our County noted the encouraging messages although there is 
further work ahead and improvement needs to be maintained. He commented that 
each partner must meet its legal obligations under the Children Act to contribute fully 
alongside the council, and that the Safeguarding Board and the Scrutiny Committee 
be held to account. The Head of Safeguarding and Review confirmed that there is 
support and recognition from partners for growth and despite pressures on police 
resources, there is active commitment to the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub and to 
child sexual exploitation.  
 
The Deputy Leader placed on record thanks to David McCallum for his work as the 
outgoing Chair of the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That (a) the outcome of the Department for Education review conducted                

on 15 and 16 December 2014 be noted; 
 

(b) the outcome of the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
Local Government Association peer diagnostic conducted 
between 17-19 November 2014 be noted; and 

 
(c)  progress to date on the Ofsted action plan be noted.  

 
  
65. DELIVERING THE STRATEGIC APPROACH FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG 

PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES AND SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS   
  
 The Cabinet Member, Young People and Children’s Services, introduced the report 

in consideration of the transformation programme for children and young people with 
disabilities and special educational needs.  
 
The Assistant Director, Children’s Wellbeing, presented the strategy which has had 
extensive consultation with families.  The strategy forms part of the Children and 
Young People plan and has been commended for developing good practice.  
The key themes of the strategy are: 
 

• enabling choice and empowerment in line with the Children and Families Act 
(2014) to meet aspirations to provide a high level of service to this group; 

• Integrated pathways, which co-ordinate services and streamline the transition 
into adulthood by linking Children’s and Adults’ services in line with 
Department for Education recommendations; 

• Advice and guidance for families to make choices around services to meet 
needs, for example short breaks; and 

• working with the Clinical Commissioning Group to consider needs to support 
children to remain at home rather than using distant residential 
accommodation  

 
A Member welcomed the approach detailed in the report and commented on the 
reduction of “silos”. In answer to his question regarding resources, the Assistant 
Director, Children’s Wellbeing, confirmed that some areas are progressing well, 
whilst other areas such as personalisation, require further work. At this stage clarity 
is required regarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s priorities in order to meet 

9



CABINET THURSDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2015 
 

 

families’ complex needs and to enhance therapy services.   
 
The Chair of the General Overview and Scrutiny Committee asked about the risk 
areas associated with the strategy. There is concern about avoiding overburdening 
families with consultation, instead focusing on positive change for the families 
affected.  
 
The leader of the Independent group asked for confirmation that previous 
weaknesses in the partnership had been resolved. The Assistant Director, Children’s 
Wellbeing, explained that the partnership could be stronger in some areas but it was 
important that it is held to account.  It was noted that there is a strong partnership 
with Paediatrics.   
 
The leader of the Liberal Democrats commented that there could be a significant 
financial impact from the Care Act which will need to be made clear to newly elected 
Members. This was noted for the attention of officers for inclusion in the induction 
programme for Members.  
 
The leader of the Greens commented on the improvement programme’s reporting to 
the Director and the Health and Wellbeing Board. She further commented that the 
detail of personalisation required development in order for implementation.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That (a) the 2015-2018 Children and young people with disabilities and 

special education needs services transformation programme be 
endorsed; and  

  
 (b) the approval of the detailed work packages be delegated to the 

Director of Children’s Wellbeing 
 

  
66. APPROVAL TO UNDERTAKE A PROCUREMENT EXERCISE IN RESPECT OF 

PUPIL REFERRAL SERVICES FOR HEREFORDSHIRE   
  
 The Cabinet Member, Young People and Children’s Services, introduced the report. 

There has been a previous reorganisation of pupil referral services in Herefordshire, 
and now a more formal arrangement must be established to enable a clear plan to 
take the service forward and for an anticipated change in leadership in the next few 
years.  
 
The Head of Additional Needs confirmed the success of the current arrangement. It 
is rated by Ofsted as “Good” and GCSE results have improved. There has also been 
a high success rate of the 25 hours’ minimum attendance provision compared with 
other education providers. The governors have requested a more formalised 
arrangement to provide this service as the current arrangements are not sustainable.  
 
In answer to a question from a Member about maintaining and improving outcomes, 
the Head of Additional Needs confirmed that referring schools value how the service 
is managed and work continues on improving long-term outcomes to reduce the risk 
of pupils becoming Not in Employment, Education or Training.  The expected level of 
response to the tender is unknown.  
 
The Director of Children’s Wellbeing gave reassurance over concerns regarding 
continuous improvement, explaining that by undertaking a procurement exercise, it 
will allow the council to have more control over the outcome and future intervention 
to maintain the service. It is proposed to maintain the same level of service with the 

10



CABINET THURSDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2015 
 

 

same resource available rather than for the purposes of efficiency.  
 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That  (a) The council undertake a procurement exercise with a view to  

identifying a preferred provider of pupil referral services following the 
recent amalgamation of pupil referral services into a single pupil 
referral unit (PRU); and 

 
(b) Delegated authority is provided to enable the Director of 
Children’s Wellbeing to conclude the procurement process and 
authorise award of the resulting contract on the basis it is within the 
financial envelope described in the report.  

 
  
67. THE FUTURE OF COLWALL C OF E PRIMARY SCHOOL BUILDING   
  
 A revision to recommendation (b) of the report was noted, in recognition of the 

School Estate Strategy. 
 
The Head of Education Development presented the report. The school building is in 
poor condition and pupils are in temporary accommodation due to flooding and damp 
which had affected the fabric of the building. The damp is due to the water table and 
the nature of the ground at the site and it was concluded that this was not a suitable 
site for a school. The temporary accommodation required upgrading and so it was 
necessary to explore the viability of a new school. A bid was submitted to the 
Government’s School Building Programme and it was agreed that it required major 
investment. Colwall was the only Herefordshire school successful in the bidding 
process. 
 
A Member asked for reassurance regarding the financial implications described in 
the report. The Head of Education Development confirmed that the intention was to 
look at a Value for Money solution.  
 
Responding to a Member’s concern over the provision of capital, the Assistant 
Director, Children’s Wellbeing, explained that there was limited funding and other 
schools including academies were able to bid. The estates strategy is key in terms of 
local opportunities to change the financial position for the next 5-10 years, as in for 
example, the relocation of Broadlands School which released capital for other 
priorities.  
 
The Chief Financial Officer explained that this formed part of the overall funding 
strategy. The school is in temporary accommodation with high rental costs and 
urgent action is required. The report shows that it would not be value for money to 
return to the original site, due to further flooding risk, and so the intention would be to 
look at alternative provision in relation to the overall strategy. The school is included 
in the capital programme for rebuild and it is anticipated that government funding 
would reduce council borrowing.  
 
In response to a Member’s question regarding ongoing work with academies, the 
Director of Children’s Wellbeing confirmed the requirement to join funding streams 
and whilst the council is not responsible for all buildings, it has a responsibility to 
provide a place for children to attend school. 
 
The leader of It’s Our County asked about the consequences of other schools 
claiming through the strategy which would present high risk regarding future 

11



CABINET THURSDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2015 
 

 

obligations. The Head of Education Development explained that this must be seen in 
the context of the estates strategy for the next 10-15 years and the release of capital 
and government grants and revenues.   
 
A Member commented that the long-term solutions for the whole estate must be 
considered along with where the school places are and taking into account the 
needs of other schools.   
 
The Chair of the General Overview and Scrutiny Committee confirmed that the 
estates strategy is scheduled for that Committee’s agenda on 10 March 2015.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
THAT:   (a) it be noted that the existing Colwall school is considered 

unsuitable for repair; 
(b) subject to development of a satisfactory business case, and 

having regard to the schools estate strategy scheduled for 
Cabinet consideration in July 2015,  a new school is built in 
Colwall to replace it, either on the existing site or at an 
alternative location in the parish; and  

(c) delegated authority be given to the director for children’s 
wellbeing to undertake all feasibility work necessary to develop a 
business case to inform a future decision, with a view to 
enabling a new school to be operational by September 2018. 

 
  
68. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT 2014/15: QUARTER 3   
  
 The Deputy Leader introduced the report which sets out the council’s performance 

for the third quarter of 2014-15.  
 
In response to a number of questions from the leader of It’s Our County group, the 
Director of Adults and Wellbeing confirmed that training has taken place for all 
frontline staff to improve ways of working. Secondment arrangements were changed 
in order to support provision of integrated care pathways for mental health in 
recognition of the differing criteria for providing mental health care between the 
different agencies.  
 
In terms of nursing care, there are pressures through Accident and Emergency 
admissions and there was a surprising increase in nursing home admissions. The 
focus will be to ensure people are discharged to their own homes rather than to 
residential nursing care. The increase in admissions has peaked and is now 
stabilising.  Should the needs change for an individual who initially had local 
authority funding, they would be assessed for continuing healthcare and then access 
free NHS care, for example, for dementia. It is therefore essential to ensure that 
people have access as soon as possible.  
 
With regard to the Care Act, there is confidence that there will be implementation in 
some areas. The reaction from the public is yet unknown but if demand increases 
after 1 April 2015, there could be pressure on services. There has been training for 
staff. However, detailed guidance regarding the new duties is not yet available and 
so expectations are not clear at this stage. Despite this, Herefordshire is on par with 
other authorities and is on target.  
 
With regard to affordable housing, there is confidence that the overall target will be 
met and exceeded, although this is dependent on planning decisions. The target was 

12



CABINET THURSDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2015 
 

 

met last year.  
 
The leader of the Green group asked about the implications of greater demand on 
support for troubled families. The Director of Children’s Wellbeing confirmed that if 
there were more than the anticipated number of families, demand could be met.  
 
An incorrect figure quoted in paragraph 22 of the report was noted for amendment.  
 
The leader of the Green group commented on waste collection with regard to 
addressing issues with storage space for bins. She added that in regard to devolved 
services, that the change process had been slow.  
 
The leader of It’s Our County commented on the quality of jobs in the city centre and 
the risk of zero hours contracts and low pay. He added that the digital strategy was 
not mentioned in the report and the Deputy Leader confirmed that this strategy was 
on track.  
 
The Chair of the General Overview and Scrutiny Committee expressed concern over 
a reliance upon on-line services. The Deputy Leader confirmed that whilst customers 
will still be able to contact the council by telephone, we will continue to encourage 
them to access services online wherever possible. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Infrastructure responded to a comment from the leader of 
It’s Our County by clarifying the position of the core strategy following an 
examination which was completed on 25 February 2015.  It was confirmed that the 
plan would be unaffected by the examination and further re-writing of policies is 
awaited, which would take place during the pre-election period. In response, concern 
was raised regarding the conditions of the pre-election period and that work would 
be taking place in relation to the core strategy during this time. It was confirmed that 
this exercise was at the behest of the inspector and that it would not be of a political 
nature nor have any impact on the Council’s constitution. 
 
RESOLVED  
 
That the report be noted. 
 

  
69. BUDGET MONITORING REPORT   
  
 The Chief Financial Officer provided an updated position on the projected outturn for 

2014-2015. This reflects a more confident position as potential budget pressures 
have not materialised.  
 
RESOLVED  
 
That the report be noted.  
 

  
The meeting ended at 3.57pm CHAIRMAN 
 

13



14



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Alison Merry on Tel (01432) 383431 

 

 

MEETING: 
 

CABINET  

MEETING DATE: 19 March 2015 

TITLE OF REPORT: DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL 
REPORT 2014-15 

REPORT BY: DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH (INTERIM) 
 

 
Alternative options 
 

1. There are no alternative options to receiving and publishing the Director of Public 
Health’s Annual Report as the Annual Report is a statutory requirement.  

Reasons for recommendations 

2. The report provides the Director of Public Health’s view on important issues affecting 
the health of the population of Herefordshire and fulfils the requirement that the report 
is published by the local authority. 

Classification  

Open 

Key Decision  

This is not a key decision. 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To publish the statutory annual report of the Director of Public Health on the health of 
people of Herefordshire as required by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

Recommendation(s) 

THAT:  
 
(a) The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2014 is received by the Council 

and is published, as required by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

AGENDA ITEM 4

15



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Alison Merry on Tel (01432) 383431 

 

3. The annual report has as its focus one of Herefordshire Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
key themes – giving our children the best start in life. 

4. The annual report supports the priorities of the Children and Young People’s 
Partnership. 

5. The Director of Public Health Annual Report is a statutory requirement.   

Key considerations 

6. This is the second annual report of the Director of Public Health since the transition of 
public health responsibilities to the local authority under the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012. 

7. The focus of the Director of Public Health’s annual report this year is children and 
young people with a particular emphasis on improving outcomes for 0-5 year olds.  In 
this report the Director of Public Health highlights what can be done to improve a 
wide range of outcomes for children including health, wellbeing, developmental and 
educational outcomes.  The report has been informed by data in the Children’s 
Integrated Needs Assessment (CINA) published in January and the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment, Understanding Herefordshire (UH), and provides a range of 
practical advice on improving children’s outcomes, thereby complementing the 
recommendations in the CINA and UH. 

8. It contains an update on the recommendations from the 2013 Director of Public 
Health’s annual report. 

9. The topics highlighted in the report are important to the decision making process 
about local priorities for public health and the local authority for the next planning 
cycle and beyond. 

Community impact 

10. The report emphasises the central role of parents, carers, families and communities 
in ensuring that children get the best possible start in life. 

11. Addressing the issues highlighted in these reports has the potential to positively 
impact on the health and wellbeing of children and young people and the families and 
communities that they live in. 

Equality and human rights 

12. The report is the Director of Public Health’s view of the needs of the county’s 
population experiencing greatest inequalities and poorest health outcomes.  This 
includes examining equitable access to services. The recommendations support the 
Public Sector Equality Duty, under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, which are to: 

 
• Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under the Act; 
• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and people who do not share it; 
• Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and those who do not share it. 

16



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Alison Merry on Tel (01432) 383431 

 

Financial implications 

13. The report itself has no financial implications and commits no funding. 

Legal implications 

14. Section 31 Health and Social Care Act 2012 provides that there is a duty for the 
Director of Public Health to prepare an annual report on the health of the people in 
the area of the local authority, and a duty on the local authority to publish the report. 

Risk management 

15. Failure to produce the Director of Public Health Annual Report would mean as a local 
authority we are not fulfilling our statutory requirement. 

16. Failure to receive the annual report and take action in its decision making could result 
in the council’s failure to improve outcomes for children and young people in 
Herefordshire. 

Consultees 

17. Children’s Wellbeing Directorate. 

Appendices 

18. Appendix A – Director of Public Health Annual Report 

Background papers 

19. None identified. 

 

 
 
 

17



18



Herefordshire
A great place to grow up

@HfdsCouncil 

hfdscouncil

www.herefordshire.gov.uk
19



Foreword by Councillor Graham Powell, 
Cabinet Member Adults and Wellbeing

The responsibility
for public health
transferred from the
NHS to local
authorities in April
2013 and brought
with it a
requirement to issue
an annual report
from the Director of
Public Health. I’m
pleased to introduce this, the third annual
report prepared by the Herefordshire public
health team, which has as its focus one of the
Herefordshire Health and Wellbeing Board‘s
key themes – giving our children the best
possible start in life.

The Health and Wellbeing Board has an
overarching vision that:

“Herefordshire residents are resilient; lead
fulfilling lives; are emotionally and physically 
healthy and feel safe and secure”.

In order to achieve that vision it is critical that
we work together to give children and young
people the best possible start in life and to put
in place the building blocks that will lead them
towards a safe and healthy lifestyle.

Herefordshire is a wonderful place for our
children to grow up but there are significant
differences in health and achievement as we
look across the county. This is why I welcomed
the publication in January of the Children’s
Integrated Needs Assessment, which will bring
focus onto the provision of services that meet
the real needs of our children and young
people.
The health and social care system across
Herefordshire will face many challenges over
the next few years including reductions in
funding and an increasing demand on services
through population growth and ageing. The
Health and Wellbeing strategy is being
refreshed to recognise these challenges and to
ensure that as commissioners, service providers
and residents we work together to improve
the health of the residents of Herefordshire.

I welcome this year’s report from the Director
of Public Health and in particular the focus on
children and young people.

Councillor Graham Powell
Cabinet Member, Adults and Wellbeing
Chair of Herefordshire Health and
Wellbeing Board

www.herefordshire.gov.uk2

20



Introduction by Councillor Jeremy Millar, 
Cabinet Member Children and Young People

I welcome this
report and its focus
on 0-5 year olds
both as Cabinet
Member for
Children and Young
People’s Wellbeing
and on behalf of
Herefordshire’s
Children and Young
People’s Partnership.

Our vision in Herefordshire is that children and
young people are raised with their health and
wellbeing needs met, that they are kept safe
from harm, and that they have the
opportunities to make the most of their
capabilities.  Working together in partnership
across the county to ensure that children get
the best possible start in life is a fundamentally
important part of how we will achieve this.

This report supports the priorities of the
Children and Young People’s Partnership
which are to improve outcomes for our
youngest children aged 0-5 years, improve
outcomes for children with a disability, develop
a “think family” approach and culture across

the partnership to target resources and
support vulnerable families, improve the
emotional and mental health and wellbeing of
children, young people and their parents and
carers, and reduce the number of young
people offending.

This year’s report reinforces the central role of
families in shaping children’s health, wellbeing
and development.  In addition to reporting on
work that is in progress and planned, it
provides suggestions for how families can help
themselves to support their children in the
early years and links to sources of further
information.  It also challenges us as a
community to think about how we can “think
family” and support all of our children to get
off to a great start in life.

I hope that you will enjoy reading this year’s
Director of Public Health annual report.

Councillor Jeremy Millar
Cabinet Member, Children and Young
People
Chair of Herefordshire Children and Young
People's Partnership Board

www.herefordshire.gov.uk 3

Acknowledgments: 
With contributions from the Herefordshire Public Health Department: Rod Thomson, Alison Merry, Susan Lloyd,
Sophie Young and Latha Unny
Designed by Herefordshire Council Design Team: Nick Winwood and Alun Herbert 
With thanks to Jo Davidson, Councillor Graham Powell, Councillor Jeremy Millar, Helen Coombes, Arif Mahmood,
Kristan Pritchard, Jean Masanyero-Bennie, Andy Hough, Gwen Ellison and Helun Sandifort 

21



Introduction by the
Director of Public Health

The starting point
for Herefordshire’s
Health and
Wellbeing Strategy
is the early
childhood years and
the importance of
supportive
communities and
families. In
recognising Herefordshire Council's
commitment to the health and wellbeing of
children and young people, my report this year
is concentrating on how we can improve the
health and wellbeing of our very youngest
children.

From birth to 5 years old children grow
more than they will at any other time of
their lives. Giving a child the best start in life
really does set them up for the future.
Whilst most families are successful in
supporting and caring for themselves and
their children, families sometimes benefit
from extra support to help children to
achieve their full potential.  In this report
you will read how we are working with
families, communities, service providers and
the NHS across Herefordshire to ensure that
families are able to care for themselves and
so that children get the best possible start in
life.

Professor Rod Thomson, Director of
Public Health (Interim), Herefordshire
Council

www.herefordshire.gov.uk4

22



www.herefordshire.gov.uk 5

23



Herefordshire: A great place to

Starting school is a big life event and we
want all our children to be ready for that big
day. This means that the first five years of a
child’s life are vitally important and we know
that supporting our children to live in a home
in which their health and wellbeing needs
are met, where they are kept safe from harm,
and where they are encouraged to maximise
their capabilities is the key to having healthy
and happy children in Herefordshire. 

As a council we want to support children and
families and to do this we need a good
understanding about their lives and what their
needs are.  This year, with partners, we have
undertaken a detailed assessment of the needs of
children and young people in Herefordshire – the
Children’s Integrated Needs Assessment.  This was
published in January 2015 and is available to read
on the council’s website 
(http://factsandfigures.herefordshire.gov.uk/CYP.as
px#Resource_box).

As a result we now have very good information
about local children and families, their needs,
what is going really well for children and young
people and what some of the local challenges are.

From this work, we have identified three particular
priorities for the future health and wellbeing of
children in the 0-5 age group:
• achieving the best possible physical and mental
health and wellbeing,

• ensuring that children are up-to-date with their
immunisations, and

• keeping teeth healthy.

All these things will help to ensure that children
develop as well as they can in these early years
and get off to a great start at school.

Starting well 
Breastfeeding gives babies a great start in life
and we are encouraging breastfeeding by
promoting Start 4 Life, introducing the UNICEF
baby friendly initiative, providing information
about the benefits of breastfeeding to mums
and dads, developing peer support by training
mums to support others to breastfeed, and
through the support that Health Visitors and
Children's Centres provide to parents.
Information about the benefits of breastfeeding
and on where to find support with
breastfeeding in Herefordshire can be found at:

http://www.nhs.uk/start4life/Pages/breastfeedin
g-benefits.aspx
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/health-and-
social-care/children-and-family-care/breastfeedin
g-support
http://www.wyevalley.nhs.uk/services/communit
y-services/health-visiting.aspx

A balanced diet is important for everyone, but
pregnant women, new mums and young
children may have additional needs and so may
benefit from vitamin supplements.   During the
past year we have been working with the
national Healthy Start programme to set up a
Healthy Start vitamin scheme in Herefordshire
which provides vitamin supplements for young
children and pregnant women.  

www.herefordshire.gov.uk6

24



o grow up

We are now working towards increasing the
number of outlets where Healthy Start vitamins
are available.  Parents can find more
information about the Healthy Start programme
from their Health Visitor, local Children’s Centre
or by visiting: http://www.healthystart.nhs.uk.

Many of the foods and drinks that children love
to eat contain surprisingly high levels of sugar
and as a result children often have too much
sugar in their diet.  This can lead to weight gain
and an increased risk of developing diseases
such as type 2 diabetes and heart disease in
later life.  Sugar is also responsible for causing
tooth decay.  Taking care to limit the amount of
sugar that children consume is therefore a very
important part of healthy eating and swapping
sugary food and drinks for healthier alternatives
is a great way to improve children's health and
to help keep teeth strong and healthy.  There
are lots of ideas for sugar swaps here: 
http://www.nhs.uk/Change4Life/Pages/low-
sugar-healthy-snacks.aspx

This year we are also supporting the NHS Sport
and Physical Activity Challenge within primary
schools. 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk 7

25



Dental Health
Children in Herefordshire are more likely to have
tooth decay at age three and age five than
children in other regions of England. In our
county around one in every five three year olds
has signs of tooth decay and this increases to
one in every three five-year-old children. We
tend to see poorer dental health in areas of the
county that are less economically advantaged. 

We are working with Health Visitors and
childcare providers to improve the dental health
of young children in Herefordshire for example
by promoting our “top tips for teeth”, by
providing dental packs to parents and by setting
up supervised toothbrushing schemes.

Percentage of children obese 
or overweight:
Percentage of children obese 
or overweight:

re
c
e
p

ti
o
n

re
ce

pt
io

n

Herefordshire

England

19.3%

22.5%

y
e
a
r 

6
ye

ar
 6

(Period: 2013/14 data)

Herefordshire

England

31.1%

33.5%

Recommended daily activity
levels
Recommended daily activity
levels

toddlers
180 minutes

5-16 year
olds
60 minutes

keeping activeKeeping active

To find out how children can 
become more active
search change 4 Life or visit 
the NHS Choices website

Dental healthDental health

1 in 5 three year olds have tooth decay

1 in 3 five year olds have tooth decay

Age 

3
Age 

5

www.herefordshire.gov.uk8

26



Our top tips for teeth:
• Start brushing your child's teeth as soon as the first tooth comes through
• Brush your child's teeth twice a day with a family fluoride toothpaste containing at least

1,000ppm fluoride (most toothpastes have 1,000ppm – 1,450ppm fluoride. Toothpastes with
less than 1,000ppm fluoride are less effective at preventing decay)

• Make “last thing at night before bed” one of the times when you brush 
• Children up to 3 years of age should only use a smear of toothpaste (see below)
• Children aged 3-6 years should use no more than a pea sized blob of toothpaste (see below)
• After brushing, encourage your child to “spit out and not rinse”
• Children need to be helped to brush and supervised by an adult whilst brushing until they are at

least 7 years old
• Don't let your child eat or lick toothpaste from the tube.

• Take children to see the dentist regularly
• Start taking your child to the dentist as soon as 

the first tooth comes through
• REMEMBER - NHS dental care is FREE for children 

and for pregnant women and for new mums 
(up to 12 months after birth)

Smear - under 3 years Pea sized blob - 3 years +

www.herefordshire.gov.uk 9

27



The NHS provides a programme of routine
vaccinations to all children in order to protect
them against preventable infectious diseases.
Vaccinations work on two important levels.
Firstly they offer protection to the individual child
who receives the vaccination, and secondly they
protect the wider community by reducing the
ability of an infection to spread, but only when
95 or more out of every 100 children have been
vaccinated (this is called 'herd immunity').  In
Herefordshire the percentage of children who are
up-to-date with their routine vaccinations is
lower than the 95% required to provide the best
possible protection for everyone and we are
working with the NHS to increase the numbers
of local children who are immunised.  Up to the
age of one year, the majority of children in
Herefordshire are immunised with approximately
94 in every 100 children receiving their
vaccinations.  However, at two years of age the

uptake of routine vaccinations for Meningitis C
(MenC), Haemophilus influenza type B (Hib) and
Pneumococcal vaccine booster (PCV) is lower
than the England average.  Unvaccinated
children are at potential risk of catching these
diseases each of which can lead to serious illness
and potentially can be fatal.

Make sure your child is protected by taking them
along for their routine vaccinations at the
recommended time.

You can find out more about routine childhood
vaccinations from your Health Visitor, School
Nurse or GP practice or by visiting:
http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/vaccinations/Page
s/vaccination-schedule-age-checklist.aspx

Protecting our children from infectious diseases 

Protecting our children against
preventable infectious diseases
• Herefordshire’s Healthy Child

Programme encourages parents to get
their child immunised

• Our Health Visitors and School Nurses
are talking to parents and carers about
the importance of childhood
immunisations

• We make sure that medical centres have
systems to call children for their
immunisations through our partner,
NHS England.

www.herefordshire.gov.uk10

28



Education - early years
foundation stage profile
Education - early years
foundation stage profile

60%

Being ready for school 
A child who lives in a family and community in
which their health and wellbeing needs are
met and where they are kept safe from harm is
likely to maximise his/her potential. It’s
important that before a child goes to school he
or she has a basic understanding of speaking,
listening and numbers, taking turns and
sharing, that they are able to do everyday tasks
such as using a knife and fork to eat and that
they are toilet trained. This underpins a child’s
education, which in turn underpins their
emotional wellbeing and their growth into a
strong resilient adult.

We are training staff who work with pre-
school children to help children to develop
their speaking and listening skills and to use
phonics to support the development of
reading skills.
We deliver accredited parenting programmes
in groups and on a one to one basis in
children’s centres, together with family
learning programmes, including work related
skills.
We support providers of early years’ services to
ensure that the transition to reception is as
smooth as possible for the child and their
family.

What are we doing to help children
develop their speaking, listening and
numbers skills?
We have expanded the number of places for 2
year olds entitled to free education.
We are promoting a campaign to encourage
nursery rhymes and reading with children,
including annual reading challenges and
improved access to neighbourhood libraries.
Our 10 children's centres are supporting
parenting and coordinating support services in
specific areas of the county.

What can parents do to help young
children to develop their readiness for
school?
Parents and families are children’s first
teachers and are the most important people
when it comes to helping young children to
develop the skills they will need when they
start school.  Here are some of the things that
parents of pre-school children can do to
develop their child’s readiness for school:
• Playing with your child and encouraging

them to play with other children helps to
develop a wide range of skills including
speaking and listening, sharing and taking
turns, developing confidence and making
friends

• Singing nursery rhymes and children’s songs
helps to develop speaking, listening and
simple maths skills

• Introducing your child to books and stories
from an early age will help to lay the
foundations for reading and writing

• Attending nursery, play-group or other early
years’ provision helps children to develop
many of the skills they will need to get off
to a great start at school.

All three year olds and four year olds are
entitled to 570 hours of free childcare per year
and now some two year olds are also eligible
for this.  More information on childcare in
Herefordshire is available at:
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/education-
and-learning/early-years-and-childcare/childcare

In 2013/14, 60 out of every 100 Herefordshire
children had achieved a ‘good level of
development’.  This is better than the numbers
for the West Midlands (58) and the same as
the England average in the same period.
However it still means that 4 in 10 children are
not achieving a good level of development,
hence the importance of helping children and
their families.

60% of Herefordshire pupils achieved a good level of
development at reception age 4-5 years old

www.herefordshire.gov.uk 11

29



Children and young people with poor mental
health are more likely to have poor educational
attainment and employment prospects, social
relationship difficulties, physical ill health and
substance misuse problems and to become
involved in offending. We also know from the
2014 Chief Medical Officer’s report that
children and young people from the poorest
households are three times more likely to have
a mental health problem than those growing
up in better-off homes.

Supporting parents during pregnancy and the
early years is known to impact positively on
the mental health of children and young
people and a secure parent/child relationship
contributes to a positive attachment and helps
to create emotional resilience in children. 

There are five simple steps that everyone can
use to improve their mental wellbeing –
“connect”, “be active”, “keep learning”,
“give” and “take notice”.  We are using
these “Five Ways to Wellbeing” in our
approach to improving mental wellbeing in
children.  

We are keen to support the mental wellbeing
of local children and young people and their
families and the Children and Young People’s
Partnership has developed a multi-agency
strategy to support emotional wellbeing and
mental health for children, young people and
their families.  We want children, young
people and their families to:

• Be aware of their own emotional
wellbeing and mental health, and that
of others

• Develop good emotional wellbeing
and mental health

• Be able to get further support, advice
and access to more specialised
assistance when they need it. 

Mental health and wellbeing in children and young people

www.herefordshire.gov.uk12

30



http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/st
ress-anxiety-
depression/Pages/improve-men-
tal-wellbeing.aspx
#Evidence

The Five Steps to 
Wellbeing:
1) Connect
There is strong evidence to show that feeling
close to and valued by other people is a
fundamental human need and contributes to
functioning well.  Social relationships are
important for promoting wellbeing and can act
as a buffer against mental ill health for people of
all ages.

2) Be active
Regular physical activity promotes wellbeing
and is associated with lower rates of depression
and anxiety across all age groups.  The activity
doesn’t need to be particularly intense to make
a difference.  For example walking provides
some level of exercise and has the benefit of
encouraging social interactions.

3) Keep learning
Continued learning through life enhances self-
esteem and encourages social interaction and a
more active life.

4) Give
Giving to others can improve mental wellbeing
from small acts, such as a smile, thank you or
kind word, through to larger acts, such as
volunteering which can improve mental
wellbeing and build social networks.  Research
into actions for promoting happiness has
shown that committing an act of kindness
once a week over a six-week period is
associated with an increase in wellbeing.

5) Take notice
Taking notice, being aware of what is
happening and “savoring the moment” can
help to reaffirm life priorities, enhance self-
understanding and can help people to make
positive choices based on their own values and
motivations.  This is sometimes called
"mindfulness", and it can positively change the
way you feel about life and how you approach
challenges.

www.herefordshire.gov.uk 13

31



We provide extra support for Herefordshire families and
children who are vulnerable 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk14

• We provide facilities/amenities for disabled
children within their homes.

• We act early where children are at risk of
homelessness.

• We work in partnership with a number of
organisations such as West Mercia
Women’s Aid which provides outreach
services to support children and young
people affected by domestic abuse. 

• We provide benefits and debt advice to parents
in difficulty who need support.

• We have a dedicated team and service which
works with looked after children.

For more information visit: 
Children with disabilities and special needs:
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/health-and-social-
care/children-and-family-care/disabilities-and-s
pecial-needs?q=disabled
children&type=suggestedpage

Homelessness:
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/housing/homelessn
ess-and-prevention/homelessness-advice-and-
support

Domestic abuse:
www.westmerciawomensaid.org

32



The Healthy Child Programme

www.herefordshire.gov.uk 15

In Herefordshire we support the aims of the
Healthy Child Programme which include:
• helping parents to develop a strong bond

with their child 
• encouraging breastfeeding
• encouraging children to stay healthy and

safe
• reducing obesity in children by promoting

healthy eating and physical activity
• identifying problems as early as possible so

that any necessary help can be put in place
at the earliest opportunity – for example
problems with health and development
such as learning difficulties or with a child’s
safety such as parental neglect

• protecting children from serious diseases,
through screening and immunisation

• ensuring that children are prepared for
school

• identifying and helping children with
problems that might affect their chances
later in life.

Health Visiting and School Nursing services are
part of the Healthy Child Programme and
provide support to children aged 0-5 (Health
Visiting) and 5-19 (School Nursing) and to their
families and carers.

Herefordshire Council took on commissioning
responsibility for School Nursing in 2013 and
since then we have worked closely with the
local School Nurses to review, redesign and
improve the services they offer to 5-19 year
olds.  In October 2015 the Council will
become responsible for commissioning the
Health Visiting service and we are already
working with the Health Visitors to prepare for
this transfer and to ensure that services for 0-5
and 5-19 year olds work efficiently together
and are integrated with other services for
children, young people and families.

You can find out more about the Healthy Child
Programme and about Health Visitors and
School Nurses in Herefordshire at the following
websites:

https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/giving
-all-children-a-healthy-start-in-life
http://www.wyevalley.nhs.uk/services/communi
ty-services/health-visiting.aspx
http://www.wyevalley.nhs.uk/services/communi
ty-services/school-nursing.aspx

33



At the end of March 2014 Herefordshire’s
public health team celebrated its first full year
integrated into Herefordshire Council.

The move to the Local Authority has
broadened the way in which health is seen in
Herefordshire. Health is no longer the preserve
of the NHS and Herefordshire Council has
embraced its role particularly in preventing ill
health, promoting good health and protecting
residents from infectious disease. This has
been a major change and has enabled the core
public health team to work across the council
in a way that has not happened previously,
and to contribute to health in children’s and
adults’ services including children’s centres,
housing and in many other departments.     

Later in this report we have written an update
on what we have delivered against the
recommendations in last year’s Director of
Public Health Annual Report. In addition, in
2013/14 we also successfully set up the
Herefordshire Health Protection Committee, a
multi-agency group that assures that residents
have appropriate access to immunisation,
screening and protection against
communicable diseases. 

We ran a large number of health awareness
campaigns across the county including HIV
Testing week, Change 4 Life, Dry January,
Sugar Swaps and many more. 

Working with colleagues across health and
social care has given us the opportunity to
contribute an evidence-base where we would
not have had the opportunity in the past,
including producing the Children’s Integrated
Needs Assessment which this report is based
on. 

Progress since last year 

Last year the Director of Public Health's Annual
report was on the topic of Collaborating for
Health in Herefordshire and in it, the Director
of Public Health made recommendations
about:

1. Tackling health inequalities: a community
based asset approach

2. Working together to reduce alcohol related
harm

3. Public health and carers 

We have chosen to change the format of this
year’s report and you will find
recommendations for action this year in the
Children’s Integrated Needs Assessment.
Below is an update on the public health
progress against last year’s recommendations.

Public health in Herefordshire Council 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk16

34



RECOMMENDATION PROGRESS

Tackling health inequalities: a community asset based approach

·    To seek out opportunities for collaboration and work
together on lifestyle behaviour change.

The Council’s Healthy Lifestyle Trainer Service supported a
wide range of healthy summer events including 
promoting Change4Life “Disney 10 minute shake up”,
Wye Weight – group support programme for healthy
weight, Walking for Health and Community Games
(linked to the Olympic legacy).  

·    To gain a better understanding of our communities
and work with them to reduce the social gradient in
health.

A pilot programme of work is being delivered by South
Wye Regeneration Partnership to use community assets
(people and community buildings) so that people get
involved in making healthy lifestyle changes and tackle
inequalities in health.

·    To develop our understanding of people’s 
behaviours and influences on behaviour in
Herefordshire, gaining insight through social
marketing.

A number of social marketing campaigns have been
promoted in Herefordshire including:
Change4Life
No Smoking Day
Stoptober
Alcohol Awareness Week
Sexual Health Awareness Week
and our local campaigns “Change a Little, Save a Lot”.

·    To review existing services and commission healthy
lifestyle behaviour change services such as for stop
smoking and weight management.

We are recommissioning the current behaviour change
services, including NHS Health Checks, a mandatory
service, and Stop Smoking support. These will be in place
for delivery in 2015/16.

Working together to reduce alcohol related harm

·    That the Health and Wellbeing Board and partner
organisations across Herefordshire continue to give
priority to reducing alcohol related harm and to
developing our strategic intelligence about the
complexities of alcohol harm in our community,
focusing on identifying areas of overlap where
combined efforts have the potential to make the 
most impact.

We are in the process of re-commissioning an evidence
based drug and alcohol service. The new service requires
partners across the health and social care system to work
jointly and reduce alcohol related harm. 

·    That partner agencies commit to contributing their
data and intelligence in order that we can build a
comprehensive understanding of alcohol use and 
the consequences of alcohol misuse in Herefordshire.

Data continues to be shared at the Drug and Alcohol
Operational Delivery Group (see below) providing a
picture of alcohol related harm within the County. 

·    That partner agencies commit to a more coordinated
approach to working together to address alcohol
related harm so that resources can be targeted
following a strategic and evidence-based approach.

A new group, Drug and Alcohol Strategic Delivery Group,
has been established to develop a drugs and alcohol
strategy for Herefordshire.

·    That the Alcohol Harm Reduction Group provides a
forum to bring together plans for tackling the
influence of alcohol as it impacts on domestic 
violence and abuse, offender management and
Families in Need.

The former Alcohol Harm Reduction Group has changed
its terms of reference to include drugs, young people and
public places in addition to its work on improving the
night time economy and sharing data on alcohol related
harm. The group is now called the Drug and Alcohol
Operational Delivery Group. 

www.herefordshire.gov.uk 17

35



RECOMMENDATION PROGRESS

Public Health and carers

·    The needs of informal carers should be considered in
the scoping of the 2013/14 Herefordshire Integrated
Needs Assessment.

Close working with Hereford Carers Support. 
Needs Assessment to be progressed in 2014/15

·    Evidence of good practice should be reviewed for
approaches to best support effective and sustainable
informal care.

Close working with Hereford Carers Support. 
Evidence base to be included in needs assessment to be
progressed in 2014/15

·    When allocating resources, health economics
principles should be applied to efficiently meet the
needs of informal carers and benefit the wider health
and social care system.

The Herefordshire Carers Strategy 2012-2015 recognises
the contribution that carers make to the lives of the
person they are caring for and the wider society. The
priorities within the strategy reflect the national priorities
and the need to identify carers at the appropriate time
and to support them to have a life of their own.
Herefordshire Carers Support provides an element of this
through the service they provide.

www.herefordshire.gov.uk18

36



We are working in partnership with families, service providers and NHS Community groups across
Herefordshire so that each child has the opportunity to grow up healthy and happy. There are still
challenges, but here are some of Herefordshire’s successes: 

• Babies are less likely to be born with a low birth weight. 
• Babies are more likely to have been breastfed at birth, although the numbers being breastfed at

6-8 weeks are average.
• Children generally are developmentally ready for school.  
• Herefordshire’s looked after children have better mental health than both the England average

for looked after children and the ‘norm’ for British children who are not looked after.
• Children in reception and year six are less likely to be overweight or obese than children across

the West Midlands and England, although two of every ten of our children are overweight or
obese by the time they are measured in reception class which is a real cause for concern.

• Herefordshire’s children have levels of immunisation coverage for Measles, Mumps and Rubella
that are the same as coverage across England. 

• Looked after children have better rates of immunisation compared to children in the general
population; (92% in 2012-2013; 96% for children who were looked after for 12 months).

You can find out more from these websites:

3 Comparisons are with the West Midlands and England norm. 

Herefordshire: a great place to grow uperefordshire: a great place to grow up

What you can doWhat you can do

3

Start 4 Life
http://www.nhs.uk/start4life/Pages/healthy-pregnancy-baby-
advice.aspx

Herefordshire Council
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/early-
years-and-childcare/supporting-parents-of-children-aged-0-4-years

Change for life
http://www.nhs.uk/change4life/Pages/change-for-life.aspx

37



38



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Richard Gabb (Programme Director Housing and Growth) on Tel (01432) 261902 

 

 
 
 

Meeting: 
 

Cabinet  
 

Meeting date: 19 March 2015 

Title of report: Herefordshire Older People’s Housing 
Strategy and Pathway 

Report by: Programme Director (Housing and Growth) 
 

Classification  

Open 

Key Decision  

This is a key decision because it is likely to be significant in terms of its effect on 
communities living or working in an area comprising one or more wards in the county. 

NOTICE has been served in accordance with Part 3, Section 9 (Publicity in Connection with 
Key Decisions) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012  

Wards Affected 

Countywide  

Purpose 

To approve the Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

THAT:  
(a) Cabinet approves the Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and 
           Pathway Action Plan (as attached at Appendix 1 of this report). 
(b) Instruct the Programme Director, Housing and Growth, following consultation 
           with the Cabinet Member, to undertake final minimum amendments as 
           required, prior to publication. 

AGENDA ITEM 5

39



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Richard Gabb (Programme Director Housing and Growth) on Tel (01432) 261902 

 

Alternative options 

1 Not to approve the Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway 
Action Plan.  

• Advantages – There are no advantages in determining not to approve the 
Strategy Pathway Action Plan.  

• Disadvantages – The Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway Action 
Plan forms a critical part of the transformation of Adult Wellbeing Services. In 
responding to the growing older population and funding challenges faced by 
Herefordshire’s Health and Social Care partners it establishes the Council’s 
approach to enabling residents to live healthily and independently for longer.  

Reasons for recommendations 

2 Approving the Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway Action 
Plan will provide clear guidance and endorsement on the housing and other related 
services that the Council proposes to develop in partnership with a range of partners 
to address the budgetary, housing and service challenges posed by our ageing 
population. 

Key considerations 

3 Older households will make up a substantial proportion of Herefordshire’s growing 
population over the next 20 years with 90% growth in households aged 85+ predicted 
by 2030.  

4 Coupled with demographic changes Herefordshire is experiencing increases in 
people with dementia and other long term conditions. Generally, people with 
disabilities are living into older age and the rural nature of the County means that 
health and social care providers face greater costs in terms of service delivery. 
However, by 2014, Central Government funding for Councils, during the course of 
this Parliament, will have been cut by over 40%. 

5 Herefordshire’s rurality also means many older households are at an increased risk of 
social isolation with negative impacts on health and wellbeing as a result. The 
Herefordshire Council Healthy Housing Report 2012 highlighted that older 
households are more likely to live in older, larger housing with an increased risk of 
homes being non-decent and vulnerable, older households being in fuel poverty. 

6 The Herefordshire Market Position Statement indicates that increasing demand for 
social care services, legislative changes within the Health and Wellbeing sector and 
reductions in funding to local government will require significant transformation in the 
social care market in Herefordshire. In particular, in meeting the requirements of the 
Care Act, there will be an increased need for the health and social care sector to 
integrate their approaches to care and support. This needs to  be done in a way 
which helps reduce, prevent and delay the need for health and care services and 
supports people to maintain their independence for as long as possible.  Housing and 
housing-related advice and support services are critical to helping provide greater 
choice and independence and  reducing peoples reliance, in later life,  on health and 
social care services. 

7 Currently, there is an imbalance in the housing market in Herefordshire which limits 

40



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Richard Gabb (Programme Director Housing and Growth) on Tel (01432) 261902 

 

the housing options and choices available to people as they start to think about their 
future housing, health and wellbeing needs. This housing shortage applies across 
general needs and specialist housing for older people and there is a need to deliver 
more housing which is suitable for and able to adapt to, the changing needs our 
growing older population.  

8. To inform this approach Peter Fletcher Associates and Arc4 were commissioned to 
carry out a comprehensive survey of households aged 50 and over and both 
qualitative and quantitative data was collected and analysed in relation to housing 
and support needs. Amongst key data recorded the survey found that:- 

a. Just over 80% of households responding were home owners with two thirds of 
these mortgage free. 

b. 67% were under-occupying their property. 

c. The main needs for support related to cleaning, gardening and other maintenance 
tasks followed by personal care needs. 

d. Up to 27% either intend to move in the next 5 years of are not sure of their moving 
intentions, however most want to move locally. 

e. Better information and advice was identified as a key area for over one-fifth of the 
households surveyed. 

9. The Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway has been 
developed as an essential part of a broader transformation of the health and social 
care system, responding not only the legislative changes, but also the specific 
challenges for Herefordshire in relation to demographic changes and the lack of 
housing choices for older people.  

10. The Strategy recognises the need to address the prevention agenda and identifies 
essential information, advice and guidance tools within a ‘Pathway’ for older people 
which promotes self-determination, independence, choice and control. Whilst 
elements of the Strategy Pathway centre on developing advice and housing-related 
support services, in partnership, it also sets out the approach to addressing the lack 
of housing market choice available to older people in Herefordshire.  

11. Section 5 of the Strategy Pathway sets out the key actions required to turn the 
pathway into a reality for older people in Herefordshire. They are:- 

f. Setting up the information and advice services and self-assessment tools for older 
people to make informed housing, service and support decisions in older age. 

g. Developing the service offer to enable older people to stay at home 

h. Developing the right housing mix to meet the housing need and demand of the 
ageing population. 

12. Importantly, for the purposes of action (c) above, the Strategy Pathway identifies the 
housing delivery needs in the context of the 7 Housing Market Areas (HMA’s) 
identified in the Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment, enabling regard to 
be given to addressing shortfalls at a local level. 

13. Herefordshire Council will engage with a wide range of partners across the Housing, 

41



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Richard Gabb (Programme Director Housing and Growth) on Tel (01432) 261902 

 

Health and Social Care sectors to ensure the Housing Strategy Pathway Action Plan 
is delivered. This will include encouraging the development of capacity and capability 
within communities to connect with and support older people to live independently, 
working with developers to explore and deliver improved choice for older people 
within their local housing market areas. Market development will involve working with 
our partners to better understand the gaps and opportunities in the information, 
advice and guidance available and importantly, in the support options which help 
people to make the right decision as early as possible in preparing for older age. 

Community impact 

14. The Strategy and Pathway Action Plan has been developed taking into account the 
findings of the Understanding Herefordshire evidence base and other data sources 
including the findings and recommendations of the Peter Fletcher and Arc4 study, the 
Local Housing Market Area Assessment and Healthy Housing Survey Report 2012.  

15.  It is framed within the context of a Herefordshire Adult Social Care Strategy that 
describes a new relationship with individuals and communities: 

In order to manage the funding challenge and to ensure the sustainable delivery of 
personalised care, we need to develop a new relationship with citizens and the local 
community. Changing the way that existing services are delivered will in most cases 
not be sufficient. There needs to be a fundamental change in expectations of 
individuals, communities and service providers if the most is to be made of available 
resources. The challenge is to develop an approach that benefits both the individual 
and the council, while discouraging behaviours that create user dependency and 
incur further costs. 
 

Equality duty 

16. The Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway seeks to develop improved 
housing options for older people and create an environment in which older people are 
able to both consider, understand and access the right housing options to help 
ensure they live independently and healthily for longer. 

17. This includes widening the quantity, quality and accessibility of information available 
and developing new housing which will improve the housing market choices available 
for the growing older population in Herefordshire.  

18. In especially seeking to support people who are vulnerable or who would otherwise 
become vulnerable the Strategy and Pathway will advance the equality of opportunity 
of a significant proportion of the population of Herefordshire to live healthily and 
independently for as long as possible. 

Financial implications 

19. The Actions proposed within this report will be taken forward within the existing 
budget envelope for Adults Wellbeing. For instance, it is anticipated that some 
advisory and signposting services can be adapted from pre-existing web-based 
systems used by other local authorities and some housing-related support services 
could be delivered on a charged-for basis, for instance, expanding Home Moving 
Services available from Voluntary Sector providers. 

20. However, should the development of Information, Advice and Guidance services or 

42



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Richard Gabb (Programme Director Housing and Growth) on Tel (01432) 261902 

 

Support Services require additional funding, for instance on a spend-to-save basis, 
the financial implications will be brought for consideration as appropriate. 

21. The report does not propose any financial commitment to fund Land or Capital 
development costs or in relation, for instance, to the delivery of mixed-tenure Extra 
Care Housing. Any such proposals which carry financial implications will be brought 
for consideration as appropriate. 

Legal implications 

22. Proposal is in accordance with the Care Act 2014 which states that the provision of 
suitable accommodation can be an integral part of care and support and provides 
flexibility for local authorities to arrange different types of accommodation to meet a 
person’s care and support needs. The Care Act places a duty on local authorities to 
provide information and advice about care including housing.. 

Risk management 

23. There are no significant risks for the Council in approving the attached Strategy 
Pathway. The first proposal in relation to the development of improved information, 
advice and guidance does not represent a significant risk to forecast budgets 
although it will be necessary to apply some additional staffing resource to evaluating 
and securing the required information systems and ensuring connectivity to existing 
Council information and advice systems.  

24. Whilst implementing the Strategy and Pathway is expected to impact positively on the 
demand for Health and wellbeing Services over the medium to longer term, failure to 
approve will lead to continued and increasing budget risks over the same period as 
the goring older population requires greater and greater access to health and 
wellbeing services funded by the Council and its statutory partners.  Any risks 
highlighted will be flagged up in the relevant departmental risk register. 

25. The Strategy does propose the development of significant amounts of specialised 
housing for older people including Extra Care. Whilst this report does not identify any 
specific Capital schemes the Cabinet may, in future, be asked to consider specific 
opportunities for Council-owned land to be developed for the purpose of providing 
Extra Care housing and whether, for the purpose of enabling affordable housing 
within the development, the Council wishes to extract full market value for the land. 
Any such proposals will be considered on a case by case basis.  

Consultees 

26. The Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway was informed by 
the findings of both quantitative and qualitative survey data as part of the study of 
households undertaken by Peter Fletcher associates and their research partner Arc4. 
A sample of 12,268 households were contacted and 3,578 questionnaires were 
received in response  

27. A Workshop event involving a range of providers and stakeholders was held in July 
2014 for the purpose of informing the development of the Strategy and Pathway. 
Consultation with a smaller ‘members working group’ was held in October 2014. A 
further Workshop is due to be held prior to Cabinet’s consideration of this report.  

43



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Richard Gabb (Programme Director Housing and Growth) on Tel (01432) 261902 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A – The Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway. 

Background papers 

• Peter Fletcher Associates - Study of the Housing and Support Needs of Older People 
in Herefordshire (2012) Updated 2015. 

 
 
 

44



 

45



1 
 

Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway 

 
Foreword by Councillor Graham Powell, Cabinet Member Health and Wellbeing 

This Housing Strategy and Pathway comes at a critical time in terms of our planning for the 
future of Adult Wellbeing services in Herefordshire.  

During the period 2011 - 2015 core funding for local authorities will have reduced by 40% 
which will have an obvious impact on the capacity to deliver. Coupled with this financial 
pressure we have to add the challenges presented by a continuing increase in the numbers 
of older residents and new legislation. Herefordshire’s Health and Social Care partners have 
all recognised these factors and are working together to transform the overall approach to 
the delivery of health and wellbeing outcomes.  

This Older Peoples Housing Strategy and Pathway is a critical part of this transformation 
program. The pathway’s strategic aims support the establishment of improved information, 
advice and self-assessment tools to help people make their housing decisions in a timely 
manner. The strategy also sets out proposals for the development of a range of flexible and 
accessible support services that will aid residents to live independent and healthy lifestyles 
in their own homes.  

Herefordshire Council will work in partnership with housing developers to create the right mix 
of general needs and specialist housing to meet the demands of an ageing population. Older 
people are a key driver in Herefordshire’s housing market but are currently poorly served by 
the imbalance in supply. Linked to Herefordshire’s strategic housing plans this Strategy and 
Pathway aims to ensure that a significant proportion of the 16,500 housing target, as 
described in our emerging Local Plan, will be suitable for both the current and future needs 
of our demographic profile. This will be critical as we strive to allow older people to retain 
their independence for longer. 

There will be challenges but delivery of this strategy will help to rebalance the housing, care 
and support system in Herefordshire. Individuals, families and communities, with support 
from Herefordshire Council, will work together to deliver outcomes that meet local need.  Our 
approach will be founded upon the principles of ‘help to help yourself, help when you need it 
and ongoing support for those who need it’. 

The approaches set out in this strategy are essential to ensuring that all of the residents of 
Herefordshire have the opportunity to achieve the health and wellbeing outcomes that are 
important to them. 

 

Councillor Graham Powell 
Cabinet Member, Health and Wellbeing 

46



2 
 

Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway 

Contents 

1. Introduction and Purpose 3 

2. Context 4 

3. The Older population and housing aspirations 5 

 Figure 1:  Herefordshire County 65+ Population Projections 2014-2030 6 

 Figure 2:  Wards within each Housing Market Area 6 

 Figure 3:  Buying a property by HMA 8 

 Figure 4:  House type preferences by HMA 8 

 House type preferences also changed as people got older with fewer 

people wanting a house and more a bungalow or ground floor apartment 

8 

 Figure 5: House type preference by age 8 

 Figure 6:  No. of bedrooms preferred by age 9 

 Figure 7:  Size of dwelling by HMA 9 

4. Developing the Housing Strategy and Pathway for Older People 11 

 Figure 8:  Housing and Independent Living for Older People Pathway 12 

5. Actions needed to turn the Housing Strategy and Pathway into 

reality for older people 

13 

 Figure 9:  Projecting future additional specialist older people’s housing 

supply needed using the SHOP Toolkit model 

17 

6. Creating the right environment to make things happen 19 

7. What outcomes will we achieve? 20 

Appendix 1:  Housing Pathway 21 

Appendix 2:  Older Person’s Housing Definitions and glossary 22 

Appendix 3:  Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway – Needs  

                       by  HMA 

35 

 

 

  

47



3 
 

Herefordshire Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway 

 

1. Introduction and Purpose 

This Housing Strategy and Pathway aims to provide clear guidance on the housing 
and other related services that Herefordshire Council wishes to develop in 
partnership with a range of other organisations to address the housing and service 
challenges of our ageing population.  

It builds on and updates the research in the Study of the Housing and Support needs 
of Older People in Herefordshire (Peter Fletcher Associates and Arc4 2012 Updated 
data report produced in January 2015 to take account of 2011 census) and takes 
account of many of the practical ideas discussed at the Strategic Partner workshop 
held on 1 July 2014. It also takes account of the evidence contained in the 
‘Understanding Herefordshire’ integrated needs assessment (see Council website). 

We are deliberately taking a broad rather than a prescriptive view of what defines 
older age. This recognises the fact that a growing number of older people are 
remaining active well into their 90’s. Alongside this a growing number of adults with 
health conditions or disabilities are living into older age whilst other people may 
experience health problems as they approach or reach retirement. This is why the 
background data and research includes people aged 50+, and what is now termed 
older people in fact represents two or even three generations of the population. For 
the general needs housing market we are therefore talking about a broad age 
spectrum of households. More specialist housing will focus on the older age cohorts 
but also needs to include younger older people who need more specialist 
accommodation and support.   

 

2. Context 

National context 

The Housing Strategy for England (2011) identified that 60% of projected household 
growth to 2033 is from households aged 65+. Older people are therefore a major 
driver in the housing market, not just in relation to specialist housing but also general 
needs housing that is suitable for and attractive to older households. 

Developing new housing for older people has a positive impact on both housing and 
health policy: 

· Attractive housing choices for older people to move to smaller, more suitable 
accessible housing can free up family housing 

· Good housing for older people can help reduce the number of older people 
moving into long-term care and reduce costs to the NHS and adult social care 

In addition the Care Act sees housing as key to the provision of care and places a 
duty to provide information and advice about care, including housing. 

48



4 
 

Local context 

The Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) has identified the need for 16,500 
new homes in the county by 2031. In addition, the major survey carried out in the 
county in 2011 of households aged 50+ (see further information later in this strategy 
pathway) highlights that 12% of older households intend to move in the next 5 years 
and a further 15% are not sure of their moving intentions. With older households 
making up a substantial proportion of projected household growth over the next 20 
years (see Housing Strategy for England above) it is important that a significant 
proportion of these homes must be suitable for, and able to adapt to, the changing 
needs of our ageing population. This applies not only to the development of 
specialist housing but also mainstream housing, which is where 90% of older 
households live. This is why some mainstream national house builders, for example 
Barratts, who have previously focused on three and four bedroom homes aimed at 
families, are now also focusing on the retirement market as well and developing 
general needs housing and house types specifically aimed at older households aged 
55+. The Council is already working with a major house builder to develop this 
approach on a site in the county. 

New housing for older people can become a way of achieving market development 
through developing attractive smaller homes and addressing under occupation.  

Alongside this, the Herefordshire Market Position Statement identifies that increasing 
demand for social care services, greater numbers of self-funders and personal 
budget holders, and restrictions in available local government expenditure will 
require significant changes in the social care market going forward.  In particular, in 
line with the requirements of the Care Act, there will be an increased need for 
provision, including housing and housing-related services, which helps reduce, 
prevent and delay care and support needs and supports people to maintain their 
independence as much as possible.  

The Better Care Fund (BCF) focuses on a transformational programme to build 
integration around care and support across health and social care. There are 
crossovers into housing and the BCF Plan approach, which includes the Disabled 
Facilities Grant (DFG), will be supported by the Housing Strategy and Pathway for 
Older People in terms of opportunities for greater choice and independence, which 
will result in reduced reliance, in later life, on health and social care services. 

Working with individuals, communities and partners, our approach will encompass 
delivering the measures outlined in the strategy and pathway to manage demands 
for services. This supports a move away from a model of paternalistic care to an 
approach which promotes independence and manages risks with customers.  

 

 

 

 

49



5 
 

We have to use our limited resources to: 

 

3. The older population and housing aspirations 

About Herefordshire 

· Although the population aged 50-64 will only grow by 1.5% up to 2030, 
there is a rapidly growing older population aged 65+ (41%), and especially 
people 85+ (90% growth) over the same period  – see Figure 1 below. The 
2011 census shows growth lower than the 2001 census predicted, but still 
above the regional and national averages. 

· More people with disabilities are living into older age; and the number of 
people with dementia is growing. 

· 78.4% of pensioner householders are owner occupiers (72.8% in 2001). 

· The average median house price in Herefordshire for the period January 
2013 to June 2014 was £183,750.   

· Herefordshire is a very rural county adding costs in terms of service 
delivery and increasing the risks and impacts on health and wellbeing 
caused by social isolation. 

· 42% of ‘vulnerable’ households in Herefordshire are pensioners of which 
25% comprise pensioner households living in non-decent housing. The 
Herefordshire Council Healthy Housing Report (2012) highlights the growth 
in older housing as a major issue in relation to future housing supply. It 
states that 17.1% of households are in non-decent homes because of fuel 
poverty and energy efficiency is a major factor in relation to affordability. In 
addition there are nearly 1000 householders who felt their illness had been 
caused by the condition of their home.  

· There are 7 local housing market areas (HMAs) identified in Herefordshire 
– see Figure 2 below - and wide variations between these in terms of 

50



6 
 

tenure, house price and rurality (see Appendix 3 for individual local HMA 
data). Understanding and responding to local housing need and demand 
specifically for each individual HMA is very important  

·  
Figure 1: Herefordshire County 65+ Population Projections 2014-2030 
Age Group Year of Projection % Change 

2014-2030 2014 2020 2025 2030 
50-64 39,026 42,138 42,209 39,595 1.5 
65-69 13,374 12,498 13,379 15,376 15.0 
70-74 10,089 12,925 12,055 12,973 28.6 
75-79 7,965 9,621 11,864 11,140 39.9 
80-84 5,964 6,829 8,251 10,291 72.6 
85-89 3,766 4,414 5,125 6,359 68.9 
90+ 2,147 2,917 3,775 4,858 126.3 
Total 50+ 82,331 91,342 96,658 100,592 22.2 
Total 65+ 43,305 49,204 54,449 60,997 40.9 
Total 75+ 19842 

 
23781 
 

29015 
 

32648 
 

64.5 

Total 85+ 5,913 7,331 8,900 11,217 89.7 
Source: Herefordshire County Council Research Team, 2012 Hfds projections (Principal Projections 
A) 
 

Figure 2: Wards within each Housing Market Area 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: 
Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment: 2012 Update Draft Report, January 2013 

51



7 
 

What is the current housing situation of older people and what do they want in 
the future? 

PFA and their research partners Arc4 carried out a major survey of households aged 
50+ in the county in 2011.  A sample of 12,268 households were contacted and 
3,578 questionnaires were received, resulting in a very high response rate of 29.1%, 
and a very low sample error of +/-1.56%. Key findings included: 

Current home, tenure, and property and support needs 

· Just over 80% were home owners, and of these over two-thirds (67.7%) were 
mortgage free and therefore had equity. 

· Most people lived in 3 or 4 bedroom dwellings. 

· 67% were under-occupying their property.  

· 7.3% needed help to maintain their property. 

· The main needs for support relate to: cleaning, gardening, decorating,  
shopping and low level maintenance; followed by personal care tasks such as 
getting in and out of the bath or shower, 

· The main needs in relation to equipment and adaptations are for: adaptations 
to bathroom; grab rails (internal and external); improving access outside the 
home; stair-lift; and downstairs WC, 

· Some older people needed more support in their local neighbourhood to 
engage in social activities or to address social isolation. 

· Better information and advice was also identified as a key area for 21.6% of 
households in the survey. 

 

Staying or moving 

· 73% want to stay in current home; most have lived there a long time. 

· Up to 27% either intend to move in the next 5 years (12%) or are not sure of 
their moving intentions (15%). 

Of the people who might want to move: 

· Most want to move locally. 

· The main reasons for wishing to move relate to the property itself or the 
location: 

- 44.9% - Need smaller property (current property difficult to manage).  
- 43.0% - Want smaller garden. 
- 31.2% - To be closer to facilities e.g. shops, doctors. 
- 19.1% - To be closer to family/friends to give or receive support.  

17.4% - To be closer to friends/family for social reasons. 

52



8 
 

· 79% were able to afford to purchase a new property outright or with a 
mortgage (the survey was undertaken during the housing market downturn). 
After the age of 80 the proportion of older households wishing to purchase 
reduces to 50%. 
 

The tables below provide further data about older households who may wish to move 
home. Some of the tables break the data down by each of the 7 local HMAs. The 
figures for the Hereford HMA have been further split between Hereford City and its 
rural hinterland. 

 
· The proportion of older households wishing to purchase varies between the 

local HMAs (see Figure 3 below) 

Figure 3: Buying a property by HMA 

 

· Figure 4 below shows that nearly 90% of people wanted a bungalow or a 
house. House type preferences varied between different HMAs 
 

Figure 4: House type preferences by HMA 

 

 
· Breaking down the total figures in the final column of Figure 4 by age cohort, 

Figure 5 below shows that house type preferences also changed as people 
got older, with fewer people wanting a house and more a bungalow or ground 
floor apartment 
 

        Figure 5: House type preference by age 
  Age Band (%)     

Property type would like 50 to 64 65 to 79 
80 and 
over Total 

House 51.5 28.8 4.9 37.8 

Bungalow 41.7 57.7 58.0 49.7 

Apartment (ground floor) 2.3 8.6 30.5 7.7 

Apartment (above ground 
floor) 4.5 4.9 6.5 4.8 

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 

 

HMA (%)

Tenure preferences Bromyard
Golden 
Valley Hereford

Hereford 
City Kington Ledbury

Leominst
er

Ross on 
Wye Total

Buying a property outright or with a mortgage 59.0 92.7 77.9 77.0 83.5 80.3 79.4 80.2 78.8

HMA (%)

Property type would like Bromyard
Golden 
Valley Hereford

Hereford 
City Kington Ledbury Leominster

Ross on 
Wye Total

House 40.9 47.4 36.8 29.6 52.5 49.3 37.5 31.2 37.8
Bungalow 50.0 47.4 47.4 51.9 41.0 36.2 48.6 61.0 49.7
Apartment (ground floor) 4.5 5.3 10.5 11.1 1.6 11.6 8.3 3.9 7.7
Apartment (above gr'd floor) 4.5 0.0 5.3 7.4 4.9 2.9 5.6 3.9 4.8
Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

53



9 
 

· Figure 6 below shows that nearly half the people surveyed (47%) wanted a 
two bedroom dwelling, with the proportion increasing from 40% for people 
aged 50-64 to 60% for people aged 80+. Conversely, the proportion of older 
households wanting three bed properties reduces substantially as they get 
older from 45% for people aged 50-64 to only 7% for people aged 80+. The 
number of older households wanting one bedroom property remains very low 
(between 3 and 5%) up to the age of 80 and then increases to 24%. 

 

         Figure 6: No. of bedrooms preferred by age 
  Age Band (%)     

Bedrooms would like 50 to 64 65 to 79 
80 and 
over Total 

Studio/bedsit 0.0 1.3 4.0 0.9 

One bedroom 3.3 5.3 24.1 6.3 

Two bedrooms 40.4 51.6 64.4 47.3 

Three bedrooms 45.5 37.0 7.5 38.2 

More than three 
bedrooms 10.8 4.8 0.0 7.3 

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 

 
· Figure 7 shows that there were also variations across the different HMAs in 

the size of dwelling older households wanted, with most households wanting 3 
bedroom dwellings in Kington and most wanting two bedroom dwellings in the 
Hereford HMA  

      Figure 7: Size of dwelling by HMA 

 

 

Focus groups carried out with older people across Herefordshire reinforced some 
of the key messages from the household survey, including: 

· The importance of domestic and maintenance services 
· People are generally prepared to pay for services that they need and want if 

they  are the right quality and price 
· Preference for 2 bedroom bungalows if moving within the same 

neighbourhood, and the importance of maintaining contact with family and 
friends 

HMA (%)

Bedrooms would like Bromyard
Golden 
Valley Hereford

Hereford 
City Kington Ledbury Leominster

Ross on 
Wye Total

Studio/bedsit 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 2.8 1.3 0.9
One bedroom 13.3 3.4 0.0 7.4 1.6 7.2 8.3 6.6 6.3
Two bedrooms 44.4 44.8 63.2 55.6 36.1 33.3 40.3 50.0 47.3
Three bedrooms 35.6 46.6 26.3 37.0 55.7 43.5 38.9 34.2 38.2
More than three bedrooms 6.7 5.2 10.5 0.0 6.6 14.5 9.7 7.9 7.3
Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

54



10 
 

Summary 

Most older people want to stay put but need better access to property and practical 
support services to be able to stay living independently in their own homes. 

Over 25% of older households aged 50+ might want to move in the next 5 years 
(12%) or are not sure (15%). There are some 29,594 households aged 65+ in the 
county. If  only 10% of them want to move in the next 5 years that equates to 2,959 
households. If 25% want to move that means 7,399 older households. Either of 
these figures reflects that for a substantial proportion of the county’s new homes, 
identified in the LHMA as being needed up to 2031, the demand will come from older 
people. 

These figures highlight the potential of the older people’s housing market if  
appropriate housing is developed to encourage older people to move home. 

The survey also highlighted differences between different age cohorts of the older 
population in terms of: 

· Tenure: nearly 80% of people in the survey were able to purchase a 
property outright or with a mortgage, with the proportion of those wishing 
to purchase reducing to 50% for people aged 80+. 

· Number of bedrooms: highest demand for two bedroom properties across 
all age cohorts aged 50+; lessening demand for three bedroom properties 
amongst older households; and very low demand for one bedroom homes 
until households are aged 80+ and then only 24% of households in that 
age group. 

 

The survey also highlights geographical differences between the 7 HMAs in terms of 
both: 

· The proportion of older households wishing to purchase. 
· House type preferences. 

 

Both social housing and private developers will therefore need to take account of 
these age cohort and geographical differences when bringing forward proposals for 
new housing developments that reflect Herefordshire’s ageing population. 

General needs housing (including house types with larger rooms, bungalows and 
cottage type developments) need to all be two to three bedrooms. 

Extra care type provision needs to be mostly two bedroom, given that only 24% of 
older people aged 80+ have indicated they would want a one bedroom property. 

 

 

55



11 
 

4. Developing the Housing Strategy and Pathway for Older 
People 

 
The Housing Strategy and Pathway for older people has been developed to deliver 
on what older people say they want to meet their housing and related service needs 
to sustain quality of life and independent living in older age. 

The strategy and pathway is based on providing older people with the information, 
housing and service options to put them in control of decisions about their future. 
Putting this into practice will also enable the Council and its partners to maintain 
essential health and social care services to those most in need. 

There are 4 main stages to the Housing Strategy and Pathway for older people, 
which is set out in Figure 8 below. They are: 

- Stage 1: assessing how well my home will suit me in older age. 
- Stage 2: deciding on whether I want to stay or move. 
- Stage 3: actions needed to put my decision into practice. 
- Stage 4 other help I might need. 

 

A more detailed pathway is provided in Appendix 1 that shows the pathway design in 
the context of understanding the ‘fit’ of different service responses and to help 
partner organisations understand where they may fit into the pathway. 

Figure 8: Housing and Independent Living for Older People Pathway 

56



12 

MY HOME, MY LIFESTYLE  E E – –  Housing Independent Living in Older People Pathway ay  

  Older  
Person/ /  

Household d  

Self  
Assessment  
Checklists I  

can use ee  

  

Information  
and Advice cece  

I can get tt  

Services I can  
buy yy  

STAGE 1 1  
MY OWN  

ASSESSMENT NT  
“How well does my  

home   suit me?” 
y 

  

Herefordshire  
Independent Living ng  

Range of services  
for direct purchase e  

  
Service Directory y  

Herefordshire  
Independent Living ng  

Home Moving  
service   

Service Directory y  

STAGE 4:    
OTHER HELP I  
MIGHT NEED ED  

Health   
GP     

  

Care   
Social  

Services es  
  

STAGE 2:    
MY DECISION N  
(Use results of  

HOOP to decide) )  

STAGE 3:   
MY ACTION   

STAYING  
PUT T  

Do I want to  
stay put? ?  

MOVING   
Do I want to move  

home? ?  
Deciding on: Type  
of home, tenure,  

location,  
affordability y  

  

STAYING PUT T  
What do I need or  

want for  
independent  

living?  – –  Property  
issues, services,  

lifestyle   
  

MOVING NG  
a)   What help do I  

need for  
moving? ?  

b)   Once moved  – –  
what help do I  
need for  
independent  
living? ?  

My Future Self  
Assessment  

Checklist t  
Inc. feeling safe,  

my home,  
managing life e  

  

MY  NEW HOME  
checklist  -   

Information to  
help you decide e  

HOUSING OPTIONS  
FOR  OLDER PEOPLE  

(HOOP)   
   Paper or web based    
questionnaire e  

FIRST STOP (Free) )  
Housing Advice  

Service for Older  
People   

Need help to  
decide?    

= FIRST STOP OP  

Independent Living  
Adviser r  

HOME POINT  – –  for  
social Housing for 

rent    
Estate agents,  

mortgage advisor  
and websites for  

purchasing ngng  

Orbit HomeBuy 
Agents – for 

affordable housing 
for sale               

Estate Agents 

5
7



13 
 

5. Actions needed to turn the housing strategy and pathway into 
reality for older people 

 
The actions needed to turn the housing strategy and pathway into reality are divided 
into three areas, each of which is interdependent on the other two. They are: 

· Information and advice to enable older people to make informed housing, 
service and support decisions in older age 

· Developing the service offer to support independent living 
· Developing the right housing mix to meet the housing need and demand of 

the ageing population 
 

 
1. Setting up the information and advice services and self assessment 

tools for older people to make informed housing, service and support 
decisions in older age  

Herefordshire Council will work with a range of organisations to improve the 
information and advice available for older people to be able to make appropriate 
housing and service choices in older age. The actions will include: 

· Promoting knowledge and use of First Stop, the national government funded 
independent, impartial and free advice service for older people, their families 
and carers about accommodation and services to sustain independence, 
choice and control in older age. 

· Promoting the use of the First Stop HOOP (Housing Options for Older People) 
tool to assist older people decide about staying put or moving home in older 
age. 

· Developing other self-assessment tools for older people, including my new 
Home checklist to support older people through the moving process; and My 
Future checklist to support independent living in older age. 

· Working with local partners to link up First Stop with local information, advice 
and services. 

· Developing and promoting an accessible database of current services, and 
housing schemes (across all tenures), for older people in each of the seven 
Housing market Areas and linking this to the First Stop national database. 

 

2. Developing the service offer to support independent living 

Herefordshire Council will work with providers to ensure that a flexible and 
accessible range of services are available for older people to purchase to support 
their independence. These will complement services commissioned by the Council. 

· First Contact alert and signposting service when going into an older 
person’s home and spotting risk factors (e.g. cold home, slips and trips, no 
smoke detector). 

58



14 
 

· One-stop-shop Herefordshire Independent Living Services that older 
people can purchase for themselves in the market place (development 
funding from Herefordshire Council to pump prime with the aim of this 
becoming self-funding model). Services to include: 
- Community alarm/telecare access. 
- Property services: handyperson, gardening, decorating, and other 

maintenance services. 
- Practical support: domestic services; bill paying; meals delivery. 
- Home moving service. 
- Social support: taking to the surgery, outings to the cinema, self-help 

befriending telephone networks to address social isolation. 
- Personal care. 

 

Assistive Technology at Henffordd Gardens, Hereford 

· Social support and befriending, using volunteer models such as 
telephone contact support. 

· Link the development of the Independent Living model to the further 
development of services commissioned by Herefordshire Council and 
Health, which would also become key parts of the Independent Living 
approach: 
- Handyperson and Staying Put services, linked to Aids and 

Adaptations services/DFGs.  
- Telecare to support people with long-term conditions and dementia, 

as well as preventing hospital admission and support post hospital 
discharge as part of reablement. 

- Access to breaks and other support for carers, including carers of 
people with dementia 

 
 

3. Developing the right housing mix to meet the housing need and demand of 
the ageing population 

Herefordshire Council is looking to ensure going forward the right volume, tenure mix 
and types of general needs and specialist accommodation to meet the growing 
ageing population in the county. This relates to both existing and new housing. 

Appendix 2 sets out definitions and terminology of older persons housing in 
Herefordshire. 

59



15 
 

 

Rose Gardens Extra Care, Hereford  

New housing 

How much housing is needed? 

Herefordshire Council has undertaken further work to link the gap analysis carried 
out by PFA with other local factors in each of the 7 local HMAs (e.g. tenure mix; and 
rurality) to set out the types of general needs housing that are needed, as well as 
local targets for specialist housing. 

(See Appendix 3 for key factors for each of the 7 local HMAs, such as tenure mix 
and house prices, and analysis by local HMA of targets for new specialist housing 
required up to 2030). 

In addition the Local Development Framework (LDF) establishes housing targets for 
the strategic locations within Herefordshire with the result that there will inevitably be 
a need to moderate some targets to take account of the emerging LDF. 

The overall key priorities for development are: 

General needs housing suitable for an ageing population 

There is a major shortage and lack of choice in the county of general needs housing 
suitable for older people that will encourage them to move from larger 3 and 4 
bedroom family homes. The large scale older people’s household survey (see 
section 3 of this strategy and pathway) highlighted the preference for older people of:  

· Purchasing rather than renting (80% wish to purchase up to age 80 and 50% 
beyond that age). For general needs housing there should be an average mix 
of 80% sale/20% rent, depending on the local market. 

· Minimum of two bedrooms (c.50%), with a significant proportion of three 
bedroom (c.40%) housing, depending on the local market, and with the 
preference being for 2 bedrooms as people get older – (see Figure 6 above 
and summary of research findings above on bedroom number preferences of 
older people). 

· Dwelling types that are suitable for older people – see Figure 5 above: 
bungalows (50%) and houses (38%), with the preference growing for 
bungalows as people get older (58% of households aged 65+ want a 
bungalow). In particular Herefordshire Council is looking to see lifetime homes 
standard developments of: 

60



16 
 

  
- All housing is built to lifetime home standards (soon to be incorporated 

within building regulations), with room sizes that will attract older owners 
to move home. 

- Bungalows. 
- Cottages with at least one bedroom and accessible bathroom downstairs. 
- Cohousing communities which are created and run by their residents. 

Each household has a self-contained, private home but residents come 
together to manage their community, , support each other, share activities 
and eat together. 

This is detailed further in Appendix 3, where the Council is specifically guiding 
developers to build a proportion of bungalows (or cottages which include a 
downstairs bedroom and bathroom) in their housing mix for new developments. 
Further guidance will be provided within an SPD. 

 

Specialist housing 

There is a major mismatch in the current supply of specialist housing against what is 
needed. Most existing retirement housing is for rent whereas most older households 
own their own homes and wish to continue to do so. There is a very limited amount 
of retirement housing for sale for older people to move to. 

There is also a shortage of enhanced sheltered housing and extra care type housing 
across all tenures and specialist housing for people with dementia (see Appendix 2 
for definitions). 

A further factor is the rural nature of the county, where to achieve coverage across 
the villages as well as the larger market towns, small scale developments will be 
more appropriate to meet local needs than larger scale schemes. 

There are already examples in Kington of care home providers developing ‘Close 
Care’ housing (housing in the grounds of a care/nursing home where care and other 
services can be accessed through the home) and for rural areas the Council would 
encourage small scale grouped developments of bungalows and cottages.  

The table in Figure 9 below summarises the shortfall in specialist housing for 
Herefordshire as a whole, based on the gap analysis carried out. The figures exclude 
sheltered housing for rent as there is an over-supply of such housing in the county. 
The figures are net of, and therefore take account of, current supply. Appendix 3 
breaks these figures down and provides more local shortfall targets for each of the 
seven local HMAs. 

The gap analysis shows the shortfall of current supply of specialist accommodation 
for older people against the recommended levels from the (SHOP) Strategic Housing 
for Older People Resource Pack (ADASS, Housing LIN 2011) - see page 19 of 
Section A. This is the most commonly used model for benchmarking supply and the 
same model is also used in the Housing in Later Life: planning ahead for specialist 

61



17 
 

housing for older people toolkit (2012, NHF, Housing LIN, McCarthy & Stone, 
Contact Consulting, and Tetlow King). 

 

The model sets out a series of “norms” for the levels of different specialist provision 
referencing them against the older population. The model is helpful as it looks across 
all tenures of specialist accommodation. In the past estimates have focused on 
specialist rented provision exclusively. The model therefore provides a way of 
looking across the specialist accommodation system and providing information for 
considering in what ways the volume and balance of specialist housing needs to 
change to meet future needs. The model is based on a suggested level of provision 
per 1000 of the population aged 75+.  The total population aged 75+ in Herefordshire 
for the dates used in the gap analysis are set out earlier in Figure 1 of this report. 

                                

Figure 9: Projecting future additional specialist older people’s housing supply needed 
using the SHOP Toolkit model 
 
Type of 
provision 

Current 
supply 
(2011) 

Suggested 
provision 
per 1000 of 
population 
75+ 

Additional 
supply by 
2020* 

Further 
additional 
supply 
needed 
from 2020- 
2030* 

Total 
additional 
supply by 
2030 

Housing 
based 
provision 
for 
dementia 

30 6 +113 +53 +166 

Extra care 
for rent  

105 15 +252 +138 +390 

Extra care 
for shared 
ownership 
and 
leasehold 
sale 

92 30 +621 +267 +888 

Enhanced 
sheltered 
housing for 
rent 

0 10 +238 +88 +326 

Enhanced 
sheltered 
housing for 
shared 
ownership 
and 
leasehold 
sale 

0 10 +238 _+88 +326 

Sheltered 
for sale 

534 120 +2320 +1064    +3384 

*additional supply figures are net of current supply (as at 2014) for all years 

62



18 
 

 
Further detail about the type of housing the Council is looking for is provided below: 

 

Specialist retirement housing and extra care/assisted living/close care type housing 

This housing should reflect the fact that it will generally attract an older age cohort 
than general needs housing. This housing should be: 

· n average mix of two thirds (66%) leasehold sale and one third (33%) 
affordable (shared ownership/low cost market and rent), depending on the 
local market. 

· An average of 75% two bedroom and 25% one bedroom, depending on the 
local market. 

· Fully accessible housing where appropriate.  
· Capable of supporting adults with long-term conditions or with physical or 

learning disabilities, or adults with mild to medium dementia, living into older 
age. 

· Capable of acting as an alternative to residential care. 

 

Housing models for people with dementia 

There is a need for specialist housing models for people with dementia to provide 
greater choice in the market and reduce the number of people with dementia living in 
long-term care. This housing should be: 

· Mainly for rent, because is it unlikely that many people with dementia will want 
the responsibility of owning their own home. 

· Mainly one bedroom flats, but with a small proportion capable of housing 
couples where one person has dementia. 

· The size of development will need to match local need in the area, but will 
need to balance having a domestic feel with achieving some economies of 
scale to achieve sustainability in terms of running costs. 

· Models could include: 
- Specially designed wings/units in extra care schemes. 
- Group living schemes with units of 5-8 flats or en-suite rooms grouped 

together (perhaps round an enclosed courtyard) to achieve economies of 
scale. 

- Bungalows and apartments for couples linked to one of the above models. 

63



19 
 

 

   Leadon Bank Extra Care, Ledbury 

Existing sheltered housing for rent 

Although there is an over-supply currently of sheltered housing for rent in 
Herefordshire, the standard and therefore the sustainability varies considerably 
between different schemes. Challenges to be addressed to improve the overall 
quality of sheltered housing for rent in Herefordshire need to include: 

· Agreeing a minimum accommodation sustainability standard for sheltered 
housing in the county. 

· Retaining, and upgrading/re-modelling if needed, substandard schemes for 
rent where there is demand in the local market to make homes more suitable 
for the growing expectations of the ageing population. This might include 
providing lift access to upper floors, and conversion of bedsits into one 
bedroom flats with wider doorways and wet rooms.  

· Decommission and re-build or change use (for example to extra care housing, 
or general housing depending on the wider housing market.) where either a 
suitable standard cannot be achieved or there is no longer local demand. 

· Ensuring older people can access adaptations to stay at home. 

 

6. Creating the right environment to make things happen 

Herefordshire Council is committed to ensuring that the Housing Strategy and 
Pathway is taken forward. To ensure this we will be proactive as an enabling 
authority to deliver on this strategy through: 

· Market development: Promoting a market development approach. 
· Partnership: Building an enabling partnership environment with a range of 

developers and providers built around trust and use of the respective skills of 
each organisation. 

· Community Capacity: Encouraging the development of capacity and capability 
within Communities to support older people to live independently and avoid 
social isolation. Co-housing communities could provide suitable/sustainable 
models of housing with local support. 

· Strengthening the Planning framework: Ensure that reference to the delivery 
of older persons housing pathway  is within Supplementary Planning 
Document  

64



20 
 

· Internal co-ordination: Ensuring internal co-ordination within the council to 
support housing developers and service providers to achieve our joint goals of 
a wider housing and service choice for older people. 

· Land and sites: The Council will engage with its partners across housing and 
health sectors to  review opportunities for land and built assets, including 
Council owned land, where appropriate, to contribute towards delivering the 
strategy objective of developing the right housing mix to meet the housing 
need and demand of the ageing population’. 
 
 
 
 
 

7. What outcomes will we achieve? 

By delivering this strategy, together we will: 

· Improve good quality information and advice to enable older people to make 
appropriate housing and service choices to support independence and quality 
of life in older age. 

· Enable older people to plan ahead for ageing – not waiting till crisis point. 
· Provide older households in the county with greater housing and tenure 

choice and proactively meet need and hidden demand. 
· Ensure more older people live in property suitable to their needs. 
· Reduce the use of long-term residential care (estimates by another shire 

county show that an extra care place saves the Council £5,800 compared with 
a placement in long-term residential care). 19% of older people receiving care 
at home go into institutional care compared to under 10% of those in extra 
care housing. 

· Save the NHS around £75,000 per unit of supported housing (CLG estimate) 
· Support more people with dementia in housing based settings. 
· Make savings on health spend through prevention and early discharge of 

hospital stays. On average extra care residents spend less time in hospital. 
· Reduce the level of falls through well designed level access accommodation – 

some 1 in 4 falls are from stairs, and the majority take place in the home. 
Falling is one of the main causes of hospitalisation in older and vulnerable 
people (international Longevity Centre UK (2008) 

· Free up 3 and 4 bed housing for the wider housing market. 
· Use public sector land more creatively. 

Overall, investing in housing suitable for an ageing population and services to 
support independence in older age makes economic sense, supports people to plan 
for ageing better and enables more older people to live independently, where they 
choose with quality of life and dignity. 

.  

  

65



21 
 

Appendix 1: Housing Pathway 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MY HOME 

Housing Options 
for Older People 

HOOP 

First Stop 
Housing 

Signposting 

Herefordshire 
Independent 

Living 
Acute Hospital 
or Social Care 
Assessment

 Housing Options 

RAAC and/or 
Re-ablement 

Services 

Access Services: 
Telecare/Assistive 
Technologies 
HIA/Disabled 
Facilities Grants 
Handyperson 
Decorating 
Gardening 
Home Moving 
Meals/Help to 
cook 
Housework 
Gardening 
Benefits Advice 
Funeral Planning 
Home safety check 
Shopping 
Befriending and 
signposting to 
community 
activities 

Signposting to: 
Agency Services 
Extra Care 
Assisted Living 
Home Point 
Sheltered Hsg 
Housing Solutions 
Retirement Advice 
Retirement Living 
Estate Agents 
Letting Agents 
 

Web-based  
Questionnaire 
Explores: 
Size and Space 
Independence 
Cost 
Condition 
Comfort 
Security 
Location 
Managing 
Quality of Life 
You and looking 
ahead 
Advisors contact 
to discuss results 
and options 

Extra Care Housing 

Adaptations 

Sheltered Housing 

Assisted Living 

Move to New Home 

 

Residential 
Care 

Are 
current  

housing or support 
arrangements  

adequate? 

Yes 

No 

Is Extra  
Care or Assisted 

Living a 
possibility?  

Fall or other 
Emergency 

FIRST CONTACT ‘SYSTEM APPROACH’ 

Proactive contact system 
where visitors to property, 
e.g.  VCS, Fire service, 
District Nurses, Social 
Workers, Housing Officers 
ask 5 key questions and 
advise or offer referral 

Preventative Housing Pathway  

Older Persons 

 

No 
Yes 

Can I stay in 
my own 
home? 

No 

Yes 

 First Contact ‘Safety Net’  
Housing and Independent  
Living choices in older age 

My Choice 
My Choice My Choice 

Progression of Housing Options 

First Contact ‘System Approach’ – proactive contact/referral system whereby both voluntary and community volunteers/be-
friending services plus Nurses, Fireservice, Police, OT’s, Council Officers etc. ask 5 key questions on any visit to elderly person 
and alert/refer to preventative advice services. 
Housing Options for Older People (HOOP) – http://hoop.eac.org.uk/hoop/start.aspx Elderly Accommodation Council website- 
based self-assessment tool for people wondering whether to move or not and/or require information on options. Team of 
people who ring with advice/signposting in response to assessed ‘score’. 
First Stop Housing Signposting – e.g. see http://www.notts50plus.co.uk/ enables older people to access services through a  
single point of contact e.g. signposting to groups or clubs, or Independent Living schemes such as HIA, Gardening, Shopping 
Services etc. 
Independent Living Service for Herefordshire – Offers or llinks people to a range of services and options which can help resolve 
risks to independent living or provide solutions e.g. DFG grants via HIA, Home Moving Service, Meals on Wheels, Benefits 
Advice (opportunity with Welfare Rights tie-up), Handyperson, Telecare etc. see http://www.edenindependentliving.org.uk/  

66



22 
 

Appendix 2: Older Person’s Housing definitions and glossary 
 

Introduction 
There are numerous interpretations of the terminology used to describe the various 
types of older person housing being offered either on the open market or through 
registered providers, and this plethora of often duplicating terms can act as an 
inhibitor to transparent partnership working and service delivery. 

Therefore Herefordshire Council in this guidance note, have set out definitions of the 
terminology that it will use in its statutory roles as both a Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) and Strategic Housing Authority, and as a facilitator and commissioner of 
personal care, when describing older persons housing. 

By setting out its understanding of these terms and definitions, the Council is not 
intending to prevent partner organisations using their own interpretations or 
meanings in the development, marketing and ongoing management of older persons 
housing schemes. However, the Council would ask that in all negotiations, partners 
are mindful of the Council’s definitions set out below for the avoidance of any doubt 
or misunderstanding.   

     

Older Persons Housing: Definitions and Terminology 

Older Persons Housing – is an umbrella term to describe any housing that has 
been purposefully designed and/or comprehensively remodelled to incorporate 
special features/adaptations to enable older people to live independently for as long 
as possible, aided by focused support and personal care being delivered from within 
their home if and as required. It can also cover general needs housing, within which 
older people live, with or without care and support, which is designed as accessible 
housing suitable to enable older people to age in place, sustain independence in 
older age, and reduce the likelihood of needing to move to specialist housing or a 
long-term care setting. 

 

Older Persons Housing falls into three broad groups  

1: Care based – this accommodation is always registered with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) 

Care based accommodation is not in a legal sense ‘housing‘, despite being in many 
cases the sole place of residence, as the occupancy is not secured through either 
ownership  or a tenancy. 

Care Home - a communal residential scheme where a number of older people live, 
usually in single en-suite  rooms with access to shared facilities such as lounges, 
activity rooms, kitchenettes for snacks and often a garden area. Support staff are on 
call at all times to provide personal care services, and all meals are provided 
centrally. People may live in the service for short or long periods.  

From the perspective of the CQC a care home is a place where personal care and 
accommodation are provided together, and both the care received and the premises 
are regulated by the CQC. 

67



23 
 

Care Home with Nursing – similar in almost all respects to a Care Home except 
that a qualified nurse will be on duty 24/7 to provide and/or supervise medical 
interventions which address more complex health/disability needs. Schemes can 
specialise in particular needs, for example dementia. 
 

From the perspective of the CQC, as with a Care Home, both the care and the 
premises are regulated. 

 

2: Housing with care/extra care – this type of accommodation may or may not 
be registered with the CQC  

Assisted Living - a term more frequently used to describe market provided 
specialist older person housing schemes (akin in many ways to Extra Care schemes) 
where personal care is either available on site and/or actively ‘facilitated’. Assisted 
Living Schemes are usually offered either for leasehold purchase or market rent. 
Dependant on the format of the care and support offered, the Council will look to 
assess individual schemes against the criteria used to define supported living, 
sheltered housing, or extra care if there is genuine separation between the provision 
of the care and the accommodation. Only the care received is regulated by CQC, but 
the accommodation is not. However if the care is provided ‘together with’ the 
accommodation (as a condition of occupying the dwelling) then both need to be 
regulated as a care home or care home with nursing. 

Close Care - is a relatively new concept where independent self-contained units are 
built within the grounds of a care home, and from which support, including personal 
care, can be provided. The individual close care units are offered on either tenancies 
or leaseholds. The range of support services and care offered by Close Care 
schemes varies very significantly between providers, therefore the Council will look 
to define individual schemes in terms of the actual services offered, and as such, 
they will be viewed as providing either sheltered housing, or extra care.  

If there is genuine separation between the care and the accommodation, then only 
the care received is regulated by CQC. However if the care is provided ‘together 
with’ the accommodation (as a condition of occupying the dwelling) then both need 
to be regulated as a care home or care home with nursing. 

Enhanced Sheltered/Retirement Housing – offers a greater range of facilities and 
support services than a sheltered scheme, but the offer falls short of the older person 
specific provisions found in Extra Care or assisted living.  

Very Sheltered/Retirement Housing (VSH) – the Council considers this type of 
specialist older persons housing equal to, and/or equivalent in most instances, to the 
newer emerging Extra Care model, but recognises that some existing schemes are 
still referred to by this alternative term. As existing VSH schemes don’t (generally) 
take tenants who have no care needs, the Council view them as less flexible than 
extra care in terms of offering long-term choice for older persons seeking specialist 
housing.  If there is genuine separation between the care and the accommodation, 
the care received is regulated by CQC, but the accommodation is not.  

Extra Care – is an evolved model of sheltered housing which has emerged in recent 
years in response to a growing older population whose life expectancy is increasing 

68



24 
 

and whose needs are becoming more complex, and can provide suitable 
accommodation for three main groups: 

· People that have no care needs but have moved because they anticipate this 
might not be the case in the future and/or want to benefit from the general 
support offered by the scheme 

· People that currently have low care needs, but with a recognition that these 
needs may grow in the future  

· People with high or complex care needs, which can be met by the enhanced 
facilities of an Extra Care scheme as an alternative to full residential care, 
giving them greater independence. 

Extra Care schemes comprise of self-contained one or two bedroomed units. 
Schemes may be for rent only, but increasingly offer a range of tenures including 
rent, shared ownership and leasehold sale. Schemes have flexible levels of on-site 
care and support services that are directed according to the personal needs of each 
individual resident. Residents also have access to communal facilities such as a 
lounge, TV room, hobby room and/or gardens. Larger schemes may also have 
hairdressers, a convenience store, activity room, shops, a library, restaurants and 
gyms on site. These facilities may be also shared with the local community, which 
helps to combat isolation and segregation for less mobile residents. There is onsite 
around the clock care and support, as well as the ability to provide meals. 

If there is genuine separation between the care and the accommodation, the care 
received is regulated by CQC, but the accommodation is not.  

Specialist Housing models for people with dementia - Some housing schemes 
additionally or exclusively are designed to be suitable for and to support people with 
a diagnosis of dementia.  Models include: specially designed wings in extra care 
schemes; group living schemes with units of 5-8 flats or en-suite rooms, grouped 
together (perhaps around an enclosed courtyard) to achieve economies of scale; 
and bungalows and apartments for couples linked to one of the above or to a care 
home for people with dementia.  Examples of the additional features over and above 
extra care housing, which the Council will expect to meet the needs of people with 
dementia include for example:  

· Safe controlled internal and external areas, which actively support and 
promote recollection and aid independent movement whilst minimising risk of 
wandering. 

· Telecare, including devices to monitor heat, movement and access in/out.  

If there is genuine separation between the care and the accommodation, the care 
received is regulated by CQC, but the accommodation is not.  However if the care is 
provided ‘together with’ the accommodation (as a condition of occupancy) then both 
need to be regulated. 

Supported living - people remain within their own (existing) home and receive care 
and/or support in order to promote their independence. The support package is 
tailored to their individual needs. It aims to enable the person to be as autonomous 
and independent as possible, allowing them to remain active in their community. 

69



25 
 

Other than by adaptation, the property is not usually purpose built for the needs of 
older persons. 

 

3: General Needs – there is no registration of these properties with the CQC 

Retirement Village / Retirement Community – mostly used to describe private 
sector schemes, offering a range of housing types and tenures, with access to 
communal facilities, the level of available care and support varying between 
schemes. Some villages are very much housing focused. Others include housing 
with care/extra care type provision (see section 2 above), or care home/care home 
with nursing (see section 1 above) in addition to the housing provision.  

Sheltered/Retirement Housing – gives older people a housing choice whereby they 
retain the independence of having their own self-contained accommodation, set 
within a controlled environment, with the security of having an alarm system and/or a 
scheme manager (formerly known as wardens). However on-site support is not 
available 24/7, and therefore they fall short of the level of provision found in Extra 
Care schemes. Schemes will usually have some communal facilities such as a 
lounge for residents to meet, a laundry and a garden. Schemes may be for rent, 
shared ownership or leasehold sale. Most sheltered accommodation can be 
classified as general needs housing as other than an age restriction on occupation, 
schemes tend not to feature a significant degree of older person specific adaptation. 

Virtual Extra Care - a flexible model where in home care and community support is 
offered on a wider geographical basis. Access to Telecare is an important 
component in delivering this service, as is a hub arrangement (often in the form of a 
physical extra care scheme within the neighbourhood) from which carers can be 
called upon to give a 24/7 outreach cover. This is a more structured model than 
supported living and is intended to provide a network of support in a defined area 
through outreach, as opposed to the sporadic one off nature of supported living. 

Lifetime Homes Standards: these are standards to make a property a home for life 
for a wide range of people including people with disabilities or older people. The 
standards (or features), commonly known as ‘Lifetime Homes Standards’, include flat 
thresholds, wider doorways, downstairs toilet (which has space to be adapted to take 
a low threshold shower), and stairway suitable to be able to take a stairlift. Some 
developers are also developing 2/3 bedroom house types specifically aimed at the 
older population, often with larger room sizes than family housing to encourage older 
households to downsize. 

Bungalows: bungalows are single storey general needs housing which are 
designed to incorporate ‘Lifetime Homes’ features and whose purpose is designed to 
be suitable for older households. 

Cottages: a variant on the bungalow, these are cottages with at least one bedroom 
and bathroom downstairs (and with a second, and possibly third bedroom upstairs). 
As with bungalows these are purpose designed to Lifetime Homes standards and to 
be suitable for older households.  

 

  

70



26 
 

Social Care Glossary  

Note: This glossary does not seek to provide an exhaustive or definitively 
authoritative list of all the social care related terms, but is intended to highlight those 
most related to housing and older persons. 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) - is the independent regulator of health and social 
care services in England, charged with ensuring that essential standards of quality 
and safety are achieved within care homes and services provided in people’s own 
homes, and elsewhere such as hospitals, dentists and transport services, whether 
they are provided by the NHS, local authorities, private companies or voluntary 
organisations. The functions they control are known as ‘regulated activities’ and 
providers of those activities need to be registered with the CQC. 

Domiciliary Care – Is a regulated activity and covers services providing personal 
care for people living in their own homes. The needs of people using the services 
may vary greatly, but packages of care are designed to meet individual 
circumstances. The person is visited at various times of the day or, in some cases, 
care is provided over a full 24-hour period. Where care is provided intermittently 
throughout the day, the person lives independently, i.e. without continuous support 
or care between the visits. 

Provider - There are several legal terms relating to the providers of services, such 
as Registered Person, Service Provider and Registered Manager. However in simple 
terms “provider” means anyone with a legal responsibility for ensuring the 
requirements of the law are met. 

 

Regulated Activities – There are a number of regulated actives but for the purpose 
of this the two key ones relating to Older Persons housing are the provision of:  

· Accommodation for persons who require nursing and/or personal care  
· Personal care 

Full details can be found on CQC website  www.cqc.org.uk   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

71



27 
 

General Glossary  

Note: This general glossary does not seek to provide an exhaustive or definitively 
authoritative list of all the housing related terms, but tries to cover those most 
frequently used by the Council.  

Affordability – A measurement of the overall costs, weighted to take into account 
lower quartile median local house prices and lower quartile median wages, needed 
to secure appropriate housing, whether through rent or purchase. The accepted 
benchmark to be considered as affordable is that the gross household income spent 
on housing should not exceed 33%. 

Affordable Housing – The Council’s published guidance states that affordable 
housing is provided at below market prices and allocated on the basis of need to 
people who live or work in Herefordshire or need to move to Herefordshire to 
receive/provide support, and who are unable to purchase or rent houses generally 
available on the open market without financial assistance, as their only home.  It can 
be provided on Social Rented, Affordable Rented and Intermediate tenures.  
Affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable price for 
future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable 
housing provision. 

Affordable Rented – has the same characteristics as Social Rented Housing, it is 
usually owned and managed by a Registered Provider, but is outside the National 
Rent Regime, and is subject to other rent controls that require it to be offered to 
eligible households at a rent of up to 80% of local market rents (including service 
charges, where applicable). 

Ancillary dwellings (aka ‘granny annexes’) - are a sub-set of General Needs 
Housing, and usually take the form of self-contained units which are associated 
though either physical attachment or proximity to the principal residential unit.  The 
limitation being that their occupants normally share a relationship with the main 
household. This type of accommodation can be particularly useful in allowing multi- 
generations of and/or extended family to live independently but in sufficiently close 
proximity to offer mutual care and support. Any residential unit let on a tenancy is not 
viewed as an ancillary dwelling. 

Best consideration - This is usually thought of as the maximum amount of cash that 
can be realised by selling land or property.  However, that consideration can also be 
the achievement of policy objectives, such as the delivery of affordable housing. 

Best Value - A duty on local authorities to review the services they provide for local 
people and improve them by the best means available ensuring service quality and 
cost-effectiveness. This must be done in consultation with people who use the 
services and the wider community.  

Choice Based Lettings – An allocation mechanism designed to give tenants (or 
prospective tenants) a degree of involvement in the choices made about where they 
might live. Eligible households are able to bid for specific properties that match their 
assessed needs. 

Code for Sustainable Homes – The Code is a national standard against which the 
design and construction of new homes can be measured in terms of their 
environmental impact.  The code is broken down into 6 levels, and affordable 

72



28 
 

housing schemes, which require Government subsidy via the HCA, must meet at 
least Code 3. 

Co-housing – is a way of living, which brings individuals and families together in 
groups that share common aims while also enjoying their own self-contained 
accommodation and personal space. Despite international examples, to date there 
are no known older persons co-housing communities in the UK, however this can be 
expected to change over time. 

Concealed Households - A concealed household (or emerging household) is 
anyone currently living within another household but wanting to move to their own 
accommodation and form a separate household, for example adult children living 
with their parents. 

COntinuous REcording of lettings (CORE) - is a national information source 
funded by the Department for Communities and Local Government that records 
information about new lets and sales of affordable housing; it also records other data 
such as housing costs, affordability and household characteristics. 

Cross subsidy - Profits from one part of a scheme (e.g. housing for market value 
sale) used to meet costs on another part (e.g. affordable housing). 

Decanting - In certain cases, e.g. major adaptations such as extensions, it might be 
considered necessary for the tenant to be moved to temporary accommodation such 
as another dwelling, mobile home or caravan for the duration of the work. 

Decants – properties held intentionally vacant, in order that they can be used to 
accommodate existing tenants, whose current properties are due for improvement, 
repair or other work. 

Decent Homes Standard - A national standard set to ensure social housing is fit, 
has modern facilities, and is structurally sound and energy efficient.  

Design and Quality Standards - means the requirements and recommendations for 
all new homes as defined by the Homes and Communities Agency ‘design and 
quality standards April 2007’. 

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFGs) - are available for work that is needed to help a 
disabled person live more independently in their own home. DFGs are available to 
owners and tenants. 

Dwelling – Since the 2001 census a dwelling is defined as a self-contained unit of 
accommodation. To be self-contained all the rooms used by the household 
(specifically core facilities such a kitchen and bathroom) are behind a locked door 
beyond which only that household have free access. A dwelling can consist of one 
household space (self-contained) or more than one household space (shared).  

Economic Appraisal - This is a key tool for achieving value for money (VFM) and 
satisfying public accountability requirements. 

Evidence Base – a body of research and information that assists in the identification 
of issues and options, supports and informs the drafting and justification of policies 
and helps to facilitate the monitoring of implementation. The evidence base has to be 
updated periodically in order to remain effective. 

73



29 
 

Freehold – any land and/or building which is owned outright, whether or not there is 
a mortgage. 

General Needs Housing – A general description, which covers any housing suitable 
for occupation by families, couples, and single people, including shared occupation. 
In most cases these properties can be adapted to suit the changing needs of their 
occupiers to allow them to remain independent, but older stock will be limited for 
example by door widths etc.  General needs housing is provided by both the market 
and as affordable housing.  

Herefordshire Allocations Policy – this is the Council’s Policy for the allocation of 
Affordable Housing in its administrative area, which under the Housing Act 1996 as 
amended by the Homelessness Act 2002 and the Localism Act 2011, the Council 
has a duty to provide. 

Herefordshire Local Housing Allowance - means the arrangements in effect now 
or at any time in the future to calculate housing benefit for people who rent from a 
private landlord 

Help to Buy - A government-backed equity loan scheme available to first time 
buyers and home movers.  The purchaser has to provide a 5% deposit; the 
government and house builder provide a 20% equity loan, which must be repaid 
when the house is sold; the purchaser obtains a mortgage of 75% of the purchase 
price.  This scheme aims to overcome mortgage lenders’ reluctance to lend when 
there is a loan to value ratio of greater than 75-80%. 

Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) – is the Government’s national housing 
and regeneration delivery agency for England. They provide investment to help 
deliver affordable housing and improve existing social housing, and they are the 
regulator of social housing providers in England. 

HomeBuy -A government scheme to promote affordable home ownership through a 
suite of low cost home ownership options aimed at helping tenants in social housing 
and others in priority need to purchase their own home.   

Home Improvement Agency (HIA) - provides support to occupiers to enable them 
to remain independent in their chosen home for the foreseeable future. Assistance 
may include instructing and supervising builders and providing advice on finding 
appropriate finance.  

Homelessness - This covers a wide range of circumstances from being 'roofless' to 
being without a home of your own; many 'homeless' people are living with families or 
friends in temporary or inappropriate accommodation. 

Home Point – is the agency, who on behalf of the Council, holds the common 
housing register and operates a Choice Based Lettings system, through which 
Affordable Housing in the County is advertised. 

Household - A household comprises one person living alone, or a group of people 
(not necessarily related) living communally at the same address as their only or main 
place of residence. 

House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) - is any housing which is occupied by more 
than one household who share (or lack self-contained) kitchen, bathroom or toilet 
facilities. If these facilities are for exclusive use but they are not self-contained within 

74



30 
 

the living accommodation, the property will still count as an HMO. A full definition can 
be found in the Housing Act 2004 (sections 254 to 259). 

Housing - a general term which encompasses any building or part(s) of a building, 
constructed or adapted for human habitation, the form of which may take any 
number of configurations and design. Common names include bedsit(s), 
bungalow(s), flat(s), house(s), maisonettes or semi-detached (semi’s), and includes 
caravans/mobile homes and boats where they are used as a main place of 
residence. For the avoidance of doubt when the term ‘Housing’ is used by the 
Council, it means reference to any self-contained dwelling, over which the 
tenant/owner has legal right of occupation 

Housing Associations  (see also Registered Providers) - are independent 
societies, bodies of trustees or companies established for the purpose of providing 
low-cost social housing for people in housing need on a non-profit-making basis, but 
where surpluses are reinvested by the organisation to maintain existing homes and 
to help finance new ones. 

Housing Market Area (HMA) – Geographical expression referring to an area where 
common housing market conditions exist. Herefordshire Council has identified seven 
local housing market areas (HMAs) within the County, which are focused on the 
main settlements of Hereford City, Bromyard, Kington, Ledbury, Leominster and 
Ross on Wye along with the Golden Valley area.  

Housing Needs Survey - This provides data on housing need within the County, 
and on a parish-by-parish basis demonstrates the level of affordable housing 
required by our local communities. 

Intermediate Housing - is an umbrella term for a range of housing options available 
to help households on low to moderate incomes, and covers property for purchase 
and rent provided at a cost above social rent, but below market levels subject to the 
criteria in the Affordable Housing definition above. These can include homes for 
Shared Ownership, Low Cost Market and Intermediate Rental, but not affordable 
rented housing. 

Intermediate Housing Markets - describes demand from households who have an 
income, but would struggle to afford to either rent or buy on the open market, but are 
ineligible for the allocation of affordable housing. 

Intermediate Rental - Homes for rent provided at a cost above social rent, but 
below market levels. In Herefordshire, Intermediate Rents are set at 80% of the local 
housing allowance. 

Leasehold  - is a form of ownership; outright or with mortgage, which whilst giving a 
lawful right to occupy land or a building for a given length of time(often measured in 
decades or centuries) does not grant ownership of the freehold. Until the end of the 
lease period, the leaseholder has the right to remain in occupation, and they can sell 
their leasehold interest on the open market. In housing, this generally applies to flats 
or other forms of construction where there are common areas and facilities. The 
freeholder retains the responsibility for maintaining these common areas and 
services, the financial costs of which can be transferred to leaseholders in line with 
the terms of the original lease. 

75



31 
 

Lease - is a contract granting use or occupation of a property during a set period in 
exchange for a set rent. 

License - license is a basic agreement giving someone permission to occupy a 
property, and does not afford the same security of tenure as a Tenancy. 

Lifetime Homes Standard –  is based on ‘Designing Lifetime Homes’ produced by 
the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, which is intended to ensure that any home is 
flexible, adaptable and accessible in response to the changing needs of occupants of 
housing throughout their lives 

Local Housing Allowance (LHA) - is a flat rate allowance paid to households who 
are eligible for housing benefit, but who rent from a private landlords. The LHA is a 
flat rate allowance based on the size of the household, their ages and the area in 
which they live. Herefordshire Council use the rent levels set but LHA as 
benchmarks asses the affordability of Intermediate Rental schemes. 

Low Cost Market: Housing sold at a price lower than the open market value to 
eligible households in housing need who could not otherwise afford to purchase, as 
determined within the Technical Data supporting the Planning Obligations SPD 
(2008). 

Local Investment Plan (LIP) – provides a strategic framework within which the 
organisations will work and invest together alongside key partners in the public and 
private sectors to deliver the key priorities in meeting the vision for Herefordshire for 
regeneration including transport, health, housing and education. The Herefordshire 
LIP has been developed in partnership with the Homes and Communities Agency. 

LSOA (Lower Layer Super Output Area) – An ONS term given to a small area 
which is used for statistical analysis. LSOAs are made up of about 1,500 people, and 
there are 116 in Herefordshire. They nest into Herefordshire's current wards, and 
usually follow civil parish boundaries   

Market Housing - (also known as open market, the market) – any housing to 
which the definition of affordable housing does not apply, of whatever tenure. 

Market Rent – any housing rented at the going local rate, the upper limit of which is 
controlled only by what the local market forces will stand. There is no restriction on 
allocation except on a household's ability to pay rent. 

Market Value - A formal valuation method set out in the RICS Red Book. 

Mixed Tenure – describes schemes where there is a range of housing which is 
rented, part-owned, or purchased on leasehold. 

Mortgagee in Possession – A clause which enables a Lender to sell a property 
without regard to local connection and or income restrictions should they need to 
repossess it. 

National Planning Policy Framework - March 2012 (NPPF) – The government’s 
condensed revision of almost all the previous existing government planning guidance 
in a single new guidance document. As far as housing is concerned, the key content 
of Planning Policy Statement 3 (PPS3) has been replicated in the NPPF. 

76



32 
 

National Rent Regime - generates “target rents”, with reference to local house 
prices and local earnings. The objective is for those target rents to be affordable for 
people in low paid employment or dependent entirely on state benefits.   

New Homes Bonus – A cash incentive paid by central government to local planning 
authorities comprising matched funding of council tax raised on each new home for a 
six year period (based on national averages of council tax bands). 

Nomination Rights - The ability of a local authority to nominate a household to be 
granted a tenancy. 

ONS – The Office for National Statistics 

Owner occupation – refers to any housing, occupied by the person(s) named on 
the freehold or leasehold, whether or not their interest is being bought with the aid of 
a mortgage  

Planning Obligations – See Section 106 Agreement  

Planning Policy Statement 3 (PPS3:Housing) - This document underpinned the 
delivery of the Government's strategic housing policy objectives and aimed to 
“ensure that everyone has the opportunity to live in a decent home, which they can 
afford in a community where they want to live”.  This document was superseded by 
the NPPF in March 2012, but is still a useful reference. 

Private Housing (see also market housing) is used to describe both owner-
occupied dwellings and those privately rented, including properties where occupation 
is tied to the occupier’s employment.  

Private Rented Sector (PRS) – describes any housing, which is privately owned 
(not by a Registered Provider) and rented out, usually for profit. The PRS covers all 
forms of accommodation and varies in quantity and quality from place to place. The 
tenant will receive a tenancy agreement usually in the form of a 6 month assured 
shorthold tenancy. 

Procurement - Public procurement is the process of the acquisition, usually by 
means of a contractual arrangement after public competition, of goods, services, 
works and other supplies by the public service. 

Registered Providers - are government-funded not-for-profit organisations that 
provide affordable housing and are registered with the Homes and Communities 
Agency- the regulator. They include housing associations, trusts and co-operatives. 
They work with local authorities to provide homes for people meeting the affordable 
homes criteria. As well as developing land and building homes, they undertake a 
landlord function by maintaining properties and collecting rent. There are two types 
of RP’s: 

· Private Registered Provider - non-local authority organisation that provides 
affordable housing  

· Public Registered Provider - A local authority that provides affordable 
housing 

77



33 
 

The differentiation between public and private relates to the fact that borrowing by 
local authorities counts as public sector borrowing, whereas that by Private 
Registered Providers does not.  

Registered Social Landlord (RSL) - see Registered Provider. 

Rural Exception Sites – Small sites, usually adjacent to rural settlements, on which 
open market housing development would not be permitted, that are developed solely 
for affordable housing. Development is subject to the support of the local parish or 
town council and with the active involvement of a Registered Provider. 

Section 106 Agreement – A legal agreement made under Section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990.  Such agreements represent a charge on the land 
for which planning permission is granted, which imposes obligations on both the 
current and any future owners of that land, and addresses matters that could not be 
dealt with through conditions on a planning permission. They are used amongst 
other things to control delivery of affordable housing. They are also referred to as 
Planning Obligations. 

Self-Contained Accommodation - Any housing designed to allow a household 
exclusive use of bathroom and kitchen facilities in addition to living space. Some 
self-contained units, especially flats, may benefit from common services such as a 
central boiler for heating and/or hot water. It may be difficult, in some sheltered or 
supported housing, to draw the line between self-contained and communal 
accommodation. In these circumstances, it is necessary to take a view on the 
primary purpose behind the design. For example, if only rudimentary cooking 
facilities such as a hotplate are provided – on the assumption that residents’ meals 
will be prepared elsewhere – then this is probably a non-self-contained bed space 
rather than a self-contained unit.   

Service charge - Charges made to tenants or leaseholders, over and above their 
rent, to cover the cost of services associated with occupancy of their dwelling, for 
example, caretaking, cleaning, repairs and maintenance of communal areas. They 
can also cover concierge services, which in the case of older peoples housing takes 
the form of a Scheme Manger (formerly known as the Warden).  

Shared Housing - Residential accommodation, other than self-contained 
accommodation, where there is a degree of sharing between individual tenants of 
some facilities e.g. kitchen, bathroom, living room. 

Shared Ownership - Is a form of affordable housing which assist people into 
ownership where they cannot afford to buy outright on the open market, through part 
owning (up to 80% equity) with rent being paid to a Registered Provider for the 
remaining share.  Shared ownership properties are held on a leasehold, but they can 
be resold. The discount is secured by a second charge (i.e. ranking after the 
mortgage lender’s security) see also Mortgagee in Possession.   

Social Housing – see Affordable Housing. 

Social Rented – any affordable housing rented from a Registered Provider for which 
guideline target rents are determined in accordance with the National Rent Regime. 

Staircasing - In the context of shared ownership, an option that is sometimes 
available to the lessees, which allows them to increase their overall stake of 

78



34 
 

ownership by purchasing additional equity from the Registered Provider, up to and 
including the balance, given them the freehold. 

Supported Housing – Housing, usually occupied by a defined group, where varying 
degrees of support may be provided over and above that which would normally be 
provided in general needs housing.   

Temporary Accommodation – Self-contained accommodation leased by the 
Council and provided for use by priority homeless applicants, as defined by 
legislation, on a temporary basis under licence or non-secure tenancy, until suitable 
alternative accommodation is secured. Leased by the Council from both Registered 
Providers and the open market. 

Tenancy agreement - A tenancy agreement is a verbal or written contract entered 
into between a landlord and tenant. The tenant and the landlord both have rights and 
obligations for the duration of the tenancy. 

Tenant - A tenant is a person who has the right to occupy land, building or property 
rented from the landlord, subject to the terms and conditions of a Tenancy 
agreement.  

Windfall Site – A site not previously allocated for development or identified as part 
of the housing land supply for the area on which planning permission for an 
otherwise acceptable residential development may be acceptable for approval by the 
LPA. 

 

  

79



35 
 

Appendix 3: Older Person’s Housing Strategy Pathway - Needs and 
demand for additional older people’s housing for each of the 7 local 
Herefordshire HMAs 

 

1. Introduction 

This Appendix provides guidance for social and private housing and care developers 
around the types and volumes of general needs and specialist housing for older 
people needed in each of the 7 local HMAs in Herefordshire. 

It provides more local data for each of the 7 HMAs in Herefordshire, and takes 
account of the geographical differences between the local HMAs in order to provide 
a more local interpretation of future need and demand. 

The need and demand figures are set within the overall context of the Herefordshire 
Older People’s Housing Strategy and Pathway, which has highlighted: 

· The projected high growth in the older population between 2014 and 2030 
across the county – by an average of 41% for people aged 65+, 64.5% for 
people aged 75+, and 90% for people aged 85+. By contrast the 50-64 age 
group is only expected to grow by 1.5% during the same period. Population 
projections are not available at local HMA level.  

· The Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) has identified the need for 
16,500 new homes in the county by 2031, and that the growing population of 
retirement age households is a particular feature of Herefordshire where there 
is a strong retirement market. 

· Older households will make up a substantial proportion of projected 
household growth over the next 20 years. 

· Findings from the major 2011 survey of Households aged 50+ in 
Herefordshire, which identified that 12% of older households intend to move 
over the next 5 years and a further 15% are not sure of their moving intentions 
and might wish to move. 

· Of the people who might want to move: 
- Most want to move locally, 45% find their property difficult to manage and 

need a smaller home, and 43% want a smaller garden. 
- 79% were able to purchase a home either outright or with a mortgage; 

though after the age of 80 the proportion of older households wishing to 
purchase reduces to 50%. 

- The dwelling types that older people want vary with age with over half the 
people aged 50-64 wanting a house, declining to 5% for people aged 80+; 
41% of people aged 50-64 wanting a bungalow, with the proportion 
increasing to 58% for people aged 65+; and only 7% of people aged 50-
64 wanting an apartment, rising to 13.5% for people aged 65-79 and 37% 
for people aged 80+ ( of whom 31% want a ground floor apartment). 

- The proportion of people wanting a three bedroom property reduces 
substantially as people get older, from 45% for people aged 50-64 to only 
7% for people aged 80+. Most older (aged 65+) households want a two 

80



36 
 

bedroom property, and even for households aged 80+ only 24% want a 
one bedroom property.  

Further background data on the 7 HMAs, and the county wide gap analysis of 
current supply against future demand is provided in the January 2015 updated data 
report, which takes account of the 2011 census findings, and which builds on the 
Study of the Housing and Support Needs of Older People in Herefordshire (Peter 
Fletcher Associates and Arc4 2012). 

The future need and demand figures for the number of specialist housing units: 

· Are net of current supply. 
· Do not include retirement housing for rent as there is currently adequate or 

over supply in the county. 
· Do not include accessible general needs housing for older people. However, 

given the rural nature of much of the county and the wish of most older 
households to move locally, what is identified as need for retirement housing 
for sale can also include (see text below for each of the 7 HMAs) accessible 
lifetime housing, or bungalows and cottages that are purpose designed to be 
suitable for older households as well, as traditional retirement housing 
schemes. 

 

A map showing the seven housing market areas in Herefordshire is provided in 
Figure 1 below: 

The seven housing market areas are: 

1. Bromyard 

2. Golden Valley 

3. Hereford  

4. Kington 

5. Ledbury 

6. Leominster 

7. Ross-on-Wye 

  

81



37 
 

Figure 1: Wards within each Housing Market Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Herefordshire Local Housing Market Assessment: 2012 Update, November 2013 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

82



38 
 

2. Analysis by the 7 local HMAs 

2.1  Golden Valley Housing Market area summary 

Housing Market 
Area 

Summary 

 

Golden Valley · 1,478 people aged 65+ in 2011.  
· 24.3% of the total population is aged 65+ (nearly the 

highest in the county), 2.9% is aged 85+. 
· An estimated 95 people aged 65+ have dementia in Golden 

Valley, the lowest amongst HMAs due to smaller population 
size. 

· 7.7% of the total population are limited ‘a lot’ by a long-term 
illness or disability. 11.2% are limited ‘a little’. 

· A high proportion of pensioner households (81.3%) are 
owner-occupiers, whilst only 7.9% live in social-rented 
accommodation. 7.8% are living in private rented 
accommodation and 2.8% are living rent-free. 

· Overall average (median) property prices (Jan 2013 – June 
2014) were £243,000, the highest amongst the HMAs. 
Detached properties sold for an average of £275,500 whilst 
semi-detached homes sold for £199,000, and terraced 
houses for £147,000. Only 1 flat was sold over the period, 
for £122,000. 

· Golden Valley does not contain any LSOAs that fall into the 
25% most deprived in England for income deprivation 
amongst the 60+ population or barriers to housing. 

· Five of the ten LSOAs in the area are amongst the 25% 
most deprived in Herefordshire with respect to the 
geographical barriers to services (all ten are in the most 
deprived nationally). ‘Black Mountains’ and ‘Arthur's Stone’ 
are ranked 1st and 4th most deprived in Herefordshire in 
this respect (www.herefordshire.gov.uk) 

 

Nature of the area and implications for future housing provision suitable for 
older people 

Golden Valley is a very rural part of Herefordshire, which borders Wales to the south, 
the Kington HMA to the north and Hereford and Ross-on-Wye HMAs to the east. It 
has no market town as a centre of population, and the population is dispersed across 
the larger and smaller villages and hamlets. The LHMA states that the attractiveness 
of the area helps drive retirement moves.  

Golden Valley has a high level of home ownership amongst pensioner households 
(81.3%), and the highest overall average (median) property price amongst HMAs at 
£243,000.   

83



39 
 

It is the smallest of the seven HMAs and houses under 4% of the older population in 
the county. In terms of future housing supply the rural nature of Golden Valley 
means that it is unlikely to be able to support large scale older people’s schemes 
with communal facilities such as large scale retirement or extra care type housing. 

It will be much more suited to developments of: 

· Small scale developments of lifetime homes standard two bedroom 
bungalows and/or cottages (one bedroom and bathroom downstairs and a 
second bedroom and bathroom upstairs), either grouped together in small 
estates (5-20 units) as older people’s housing, or interspersed into general 
needs estates with family housing 

· The same types of bungalow or cottage type housing in the grounds of care 
homes which have spare land – close care housing 

· Accessible 2-3 bedroom lifetime homes standards general needs housing, 
which will be suitable for older people as they age, or for families of all ages 
and which might include a disabled person or child living in the households 

 

Golden Valley has a high level of home ownership amongst pensioner households 
and the main need is housing for sale. 

 

How much new specialist housing is needed 

By 2020:  

· 106 units of retirement housing for sale 
· 18 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 40 units of extra care housing/close care units, mainly for sale 
· 5 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

By 2030 an additional: 

· 39 units of retirement housing for sale 
· 7 units of enhanced retirement housing for sale 
· 15 units of extra care/close care units, mainly for sale 
· 2 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

 

  

84



40 
 

2.2  Bromyard Housing Market area summary 

Housing Market 
Area 

Summary 

 

Bromyard · 2,780 people aged 65+ in 2011. 
· Has one of the highest proportions (24.4%) of the total 

population aged 65+, with 3.2% aged 85+. 
· An estimated 182 people aged 65+ have dementia in 

Bromyard, one of the lowest numbers amongst HMAs. 
· 9.1% of the total population are limited ‘a lot’ by a long-term 

illness or disability, the highest level amongst HMAs. 11.2% 
of the total population are limited ‘a little’. 

· 77.8% of pensioner households are owner-occupiers, 
whereas 12.8% live in social-rented accommodation. 6.7% 
live in private rented accommodation and 2.2% are living 
rent-free. 

· Overall average (median) property prices (Jan 2013 – June 
2014) were £210,000, one of the highest amongst the 
HMAs. Detached properties sold for an average of 
£265,000 whilst semis sold for £168,500, terraced houses 
for £147,750 and flats for £85,000. 

· Bromyard contains 1 LSOA that is amongst the 25% most 
deprived in England for income deprivation amongst the 
60+ population. No areas of Bromyard rural are particularly 
deprived in a national context except in terms of 
geographical barriers to services and the indoor living 
environment. 

 

Nature of the area and implications for future housing provision suitable for 
older people 

The Bromyard HMA borders the Hereford HMA to the west, the Leominster HMA to 
the north, Ledbury HMA to the south and Worcestershire to the east. Bromyard is the 
local market town and centre of population (c.4500 people). It is the third smallest 
HMA and has less than 7% of the older population in the county. The LHMA states 
that the retirement market is not as strong as Ledbury or Ross-on-Wye. 

Bromyard has a high level of home ownership amongst pensioner households 
(77.8%), and an overall average property price of £210,000.   

In terms of future housing supply the rural nature of much of Bromyard means that it 
is unlikely to be able to support many large scale older people’s schemes with 
communal facilities such as retirement or extra care type housing. 

It will be much more suited to developments of: 

· Small scale developments of lifetime homes standard two bedroom 
bungalows and/or cottages (one bedroom and bathroom downstairs and a 

85



41 
 

second bedroom and bathroom upstairs), either grouped together in small 
estates (5-20 units) as older people’s housing, or interspersed into general 
needs estates with family housing 

· The same types of bungalow or cottage type housing in the grounds of care 
homes which have spare land – close care housing 

· Accessible 2-3 bedroom lifetime homes standards general needs housing, 
which will be suitable for older people as they age, or for families of all ages 
and which might include a disabled person or child living in the households 

The main need is housing for sale.  

 

How much new specialist housing is needed 

By 2020:  

· 195 units of retirement housing for sale 
· 32 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 73 units of extra care housing/close care units, mainly for sale  
· 10 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

By 2030 an additional: 

· 73 units of retirement housing for sale 
· 12 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 28 units of extra care/close care units, mainly for sale 
· 3 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

 

 

 

 

  

86



42 
 

2.3  Hereford Housing Market area summary 

Housing Market 
Area 

Summary 

 

Hereford  · 15,094 people aged 65+ in 2011. 
· 18% of total population aged 65+ and 2.4% aged 85+ - both 

the lowest proportion amongst the HMAs. 
· An estimated 1,022 people aged 65+ have dementia in 

Hereford City – by far the highest due to the far greater 
population numbers in this HMA. 

· 8.4% of the total population are limited ‘a lot’ by a long-term 
illness or disability. 9.8% are limited ‘a little’, the lowest 
amongst HMAs. 

· 77% of pensioner households are owner-occupiers, one of 
the lowest rates amongst HMAs. 16% live in social-rented 
accommodation, the highest rate in the county. 4.4% of 
pensioner households are living in private rented 
accommodation whilst 2.2% live rent-free. 

· Overall average (median) property prices (Jan 2013 – June 
2014) were £168,000, the lowest amongst HMAs. Detached 
properties sold for an average of £240,000 whilst semi-
detached properties sold for £168,000, terraced properties 
for £138,000 and flats for £90,500. 

· South Hereford contains 6 LSOAs that are amongst the 
25% most deprived in England for income deprivation 
affecting those aged 60+. North Hereford contains 1 LSOA. 

· 4 LSOAs in North Hereford are amongst the 25% most 
deprived in England for barriers to housing, whilst there are 
2 LSOAs in South Hereford. 

· The entire Hereford Rural sub-locality area falls within the 
25% most deprived nationally in terms of geographical 
barriers to services, although only ‘Hopsvalley’, ‘The Slip’, 
‘Rotherwas / Holme Lacy area’ and ‘Burghill’ LSOAs are 
deprived in the local context. 

 

Nature of the area and implications for future housing provision suitable for 
older people 

The Hereford HMA is in the centre of the county and is surrounded by all the other 6 
HMAs. It is by far the largest HMA and houses around 40% of the older population in 
the county, although it has the lowest proportion of people aged 65 and over. 

It has one of the lowest levels of home ownership amongst pensioner households 
(77%), and the lowest average property prices of all the seven HMAs at £168,000.   

In terms of future housing supply, the urban nature of Hereford city means that this 
HMA will be able to support more larger scale older people’s schemes with 
communal facilities such as retirement or extra care type housing.  

87



43 
 

As with the other HMAs it will also be suited to developments of: 

· Small scale developments of lifetime homes standard two bedroom 
bungalows and/or cottages (one bedroom and bathroom downstairs and a 
second bedroom and bathroom upstairs), either grouped together in small 
estates (5-20 units) as older people’s housing, or interspersed into general 
needs estates with family housing 

· The same types of bungalow or cottage type housing in the grounds of care 
homes which have spare land – close care housing 

· Accessible 2-3 bedroom lifetime homes standards general needs housing, 
which will be suitable for older people as they age, or for families of all ages 
and which might include a disabled person or child living in the households 

The main need is a mixture of housing for sale and to rent. A proportion of housing 
for sale will need to be affordable shared ownership to meet the needs of older 
households with lower equity value homes who wish to continue owning their own 
homes. 

 

How much new specialist housing is needed 

By 2020:  

· 957 units of retirement housing for sale 
· 188 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 331 units of extra care housing/close care units, mainly for sale 
· 26 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

By 2030 an additional: 

· 420 units of retirement housing for sale  
· 69 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 160 units of extra care/close care units, mainly for sale 
· 21 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

  

88



44 
 

2.4  Kington Housing Market area summary 

Housing Market 
Area 

Summary 

 

Kington · 2,392 people aged 65+ in 2011. 
· 25.3% of the total population is aged 65+, the highest 

proportion amongst HMAs. 3.1% are aged 85+. 
· An estimated 156 people aged 65+ have dementia in 

Kington. 
· 8.3% of the total population are limited ‘a lot’ by a long-term 

illness or disability. 11.5% are limited ‘a little’ – the highest 
proportion amongst HMAs. 

· 75.5% of pensioner households are owner-occupiers, the 
lowest rate amongst HMAs, whilst 12.3% live in social-
rented accommodation. 7.8% of pensioner households are 
living in private rented accommodation and 3.6% are living 
rent-free. 

· The overall average (median) property price (Jan 2013 – 
June 2014) was £226,250, one of the highest amongst the 
HMAs. Detached properties sold for an average of 
£285,000 whilst semi-detached homes sold for £162,000, 
and terraced properties for £135,000. Only 1 flat was sold 
over the period, for £92,500. 

· Kington does not contain any LSOA that fall into the 25% 
most deprived for income deprivation and barriers to 
housing. 

· Kington has relatively little deprivation in terms of 
geographical barriers to services. 

 

Nature of the area and implications for future housing provision suitable for 
older people 

The Kington HMA borders the Hereford HMA to the east, the Leominster HMA to the 
north, the Golden Valley HMA to the south and Wales to the west. Kington is the 
local market town and centre of population (c.2626 people).  

It is the second smallest HMA and has around 6% of the older population in the 
county. 

Kington has the lowest level of home ownership amongst pensioner households 
(75.5%) yet one of the highest overall average property prices (£226,250). 

In terms of future housing supply the rural nature of much of Kington means that it is 
unlikely to be able to support many large scale older people’s schemes with 
communal facilities such as retirement or extra care type housing. 

 

 

89



45 
 

It will be much more suited to developments of: 

· Small scale developments of lifetime homes standard two bedroom 
bungalows and/or cottages (one bedroom and bathroom downstairs and a 
second bedroom and bathroom upstairs), either grouped together in small 
estates (5-20 units) as older people’s housing, or interspersed into general 
needs estates with family housing 

· The same types of bungalow or cottage type housing in the grounds of care 
homes which have spare land – close care housing 

· Accessible 2-3 bedroom lifetime homes standards general needs housing, 
which will be suitable for older people as they age, or for families of all ages 
and which might include a disabled person or child living in the households 

The main need is housing for sale, of which a small proportion will need to be 
affordable shared ownership to meet the needs of older households with lower equity 
value homes who wish to continue owning their own homes 

 

How much new specialist housing is needed 

By 2020:  

· 171 units of retirement housing for sale 
· 29 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 42 units of extra care housing/close care units, mainly for sale  
· 9 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

By 2030 an additional: 

· 64 units of retirement housing for sale 
· 11 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 24 units of extra care/close care units, mainly for sale 
· 3 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

 

 

  

90



46 
 

2.5  Ledbury Housing Market area summary 

Housing Market 
Area 

Summary 

 

Ledbury · 4,542 people aged 65+ in 2011. 
· 24.3% of the total population is aged 65+ and 3.8% is aged 

85+ - the highest proportion amongst HMAs. 
· An estimated 310 people aged 65+ have dementia in 

Ledbury. 
· 7.7% of the total population is limited ‘a lot’ by a long-term 

illness or disability, 10.3% is limited ‘a little’. 
· 78.8% of pensioner households are owner-occupiers, whilst 

11.1% live in social rented accommodation. 7.4% of 
pensioner households live in private rented accommodation 
and 1.7% are living rent-free. 

· Overall average (median) property price (Jan 2013 – June 
2014) was £207,500. Detached properties sold for an 
average of £289,000 whilst semi-detached homes sold for 
£175,000, terraced properties for £162,500 and flats for 
£95,000. 

· Ledbury contains 1 LSOA that is amongst the 25% most 
deprived in England for barriers to housing. 

· The ‘Trumpet’, ‘Greater Bosbury’ ‘The Slip’ and ‘Hopsvalley’ 
LSOAs (Ledbury Rural sub-locality) are all in the 25% most 
deprived in Herefordshire in terms of geographical barriers 
to services (all areas are in the 10% most deprived 
nationally). ‘Trumpet’ and ‘Hopsvalley’ are most deprived 
(10% most deprived in the county). 

 

Nature of the area and implications for future housing provision suitable for 
older people 

The Ledbury HMA borders the Hereford HMA to the west, the Bromyard HMA to the 
north, the Ross-on-Wye HMA to the south and Worcestershire to the east. Ledbury 
is the local market town and centre of population (c.9900 people).  

It is the fourth largest HMA and nearly 12% of the older population in the county live 
in it. The LHMA states that the retirement market is a particular feature of this LHMA. 

Ledbury has a relatively high level of owner-occupation amongst pensioner 
households (78.8%) alongside mid-range overall average property prices 
(£207,500). 

In terms of future housing supply the rural nature of much of the Ledbury HMA 
means that it is unlikely to be able to support many large scale older people’s 
schemes with communal facilities such as retirement or extra care type housing. 
However, the area does have the highest proportion of people aged 85+ and this 

91



47 
 

combined with the higher rate of dementia within this age group, suggests a need for 
such accommodation in Ledbury itself. 

 

It will be also be suited to developments of: 

· Small scale developments of lifetime homes standard two bedroom 
bungalows and/or cottages (one bedroom and bathroom downstairs and a 
second bedroom and bathroom upstairs), either grouped together in small 
estates (5-20 units) as older people’s housing, or interspersed into general 
needs estates with family housing 

· The same types of bungalow or cottage type housing in the grounds of care 
homes which have spare land – close care housing 

· Accessible 2-3 bedroom lifetime homes standards general needs housing, 
which will be suitable for older people as they age, or for families of all ages 
and which might include a disabled person or child living in the households 

The main housing need is for sale, with a need for a small proportion for sale being 
affordable shared ownership to meet the needs of older households with lower equity 
value homes who wish to continue owning their own homes. 

 

How much new specialist housing is needed 

By 2020:  

· 209 units of retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 56 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, an even mix of rent and 

sale 
· 72 units of extra care housing/close care units, an even mix of rent and sale 

17 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

By 2030 an additional: 

· 125 units of retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 21 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, an even mix of rent and 

sale 
· 48 units of extra care/close care units, an even mix of rent and sale 
· 6 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

  

92



48 
 

2.6   Leominster Housing Market area summary 

Housing Market 
Area 

Summary 

 

Leominster · 5,590 people aged 65+ in 2011. 
· 23.8% of the total population is aged 65+ whilst 3.3% is 

aged 85+. 
· An estimated 373 people aged 65+ in Leominster have 

dementia. 
· 9% of the total population are limited ‘a lot’ by a long-term 

illness or disability, whilst 11.1% are limited ‘a little’. 
· 79.5% of pensioner households are owner-occupiers, a 

relatively high rate amongst HMAs. 10.1% live in social-
rented accommodation, whilst 7.5% are living in private 
rented homes and 2.4% are living rent-free. 

· Overall average (median) property price (Jan 2013 – June 
2014) was £182,500, one of the lowest amongst the HMAs. 
Detached properties sold for an average of £245,000 whilst 
semis sold for £159,500, terraced properties for £130,000 
and flats for £81,500. 

· Leominster contains 2 LSOAs that are amongst the 25% 
most deprived in England for 60+ income deprivation. 

· Within the Leominster Rural sub-locality, all but ‘Berrington’ 
are in the 25% most deprived in Herefordshire in terms of 
geographical barriers to services (all are in the 10% most 
deprived in England). ‘Greater Docklow’ and 
‘Hopebodenham’* are the most deprived being in the 10% 
most deprived in Herefordshire. 
(* Some LSOA’s comprise district areas of more than one 
Parish therefore labels may be a combination of two 
names). 

 

Nature of the area and implications for future housing provision suitable for 
older people 

The Leominster HMA borders Wales to the west, Shropshire to the north, the 
Bromyard HMA to the east and the Kington and Hereford HMAs the south. 
Leominster is the local market town and centre of population (c.11,700 people) and 
is the largest of the five market towns surrounding Hereford city.  

It is the third largest HMA and has over 14% of the older population in the county, 
but one of the lowest proportions of the older population in the county.  

Leominster has a relatively high level of home ownership amongst pensioner 
households (79.5%), but one of the lowest overall average property prices 
(£182,500).   

93



49 
 

In terms of future housing supply the rural nature of much of the Leominster HMA 
means that larger scale older people’s schemes with communal facilities such as 
retirement or extra care type housing should be located in Leominster itself. 

Outside Leominster it will be much more suited to developments of: 

· Small scale developments of lifetime homes standard two bedroom 
bungalows and/or cottages (one bedroom and bathroom downstairs and a 
second bedroom and bathroom upstairs), either grouped together in small 
estates (5-20 units) as older people’s housing, or interspersed into general 
needs estates with family housing 

·  The same types of bungalow or cottage type housing in the grounds of care 
homes which have spare land – close care housing 

· Accessible 2-3 bedroom lifetime homes standards general needs housing, 
which will be suitable for older people as they age, or for families of all ages 
and which might include a disabled person or child living in the households 

The main housing need is for sale. However, a proportion of the housing for sale will 
need to be affordable shared ownership to meet the needs of older households with 
lower equity value homes who wish to continue owning their own homes. 

 

How much new specialist housing is needed 

By 2020:  

· 322 units of retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 68 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, an even mix of rent and 

sale 
· 124 units of extra care housing/close care units, an even mix of rent and sale 

20 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

By 2030 an additional: 

· 153 units of retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 25 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, an even mix of rent and 

sale 
· 58 units of extra care/close care units, an even mix of rent and sale 
· 8 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

94



50 
 

2.7   Ross on Wye Housing Market area summary 

Housing Market 
Area 

Summary 

 

Ross on Wye · 7,140 people aged 65+ in 2011. 
· 23.4% of the total population is aged 65+, and 3.2% are 

aged 85+. 
· An estimated 469 people aged 65+ have dementia in Ross 

on Wye. 
· 8.1% of the total population are limited ‘a lot’ by a long-term 

illness or disability, 10.6% are limited ‘a little’. 
· A high proportion of pensioner households (80.8%) are 

owner-occupiers whilst 9.6% are living in social-rented 
accommodation. 6.3% are living in private rented 
accommodation and 2.7% are living rent-free. 

· The overall average (median) property price (Jan 2013 – 
June 2014) was £225,000, one of the highest amongst the 
HMAs. Detached properties sold for an average of 
£280,000 semis sold for £179,500, terraced properties for 
£145,000, and flats for £106,750. 

· Ross on Wye contains 1 LSOA that is amongst the 25% 
most deprived in England for income deprivation affecting 
people aged 60+. 

· Ross has relatively good access to services and residents 
are amongst the least likely to find it difficult to access a 
range of services. 

 

Nature of the area and implications for future housing provision suitable for 
older people 

The Ross-on-Wye HMA borders the Hereford HMA to the north, the Golden Valley 
HMA to the west, Wales to the south, the Ledbury HMA to the north-east and 
Gloucestershire to the east. Ross-on-Wye is the main market town and centre of 
population (c.10,600 people). The LHMA states that the retirement market is more 
pronounced in this area than other parts of the county and that there is good sales 
demand. 

It is the second largest HMA and nearly 18% of the older population in the county 
live in it. Ross-on-Wye has one of the highest levels of home ownership amongst 
pensioner households (80.8%), and one of the highest average property prices in the 
county (£225,000).  

In terms of future housing supply the Ross-on-Wye HMA will be able to support a 
mix of small and larger scale older people’s schemes with communal facilities such 
as sheltered or extra care type housing. 

 

95



51 
 

It will also be suited to developments of: 

· Small scale developments of lifetime homes standard two bedroom 
bungalows and/or cottages (one bedroom and bathroom downstairs and a 
second bedroom and bathroom upstairs), either grouped together in small 
estates (5-20 units) as older people’s housing, or interspersed into general 
needs estates with family housing 

· The same types of bungalow or cottage type housing in the grounds of care 
homes which have spare land – close care housing 

· Accessible 2-3 bedroom lifetime homes standards general needs housing, 
which will be suitable for older people as they age, or for families of all ages 
and which might include a disabled person or child living in the households 

The main need is housing for sale and a proportion of the housing for sale will need 
to be affordable shared ownership to meet the needs of older households with lower 
equity value homes who wish to continue owning their own homes. 

 

How much new specialist housing is needed 

By 2020:  

· 360 units of retirement housing for sale 
· 85 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 191 units of extra care housing/close care units, mainly for sale 

26 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

By 2030 an additional: 

· 190 units of retirement housing for sale  
· 31 units of enhanced sheltered/retirement housing, mainly for sale 
· 72 units of extra care/close care units, mainly for sale 
· 10 units of specialist housing for people with dementia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

96



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Joanna King – head of looked after children 4 November 2014 

 

 

MEETING: Cabinet  

MEETING DATE: 19 March 2015 

TITLE OF REPORT: Staying Put Strategy 

REPORT BY: Head of looked after children 
 

Alternative options 

1. To continue working as we are, whereby young people can remain with foster 
carers, but this would be under a supported lodging arrangement and does not 
meet the needs of young people who go into employment at 18. This option would 
result in Herefordshire Council not being compliant with objectives set out under 
the Children Act 1989 and the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000. 

Reasons for recommendations 

2. The staying put strategy meets objectives within the Children Act 1989 and the 
Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 to improve the life chances of young people in 
and leaving local authority care.   

Classification  

Open 

Key Decision  

This is not a key decision 

Wards Affected 

Countywide  

Purpose 

To approve the staying put policy and procedures. 

Recommendation(s) 

THAT: 
 
(a) the Staying Put policy and procedures at Appendix A and B are approved 

and implemented with immediate effect. 

AGENDA ITEM 6

97



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Joanna King – head of looked after children 4 November 2014 

 

Key considerations 

3. The staying put strategy will aim to build on and improve the existing arrangements 
for young people in foster care to remain with their carers after the age of 18.  
 

4. The aim is for young people to remain with their former foster carers until they 
reach 21 years of age, or for a substantial period beyond their 18th birthday. The 
council’s current criteria to be able to  remain in supported lodgings with former 
foster carers after the age of 18 requires a young person to be engaged in, or 
actively seeking to be engaged in education or training or exempt from doing so as 
a consequence of ill health. The Staying Put Strategy will help to meet the needs 
of those that do not meet these criteria e.g. those in employment.  This approach is 
conducive to the stability of the placement, and consistent with wanting the young 
person to achieve economic wellbeing by offering the young person continuity of 
support to improve their life chances. 

 
5. The Staying Put Strategy promotes the Act’s main aims, which are: 
 

•  To delay young people's discharge from care until they are ready and prepared; 

•  To improve the assessment, preparation and planning for leaving care; 
•  To provide better personal support for young people after leaving care; 

•  To improve the financial arrangements for care leavers. 
This project also fits within the Public Service Agreement 2 National Indicators 147 
and 148, which identify whether:  
•  The young person is living in suitable accommodation; 

•  The young person is in education, training or employment. 
 

6. The strategy supports the council's care leavers’ strategy and in particular gives 
young people who are in stable, supportive placements the opportunity to pursue 
education, training and employment in order to participate both socially and 
economically as citizens, without the disruption of having to move into 
'independence' during this critical period of their lives. 

7. Both the green paper "Care Matters - Transforming the Lives of Children in Care" 
and the white paper "Care Matters - Time for Change" refer to the importance for 
young people of 'entering adult life at the right time'. To remain with foster carers 
beyond 18 is identified as an area for development.  

8. Many young people who have been looked after by the local authority experience 
a compressed transition from childhood to adulthood (Professor Mike Stein - 
University of York), and the option to ‘stay put’ seeks to protract and normalise the 
young person's experience of moving into adulthood. The staying put ethos 
supports the council’s aspiration to be a good corporate parent to all young people 
to whom it has acted as a substitute family. 

9. The project also provides a framework to allow care leavers at university to return 
to their former carers during vacation time, and young people who commence 
basic training with the armed services to return to their carers during breaks, 
reflecting the ongoing support which would be available to young people living in 
supportive families. 

98



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Joanna King – head of looked after children 4 November 2014 

 

10. Staying put can also contribute to 'decreasing' the role of the personal advisors 
who work with these young people, by taking into account the relationship and 
support provided by the former foster carer to the young person, enabling the 
personal adviser to work with other care leavers who may be living independently 
with less support and in more disadvantaged circumstances. 

11. Staying put will offer carers improved training opportunities and prepare them to 
support teenagers into adulthood in a planned and individual way. The training 
offered will complement the induction standards for children's workforce training 
requirements for foster carers. The investment and commitment of foster carers is 
acknowledged through better levels of remuneration and support and increases 
the retention of foster carers who find their task rewarding and fulfilling.  

12. The staying put Strategy reflects the government’s determination to improve the 
experiences of children in care, to challenge the poor outcomes historically 
experienced and to reduce the gap between the quality of life of young people in 
the care of the local authority and those raised in supportive families. 

Community impact 

13. A means of measuring outcome achieved through families first.  The families first 
cost calculator can be used to ascertain reduction in spend as a result of young 
people remaining in care until they are 21. 

14. Reduction in young people becoming homeless. 

15. Young people are better prepared to move into independence. 

16. Young people are supported to remain in education, employment and training 
which therefore impacts on those accessing the benefits system. 

17. Retaining contact with young people via foster carers is an opportunity to link them 
with apprenticeship opportunities within the council and the concept of the ‘family 
firm’. 

18. At this time we are unable to ascertain the financial impact on partners in DWP, 
housing, health and education of the staying put strategy.  Whilst we can forecast 
the number of Herefordshire young people remaining in placement there is no duty 
for other local authorities to notify the host local authority that a young person is 
staying put?  

Equality and human rights 

19. The Public Sector Equality Duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can 
positively contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and 
demonstrates that we paying “due regard” to our decision making in the design of 
policies and in the delivery of services of which we have in proposing the Staying 
Put project. 

20. The Equality Duty 2010 has 3 aims (general duty) 

•  Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the act; 

99



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Joanna King – head of looked after children 4 November 2014 

 

•  Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not; and 

•  Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those that who do not. 

Financial implications 

21. The financial implications of the Staying Put Strategy will be that Herefordshire 
Council will be responsible for ongoing placement costs from 18- 21 years of age.   

22. The costs for 2014/15 of staying put arrangements are included within the budget, 
at £70k. For 2015-16 the full year cost of those currently in staying put 
arrangements plus the additional arrangements required will be £142k. Those 
residing in a staying put arrangement qualify for housing benefit reducing the 
staying put cost by £37k to £105k.  

Staying Put Costs
Numbers £000's Numbers £000's

Current Arrangements:
Internal 5 47 5 71
External 1 23 1 38
Total Current 6 70 6 109
Additional for 15-16 2 33
Total payments 8 142
Housing Benefit Contribution 37
Total for 2015-16 8 105

2014-15 2015-16

 

23. There are 8 staying put arrangements currently in place for 2015/16.  This is 
subject to change. The cohort of 16+ in foster placements is monitored to identify 
future requests for staying put arrangements and the associated costs. 

24. For those young people who are in employment and remaining with carers a 
£50.00 per week contribution will be made towards the placement.   

Legal implication 

25. From the age of eighteen young people are no longer legally ‘in care’ or ‘looked 
after’ and therefore fostering arrangements and legislation relating to children 
placed with foster carers no longer applies. In circumstances where a young 
person remains with their former foster carer/s after their eighteenth birthday, the 
arrangement should therefore be arranged under the Staying Put Strategy. 

26. Following a young person’s eighteenth birthday, the legal basis on which they 
occupy the property (former foster care home) changes and they become an 
‘excluded licensee’ who is effectively lodging in the “Staying Put” carer/s home. 

Risk management 

27. Financial pressure of ongoing placement provision until the age of 18. At the point 
of data being collected from each local authority, Herefordshire Council had a 

100



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Joanna King – head of looked after children 4 November 2014 

 

small number of looked after children between the age of 16 and 18 years of age 
resulting in the council only receiving £13,000 from the government to support the 
project.  We are appealing this decision.  The cost of these arrangements will have 
to come from the specialist lodgings budget which also covers supported lodging 
arrangements and young people aged 16+ in residential placements.  

28. There will a reduction in foster carer capacity.  Based on the current cohort of 
young people turning 18 in 2015/16 8 young people could choose to remain with 
their carers.  Herefordshire Council has reviewed the recruitment strategy and 
sufficiency strategy and within the care placement strategy will be looking to 
increase the number of fostering households approved each year by 14 and 
adolescent carers / Supported Lodging Providers by 4 year on year.  Because the 
young person will no longer be classed as looked after a carer can choose to still 
foster up to 3 children and the young person previously looked after will become a 
member of the fostering household and subject to safeguard checks. 

Consultees 

29. The care ambassador, 16+, fostering, Safeguarding and Family Support Senior 
Management Team, Director for Children’s Wellbeing and Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services have been consulted and their comments have been 
incorporated within the policy and procedures. 

30. Some young people have stated that the day before their 18th birthday is an 
anxious time, as they do not feel ready to move on. When parents have their own 
children the door is always open to them and staying put is an extension of the 
corporate parenting role. 

Appendices 

Appendix A Staying Put Policy. 

Appendix B Staying Put Procedure. 

Background papers 

• None identified. 

 

 
 
 

101



102



 

 

Staying Put Policy 

 

1. Introduction 

The Staying Put Project will aim to build on and improve the existing arrangements for young people 
in foster care to remain with their carers after the age of 18.  

The aim is for young people to remain with their former foster carers until they reach 21 years of age 
(or for a substantial period beyond their 18th birthday HC current criteria to remain in supported 
lodgings with former foster carers after the age of 18 required a young person to be engaged in, or 
actively seeking to be engaged in ETE, or exempt from doing so as a consequence of ill health. Young 
people Staying Put will also met this criteria. This is conducive to the stability of the placement, and 
consistent with wanting the young person to achieve economic well-being by offering the young 
person continuity of support to improve their life chances.  

2. Aims  

The key aims are: 

•Enable young people to build on and nurture their attachments to their carers, so that they can 
move to independence at their own pace and be supported to make the transition to adulthood in a 
more gradual way just like the other young people who can rely on their own families for this 
support; 

•Provide the stability and support necessary for young people to achieve in education, training and 
employment; and 

•Give weight to young people's views about the timing of moves to greater independence from their 
final care placement. 

 

3. Objectives 

The Staying Put Project meets objectives within the Children Act 1989 and the Children (Leaving 
Care) Act 2000 to improve the life chances of young people in and leaving local authority care. The 
guidance of Children (Leaving Care) Act recommends converting foster placements at 18 into 
supported lodgings. The Staying Put arrangement promotes the Acts main aims to young people, 
which are: 

•To delay young people's discharge from care until they are ready and prepared; 

•To improve the assessment, preparation and planning for leaving care; 

•To provide better personal support for young people after leaving care; 

•To improve the financial arrangements for care leavers. 

103



 

 

This project also fits within the Public Service Agreement 2 National Indicators 147 and 148, which 
identify whether:  

•The young person is living in suitable accommodation; 

•The young person is in Education Training or Employment. 

Staying Put supports HC's Children and Young People’s Plan and in particular gives young people 
who are in stable, supportive placements the opportunity to pursue education, training and 
employment in order to participate both socially and economically as citizens, without the disruption 
of having to move into 'independence' during this critical period of their lives. 

Both The Green Paper "Care Matters - Transforming the Lives of Children in Care" and the White 
Paper "Care Matters - Time for Change" refer to the importance for young people of 'entering adult 
life at the right time'. To remain with foster carers beyond 18 is identified as an area for 
development.  

Many young people who have been looked after by the local authority experience a compressed 
transition from childhood to adulthood (Professor Mike Stein - University of York), and the option to 
Stay Put seeks to protract and normalise the young person's experience of moving into adulthood. 
Staying Put fits within HC's aspiration to be a good corporate parent to all young people to whom it 
has acted as a substitute family. 

The project also provides a framework to allow care leavers at university to return to their former 
carers during vacation time, and young people who commence basic training with the armed 
services to return to their carers during breaks, reflecting the ongoing support which would be 
available to young people living in supportive families. 

Staying Put can also contribute to 'decreasing' the role of the Personal Adviser with these young 
people, by taking into account the relationship and support provided by the former foster carer to 
the young person, enabling the Personal Adviser to work with other Care Leavers who may be living 
independently with less support and in more disadvantaged circumstances. 

Staying Put will offer carers improved training opportunities and prepare them to support teenagers 
into adulthood in a planned and individual way. The training offered will complement the Induction 
Standards for Children's Workforce training requirements for foster carers. The investment and 
commitment of the foster carers is acknowledged through better levels of remuneration and 
support, increasing the retention of foster carers who find their task rewarding and fulfilling.  

The Staying Put Project reflects the Government’s determination to improve the experiences of 
children in care, to challenge the poor outcomes historically experienced by young people in care, 
and to reduce the gap between the quality of life of young people in the care of the local authority 
and those raised in supportive families. 

 

End 

104



 

 

Staying Put Procedures 

 

1. Entitlement to Stay Put  

In Herefordshire a young person is entitled to Stay Put in their foster placement if on reaching 18 
years of age they are engaged in Education, Training or Employment (ETE). 

Exceptionally a young person, who is not engaged in ETE but is actively seeking to be engaged, may 
Stay Put. Young people not in ETE have a 3 month window of opportunity to secure their 
engagement in ETE. After the 3 months of not being engaged in ETE has elapsed the opportunity to 
Stay Put maybe extended for a further 3 months through a process of referral to the Head of Looked 
After Children (LAC). The Head of LAC may only extend the opportunity to Stay Put for a further 
maximum period of 3 months in order to provide the young person with the support and stability to 
become engaged in ETE. 

After a 6 month consecutive period of not being in engaged in ETE the young person will be helped 
to move on from their Staying Put arrangement within 28 days. 

If those opportunities for education, training or employment are not available then consideration 
will be given to extend the placement beyond six months. However, the young person should be 
actively encouraged to involve themselves in community activities, voluntary work or a self 
improvement course.  

Young people in foster placements who are assessed as not being able to live independently at 21 
years of age will be assisted by their Social Worker, to identify alternative choices/options by their 
18th birthday. 

2, Establishing a Staying Put Arrangement  

The option of Staying Put should be identified within the young person's Care Planning/Pathway 
Planning process no less than 6 months before their 18th birthday. The 16+ advisor should inform 
the 16+ Team Manager if a Staying Put arrangement has been identified as an option and is being 
considered by the young person and foster carers.  

An arrangement to Stay Put must be agreed by both the young person and the foster carers. Advice 
about the differences between a foster placement and a Staying Put arrangement should be given to 
the Young Person and Carers by the 16+ advisor and the Fostering Supervising Social Worker, in 
order for both parties to make an informed decision about proceeding with the arrangement. 

Occasionally young people or carers may change their minds after making an initial decision about 
Staying Put. The system should always allow both young people and foster carers to change their 
minds about establishing a Staying Put arrangement, but care should be taken to avoid disruption to 
a young person's education at a critical time. 

 

105



 

 

The 16+ advisor/ 16+ SW should forward a copy of the young person's Pathway Plan to the 16+ team 
manager no less than 6 weeks before the young person's 18th birthday. 

The 16+ advisor/16+ SW will work with the young person to assess whether they will have to make a 
financial contribution to the cost of Staying Put. The 16+ advisor/ 16+ SW will also work with the 
young person to maximise their entitlement to benefits and calculate the amount required from the 
Staying Put budget. Consideration should also be given to ensure that applications for benefits do 
not discourage a young person from obtaining or maintaining part or full-time employment. 

The 16+ advisor/16+ SW will ensure that all claims for benefits are submitted in a timely fashion that 
minimises any potential disruption in allowances being received by the former carer. The 16+ 
advisor/16+ SW will in conjunction with the young person follow up these claims for benefits until a 
decision has been made and a payment commences. In certain circumstances it may be necessary 
for the 16+ advisor/16+ SW to agree with the 16+ Team manager/Fostering Team Manager a 
contingency arrangements so that the former carer's level of remuneration is not disrupted.  

The 16+ advisor/16+ SW  will in collaboration with the Fostering Supervising Social Worker convene 
a Staying Put support meeting immediately prior to the young person's 18th birthday, and in 
collaboration with the young person and foster carer and the 16+ Team Manager complete a Staying 
Put agreement. The purpose of the Staying Put agreement meeting is for both the former carers and 
the young person to appreciate what is expected of each other. 

The 16+ Team Manager will authorise Staying Put complete a notification to finance form no less 
than 4 weeks before the young person's 18th birthday. And will forward this form onto the relevant 
person in Children's Social Care Finance. 

3, Professional Roles  

The 16+ advisor/16+ SW will continue to provide support to the young person throughout the 
Staying Put process. They will complete Pathway Plans and support the young person within the new 
arrangement with the former carers. The 16+ advisor/16+ SW will ensure that the young person 
understands the terms of the Staying Put agreement. This may include reinforcing what the young 
person is expected to purchase from their Income Maintenance (JSA/Income Support or equivalent) 
Supporting the young person to apply for relevant funding and benefits, and helping them to 
establish a method of making any regular payments such as Local Housing Allowance to the former 
carer according to the terms of the agreement. 

For Herefordshire Foster Carers, if other children are in placement, the Fostering Supervising Social 
Worker will continue to provide support to the carer for those children.  Their role will also involve 
supporting the carer to understand the nature of the Staying Put arrangement and their entitlement 
to funding, and advise the carer about their changing role with the young person under the Staying 
Put arrangement. The Fostering Supervising Social Worker will be able to provide ongoing advice 
about tax and national insurance implications, and about personal liability insurance. 

For Foster Carers who work for an Independent Fostering Agency, in most circumstances the 16+ 
advisor/16+ SW?? will provide the support to the former carer, rather than the Agency Worker. The 
support and advice provided will be similar to that described in 3.2 above, and will reflect that the 

106



 

 

Independent Fostering Agency is no longer actively involved in supporting the former carers to 
provide ongoing care and support to the young person who is Staying Put. 

Former carers should be given information about the income tax and national insurance 
implications of the Staying Put arrangement. There a number of tax concessions for Adult 
Placement schemes. 

HMRC have stated that the same arrangements that apply to Adult Placement scheme carers should 
apply to former foster placements if the carer continues to provide support, and continues to 
receive the same level of payment.  

Adult placement' Carers are treated as self-employed for tax purposes and can pay Class 2 National 
Insurance contributions in order to qualify for basic state pension.  

For carers who are in receipt of welfare benefits, advice should be given about whether Staying Put 
payments will be disregarded or considered as income for means tested benefits. These payments 
may include: 

•Rent payments paid to the carer; 

•Payments from the young person to the carer; 

•Payments from LCC to the carer (made under The Children Act 1989).  

A young person may not be able to claim Local Housing Allowance if the Carers are already in receipt 
of Housing Benefit or Local Housing Allowance to meet their own housing costs. 

In circumstances where all the funding for a Staying Put arrangement comes from the Staying Put 
budget, the payment can be made under Section 24 of The Children Act 1989. In these 
circumstances, a letter should be written to the former carer by the 16+ Team Manager confirming 
that payments are being made under Section 24 of the Children Act 1989 to support the young 
person in education, and that the payment should be disregarded for income tax and benefit 
purposes. 

Legislation regarding the treatment of payments to the carer is complex, and individual financial 
circumstances vary, and it may be necessary to advise the carer to seek specialist advice (from 
Citizens Advice Bureau, for example) about their specific circumstances and the effect of the Staying 
Put arrangement on their tax, national insurance, welfare benefits, and working tax credit or child 
tax credit. 

If the carers are tenants themselves, it is advisable for them to check their tenancy agreement and 
ensure that their lease allows them to have a lodger. 

If the carers are mortgage payers it is advisable for them to check whether having a lodger is within 
the terms and conditions of their mortgage lender and insurer. 

It is advisable for carers to inform the Insurance Company providing their household insurance when 
a young person is no longer a fostered child but remaining in their home as an adult lodger, and to 

107



 

 

check that existing insurance arrangements still provide adequate household cover under this 
arrangement. 

Foster Carers are currently covered for legal protection insurance provided and paid for by LCC in 
the case of an allegation made against them by a foster child. Carers must be informed that this 
legal protection insurance cover does not continue under a Staying Put arrangement. 

Key information and training will be offered to carers in the lead up to a post 18 Staying Put 
arrangement. Carers will continue to be registered as carers and under go an annual review and 
comply with the National Standards. 

 

Paperwork  

- The Pathway Plan should identify an intention to establish a Staying Put arrangement. 

- A Staying Put Agreement should be completed before the Staying Put arrangement begins. 

- The 16+ Team Manager will forward payment authorisation no less than four weeks before 
the young person's 18th birthday, this will need to have been signed off by the Head of LAC. 
The 16+ Team Manager will then forward the finance form to the relevant person in 
Children's Social Care Finance. 

- Staying Put agreements which will include a Licence Agreement should be completed prior 
to the commencement of the Staying Put Arrangement.  

 

5. Finance and Funding Sources  

The total package of financial support will generally match fostering allowances made to carers 
when they were fostering.  

Where the young person has commenced their thirteenth year of education in the academic year in 
which they turn 18, foster carers will continue to receive the same level of remuneration as before 
the young person was 18.  

This will continue from the young person's 18th birthday until two weeks after the completion of the 
final examination in year 13. After this period the funding would then reduce to the standard Staying 
Put allowance. If young people are assisted to claim benefits the timing of these claims should not 
disrupt their education or exam period.  

Specialist fostering or independent sector fostering rates will only be paid if: 

•The former carer is prevented from taking another foster child because the young person is 
converting to a Staying Put arrangement; and  

•The young person is in their thirteenth year of education; 

•The retainer fee will apply when the young person is absent in this case. 

108



 

 

The young person will retain the JSA/Income Support level of this financial package. This will enable 
them to purchase things that would previously have been included in the fostering allowance, and is 
intended to enable the young person to develop budgeting skills. This would include clothes and 
toiletries, and should cover social and leisure activities.  

 

The young person's income may come from: 

•Income support/JSA; 

•Employment. 

If the young person's total average income over a 6 week period exceeds £50pw they will be 
expected to contribute 50% of their income over £50 towards the placement costs, up to a 
maximum of £50pw contribution. 

The financial package for the former carer will be equivalent to that received through fostering 
allowances minus the allowance made to the young person. 

This is made up of funding from:  

•Local Housing Allowance (LHA) - the amount varies according to area; 

•Any contribution from the young person, from income or entitlement to grants, allowances or 
benefits; 

•LCC Staying Put funding will make up the balance of the cost. 

The young person may be able to claim income support or be entitled to EMA if they are in full-time 
education. 

The young person can usually claim Local Housing Allowance and as a Care Leaver will be exempt 
from the single room rent restriction. 

Local Housing Allowance will usually be paid direct to the young person and they will be expected to 
maintain arrangements to pay this to the former carer.  

 

The young person should be advised that if they do not make these payments of LHA to the carers:  

•It will result in the placement ending; 

•It may impact on their future ability to claim LHA;  

•If the failure to pay results in the Staying Put arrangement being terminated the young person may 
be considered to be 'intentionally homeless' by the local housing authority. 

In certain circumstances LHA can be paid direct to the landlord if the claimant is likely to have 
difficulty in managing their financial affairs or if the tenant has built up rent arrears of eight weeks or 
more.  

109



 

 

If the young person cannot claim Local Housing Allowance the Local Authority will compensate by 
paying an amount equivalent to LHA to the former carers. 

 

6. Young Persons Contribution  

If the young person is employed or has an income of more than £50 per week they will be expected 
to make a contribution to the Staying Put arrangement. If a young person's income varies on a 
weekly basis, it may be averaged over a six week period to determine the level of the young person's 
contribution to the Staying Put arrangement. 

The young person will keep the equivalent JSA of their income. It is intended that this money will be 
managed by the young person and used for things like toiletries and clothes, which will previously 
have been provided for the young person by the foster carer, from the fostering allowance. 

They would be expected to contribute 50% of the next £100 of their income, up to a maximum 
contribution of £50 per week. 

The 16+ advisor will continue to encourage Young Person to access employment. This may mean the 
contribution from the Staying Put budget is higher as they may be unable to claim Local Housing 
Allowance. 

Where a young person's level of income is so low that they are unable to contribute the former carer 
will suffer no detriment, and if necessary the council will make the provision where it cannot be 
found from another source. 

Financial arrangements will be reviewed at a minimum on an annual basis, or earlier if there is a 
significant change in financial circumstances. 

 

7. Retainer/Allowance  

A retainer can be paid in certain situations. 

Young people are not expected to make a contribution to the retainer. 

When a young person returns to stay for a period of time, the former carers will be paid at the 
current Staying Put rate. The young person will be expected to make a contribution to this 
depending on their income. 

If the young person returns, the young person will be expected to make a contribution to this 
depending on their income. 

Retainer - Armed Services 

If a young person joins the armed services the former carer can be paid a retainer while the young 
person completes the first three months of basic training. 

 

110



 

 

Retainer - University  

A retainer can be paid to the former carer of a young person who is at university during term time.  
During the breaks from University the former carer will receive a flat rate (the retainer). 

The bursary which University Students receive from the Council is classed as income (currently £150 
p/w) and the young person will be expected to contribute towards the cost of returning to their 
former carers during periods of vacation from this and any other source of income. 

8. Police Checks  

If the former carer is going to continue to work as a Foster Carer the young person in the Staying Put 
arrangement will need to have a DBS Check as they become an adult living in the home. This will 
require sensitive management and sensible negotiation. 

If the former carers are still registered with LCC as foster carers the DBS checks will continue 
routinely. 

9. The Independent Sector  

The Independent Fostering Agencies which have been awarded a contract to make provision 
Herefordshire Council are required to adhere to the Council's policy with respect to post 18 
arrangements. 

If the young person and carer are willing to convert the placement to a supported lodgings 
arrangement and be paid the current Staying Put rate then the IFA should not do anything to 
obstruct this arrangement. 

The Pathway Plan should set out what support should be provided, as in effect the role of the IFA 
ends at 18. A young person cannot legally be 'looked after' after their 18th birthday. Ongoing 
support to former carers in the independent sector will usually be provided by the Fostering 
Supervising Social Worker. 

10. Young Parent  

If a young person in a Staying Put arrangement has a child living with them, the former carer will be 
entitled to the current boarding out rate. 

11. Monitoring and Reviewing Arrangements  

Staying Put Arrangements should be reviewed as part of the Pathway Plan Review a minimum of 
every six months. This should include a review of any problems or difficulties which have emerged, 
and what is working well. 

A review can be arranged earlier by agreement between the young person, carers, and the 
professionals involved. 

 

111



 

 

The young person and carers can also access advice at other times from the 16+ advisor/16+ SW or 
the Fostering Supervising Social Worker. 

12. Ending the Staying Put Arrangement  

The Staying Put arrangements can be ended before the young person's 21st birthday, by the young 
person or former carer giving relevant notice. Both parties should give as much notice as possible, 
and this should in most circumstances be a minimum of 28 days notice. The licence agreement 
allows for the ending of the arrangement with 7 days notice for a breach of the agreement, but this 
minimum should only be used in exceptional circumstances. 

The Staying Put arrangements will end when the young person becomes 21. If a young person will be 
at a critical time in their education (e.g. final exam period) at the time when they reach 21 years they 
will be able to Stay Put until after this period. 

Planning will be undertaken to ensure young person can move on into suitable accommodation.  

When planning to end a Staying Put arrangement as a young person approaches 21, it needs to be 
considered that a young person will no longer be classed as in "priority need" for social housing 
when they reach 21 years. It may be necessary to plan for the young person to move shortly before 
this time if social housing is to be accessed. 

 

End 

 

 

 

 

 

112



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of corporate finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

 

 

Meeting: Cabinet  

Meeting date: 19 March 2015 

Title of report: Waste management services contract update 

Report by: Head of Corporate Finance 
 

Classification  

Open 

Key Decision  

This is a key decision because it is likely to result in the council incurring expenditure which 
is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the council’s budget for 
the service or function to which the decision relates. 

and 

because it is likely to be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in 
an area comprising one or more wards in the county. 

Notice has been served in accordance with Part 3, Section 9 (Publicity in Connection with 
Key Decisions) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Wards Affected 

Countywide  

Purpose 

To approve the deferral of the payment for the purchase of the Energy from Waste plant site 
in Hartlebury and provide an update on the outcome of the execution of joint waste PFI 
contract variation concluded in May 2014. 

Recommendation(s) 

THAT:  
(a) the conclusion of the agreed joint waste PFI contract variation and associated 

joint working agreement be noted; and 
 
(b) the deferral, until December 2023, of the purchase of Herefordshire’s share of 

the Hartlebury waste site be approved. 

AGENDA ITEM 7

113



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of corporate finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

 

Alternative options 

1 The following alternative option has been considered: 

To purchase 24.2% of the Hartlebury waste site now. This would incur immediate 
costs of £1.9m and is not recommended. 

Reasons for recommendations 

Conclusion of the PFI Contract Variation 

2 Final agreement between Herefordshire Council, Worcestershire County Council and 
Mercia Waste Management Ltd was reached on 21 May 2014. Construction of the 
energy from waste (EfW) facility began soon afterwards. 

3 Herefordshire will save an average of £1.6m pa as a result of its decision to invest in the 
EfW plant (£41m over the expected life of the plant of 25 years), an improvement of 
£0.4m pa on the expected savings approved by Cabinet in December 2013, achieved 
through successful final contract variation negotiations.   

4 The Cabinet decision in December 2013 compared agreeing to construct an EfW with 
continuing to send waste to landfill.  Doing nothing included the increasing costs of 
landfill, e.g., landfill tax has risen from £8 per tonne in 1996 to £80 per tonne in 2014. In 
addition, not building the EfW would have resulted in no confirmed capacity for treating 
or disposing of non-recyclable municipal waste after 2023. 

5 The table below compares the final agreed contract cost over the life of the plant, 25 
years, with the “as is” option of continuing to landfill waste.  The final position agreed is 
substantially better than that reported to Cabinet in December 2013.   

 

6 The business case, with financial data prepared by Deloitte, re-enforced the decision to 
execute the contract variation, providing the best value for money solution for 
Herefordshire residents. Full details were published in the final Variation Business Case 
available through the following web link:  

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/downloads/file/4157/variation_business_case_v40_june_2014 

Revised Joint Working Agreement (JWA) with Worcester County Council 

7 The JWA has been updated as a result of the joint PFI contract variation to include: 

a. Herefordshire’s share of the contract cost to be based on the proportion of 

Option Final Net Present Cost to 
Herefordshire (25%) 

Dec 13 Net Present Cost to 
Herefordshire (25%) 

 Whole Life £m Whole Life £m 

Energy from Waste Plant 170  175 

Continuing as is 211  207 

Saving 41  32 

114



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of corporate finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

 

contract waste flows arising from 1 September 2013. This was previously paid 
based on population share. This new split will generate annual savings to 
Herefordshire of approximately £0.6m.   

b. Confirmation of Herefordshire’s share of the EfW funding at 24.2%. 

c. Agreement to the holding of a maintenance reserve account balance of £0.4m on 
expiry of the PFI, December 2023. 

d. Clarification of terms of reference, governance, roles and responsibilities of the 
JWA though a Joint Waste Advisory Board and Joint Review Board. 

e. Agreement for the Joint Review Board to meet to discuss the desirability of 
extending the contract no later than 22 June 2018. 

f. The right and commitment to provide the EfW plant with 48,400 tonnes of 
suitable waste for a period of twenty five years. Herefordshire currently produces 
this level of tonnage of waste. By the time the plant opens in 2017, allowing for 
forecast new homes and the ability to obtain waste from the commercial sector, 
this commitment is easily achievable. The commitment is a valuable interest 
which could be sold to other authorities or the commercial sector. 

g. Property purchase options of the EfW and recycling site both located in 
Worcestershire, as described below. 

Purchase of Herefordshire’s share of the Hartlebury waste site 

8 On execution of the waste PFI contract variation for the EfW plant (EnviRecover) a Deed 
of Trust was entered into over its Hartlebury site. Worcestershire holds all its interest in 
EnviRecover on trust for both Councils in the same proportion as their respective 
funding percentages, being 24.2% for Herefordshire. Herefordshire has also registered a 
Restriction against Worcestershire’s title to record and protect Herefordshire’s interest in 
relation to the EnviRecover site pursuant to The Deed of Trust. This protection negates 
the need to purchase Herefordshire’s share now. 

 
9 The JWA included a commitment from Herefordshire to acquire its 24.2% share in the 

Hartlebury site either within twelve months of the contract variation being signed (May 
2015) or on expiry of the contract (December 2023).   

10 The cost of the acquisition is based on Herefordshire’s share of the acquisition cost plus 
debt charges incurred by Worcestershire from the date of acquisition until 
Herefordshire’s date of purchase.  

11 This gives a total estimated total acquisition cost of £1.7m in 2023, which will be funded 
by the waste disposal reserve balance expected to be held at that date. 

12 It is recommended that the purchase of Herefordshire’s share of the Hartlebury site is 
deferred until December 2023. This allows for the maintaining of a waste disposal 
reserve balance during the period of construction of the EfW and avoids the need to 
utilise prudential borrowing to fund the purchase cost. 

Key considerations 

13 In December 2013 Cabinet authorised a variation to the council’s Joint (Herefordshire 
and Worcestershire) Waste Management Service Contract with Mercia Waste 

115



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of corporate finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

 

Management Ltd, to construct and operate an EfW plant to treat residual household 
waste from the two councils (Cabinet report 12 December 2013). 

14 In February 2014 Council approved the budget consequences of the contract 
variation. This approval included the financing arrangements for the new facility 
where Herefordshire Council and Worcestershire County Council lend to the 
contractor the funds to construct the EfW plant (Council report 7 February 2014). 

Community impact 

15 The previous approval will significantly reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill 
which has been collected by Herefordshire Council. The deferral of the site purchase 
will contribute to the following council corporate objectives:  

Managing our finances effectively to secure value for money and deliver a 
balanced budget 

Making best use of the resources available to us in order to meet the council’s 
priorities (includes money, buildings, IT, information) 

Equality duty 

16 The report and its recommendations do not have an impact on Equality or Human 
Rights. 

Financial implications 

17 The conclusion of the contract variation has resulted in savings that have been 
reflected in the Medium Term Financial Strategy approved by Council 7 February 
2015. 

18 The delay of site acquisition will result in the retention of the waste disposal reserve 
during the construction of the Energy from Waste plant as a contingency balance for 
risk mitigation. 

Legal implications 

19 The revised JWA improves governance and ensures value for money is delivered to 
both authorities. 

Risk management 

20 Deferring the site purchase entails a risk of interest rate increases. However, this risk 
has been reviewed and is considered to be a low risk. Deferring the purchase also 
entails a risk of the open market value of the recycling site changing over time. 
However, if it this value is higher in 2023, it will mean the EfW site acquisition cost 
would be reduced further. Based on historic property price indices, the decision to 
defer is considered to be of least financial risk. 

Consultees 

None 

116



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of corporate finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

 

Appendices 

None 

Background papers 

None identified 

 

117



118



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Richard Ball, Assistant Director Place Based Commissioning on Tel (01432) 260965 

 

 

MEETING:  CABINET  

MEETING DATE: 19 MARCH 2015 

TITLE OF REPORT: 2015/16 corporate delivery plan 

REPORT BY: Assistant director, place based 
commissioning 

 

Alternative Options 

1 Cabinet may: amend or revise the proposals, but in doing so regard must be made to 
ensuring any changes continue to demonstrate how the corporate plan is to be 
implemented and that the proposals can be delivered within the agreed budget. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 Cabinet is asked to approve the key activity that will be used to demonstrate how the 
priorities for the council are to be delivered. Quarterly reports will be presented to 
Cabinet on performance against delivery of the key activity and achievement of the 
measures. 

Classification  

Open 

Key Decision 

This is not a key decision. 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To agree the projects and measures within the 2015/16 corporate delivery plan. 

Recommendation(s) 

THAT: 

(a)  the 2015/16 corporate delivery plan be approved. 

AGENDA ITEM 8

119



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Richard Ball, Assistant Director Place Based Commissioning on Tel (01432) 260965 

 

Key Considerations 

3 The draft 2015/16 corporate delivery plan is attached at Appendix A. The plan will 
remain a live document and will continue to evolve through the year. This will enable 
Cabinet to assure itself that resources are being appropriately applied to meet 
priorities. 

4 The 2015/16 corporate delivery plan has been aligned to the two corporate priorities 
agreed in the corporate plan 2013-15 of: enabling residents to be independent and 
lead fulfilling lives with resources focussed on supporting the most vulnerable; and 
creating and maintaining a successful economy. 

5 The corporate plan 2013-15 has been rolled forward for the period 2015/16. Following 
the elections in May 2015 it is likely that a ‘refresh’ of the delivery plan will be 
necessary in the early summer to reflect any changes to priorities that may be 
required, prior to the development of a new corporate plan to cover the period 2016-
2020. 

 Community Impact 

6 The 2015/16 corporate delivery plan demonstrates how the council intends to achieve 
its vision for the people of Herefordshire and continues to draw from the evidence 
base available through Understanding Herefordshire. 

Equality and Human Rights 

7 Increasing equality of opportunity and access, and reducing inequalities are clearly 
articulated outcomes within the agreed corporate plan. Individual elements of activity 
within the delivery plan undergo equality impact assessments as an integral part of 
their planning and implementation. 

Financial Implications 

8 Proposals within the 2015/16 corporate delivery plan will be delivered within the 
2015/16 budget agreed by Council in February 2015, and include projects and activity 
to deliver the savings required for a balanced budget. 

Legal Implications 

9 There are no legal implications arising directly from the recommendations of this 
report. The legal implications of any decisions to be taken by the executive in 
implementing the delivery plan will be set out within the relevant decision report. 

Risk Management 

10 The corporate plan and its delivery plan are integral elements of the council’s risk 
management framework. Risks associated with each objective and project are 
entered onto the relevant service or directorate risk register and escalated as 
appropriate. The corporate risk register is a living document and is formally reviewed 
quarterly by management board. Any significant risks are reported to Cabinet as part 
of the corporate performance report. 

120



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Richard Ball, Assistant Director Place Based Commissioning on Tel (01432) 260965 

 

Consultees 

11 None in relation to this report. The development of the 2015/16 corporate delivery 
plan was informed by the evidence base already gathered during the year and which 
includes user, resident and partner feedback where available. 

Appendices 

Appendix A – 2015/16 corporate delivery plan 

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

121



122



H
ER

EF
O

RD
SH

IR
E 

CO
U

N
CI

L 

D
EL

IV
ER

Y 
PL

A
N

 2
01

5/
16

 

Th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
pa

ge
s 

pr
ov

id
e 

an
 o

ve
rv

ie
w

 o
f t

he
 p

ri
or

it
ie

s 
fo

r 
ea

ch
 o

f t
he

 d
ir

ec
to

ra
te

s,
 d

es
cr

ib
in

g 
w

ha
t e

ac
h 

ai
m

s 
to

 
ac

hi
ev

e 
ov

er
 th

e 
co

m
in

g 
ye

ar
, a

lo
ng

 w
it

h 
an

 o
ut

lin
e 

of
 th

e 
ke

y 
ac

ti
on

s 
th

at
 w

ill
 b

e 
un

de
rt

ak
en

 to
 a

ch
ie

ve
 th

es
e 

go
al

s.
 

Th
e 

do
cu

m
en

t a
ls

o 
de

sc
ri

be
s 

ho
w

 s
uc

ce
ss

 a
ga

in
st

 th
e 

ai
m

s 
an

d 
ac

ti
on

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
m

ea
su

re
d.

 

Pr
og

re
ss

 a
ga

in
st

 th
e 

pr
io

ri
ti

es
 a

s 
de

sc
ri

be
d 

in
 th

e 
co

rp
or

at
e 

pl
an

 w
ill

 b
e 

re
po

rt
ed

 o
n 

a 
qu

ar
te

rl
y 

ba
si

s 
an

d 
pu

bl
is

he
d 

in
 a

 
tr

an
sp

ar
en

t a
nd

 o
pe

n 
m

an
ne

r.
 W

he
re

 th
er

e 
ar

e 
ch

al
le

ng
es

, t
he

se
 w

ill
 b

e 
de

sc
ri

be
d 

an
d 

an
y 

ne
ce

ss
ar

y 
ch

an
ge

s 
to

 th
e 

ac
ti

on
s 

w
ill

 a
ls

o 
be

 re
po

rt
ed

 a
nd

 p
ub

lis
he

d.
 

123



A
D

U
LT

S 
W

EL
LB

EI
N

G
 

D
IR

EC
TO

RA
TE

 P
RI

O
RI

TI
ES

 2
01

5/
16

 

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Pl

an
 P

ri
or

it
ie

s 
· 

En
ab

le
 R

es
id

en
ts

 to
 b

e 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t a
nd

 le
ad

 fu
lfi

lli
ng

 li
ve

s 
 

· 
Cr

ea
te

 a
nd

 m
ai

nt
ai

n 
a 

su
cc

es
sf

ul
 e

co
no

m
y 

-
 

En
co

ur
ag

e 
in

di
vi

du
al

s,
 c

om
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 o

rg
an

is
at

io
ns

 d
o 

m
or

e 
fo

r t
he

m
se

lv
es

 a
nd

 fo
r t

he
ir 

lo
ca

l a
re

a.
 

-
 

G
oo

d 
qu

al
ity

 h
ou

si
ng

 to
 m

ee
t e

ve
ry

on
e’

s 
ne

ed
s.

 
-

 
Pe

op
le

 a
re

 p
hy

si
ca

lly
 a

nd
 m

en
ta

lly
 h

ea
lth

y 
an

d 
st

ay
 s

af
e 

fo
r l

on
ge

r.
 

-
 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
eq

ua
lit

y 
of

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 a
nd

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 re

du
ce

 in
eq

ua
lit

y 
in

 h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 w

el
lb

ei
ng

 o
ut

co
m

es
. 

-
 

Pu
bl

ic
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

ar
e 

pr
io

rit
is

ed
 to

 s
up

po
rt

 th
os

e 
in

 n
ee

d 
of

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
to

 m
ai

nt
ai

n 
th

ei
r i

nd
ep

en
de

nc
e 

of
 s

ta
y 

sa
fe

. 
-

 
Pe

op
le

 a
re

 a
ct

iv
e 

in
 th

ei
r c

om
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 lo

ok
 o

ut
 fo

r t
he

 m
or

e 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 s
o 

th
ey

 c
an

 li
ve

 m
or

e 
in

de
pe

nd
en

tly
. 

Ke
y 

O
ut

co
m

es
 

· 
M

or
e 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 p

eo
pl

e 
liv

in
g 

sa
fe

ly
, i

nd
ep

en
de

nt
ly

 a
nd

 re
m

ai
ni

ng
 h

ea
lth

y 
(H

C.
01

). 
· 

Th
e 

pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 u
se

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
ca

re
rs

 w
ho

 fi
nd

 it
 e

as
y 

to
 fi

nd
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ab

ou
t s

up
po

rt
 (H

C.
02

). 
· 

Bu
ild

 h
om

es
 fo

r a
ll 

te
nu

re
s 

(H
C.

09
). 

· 
Va

lu
e 

fo
r m

on
ey

 w
ill

 in
cr

ea
se

 (H
C.

03
). 

W
ha

t w
e 

w
an

t t
o 

ac
hi

ev
e 

Ke
y 

ac
ti

on
s 

H
ow

 s
uc

ce
ss

 w
ill

 b
e 

m
ea

su
re

d:
 

W
el

lb
ei

ng
, P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
an

d 
D

em
an

d 
M

an
ag

em
en

t –
 im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 o
f o

ur
 

po
pu

la
ti

on
, s

tr
en

gt
he

n 
ou

r 
co

m
m

un
it

y 
re

si
lie

nc
e 

an
d 

pr
om

ot
e 

ch
oi

ce
 a

nd
 in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 fo

r 
al

l 
re

si
de

nt
s 

Re
fr

es
h 

th
e 

H
ea

lt
h 

&
 W

el
lb

ei
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
an

d 
im

pl
em

en
t t

he
 d

el
iv

er
y 

pl
an

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
: 

·  
M

en
ta

l H
ea

lth
 a

nd
 W

el
l B

ei
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y;
 

· 
O

ld
er

 P
eo

pl
e 

H
ou

si
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
an

d 
Pa

th
w

ay
; 

· 
D

el
iv

er
y 

of
 th

e 
As

si
st

 P
ro

gr
am

m
e 

(r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 s
m

ok
in

g 
pr

ev
al

en
ce

 p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

in
 

se
co

nd
ar

y 
sc

ho
ol

s)
; 

·  
Co

m
m

un
ity

 C
o-

or
di

na
tio

n 
St

ra
te

gy
; 

·  
Li

fe
st

yl
e 

an
d 

be
ha

vi
ou

ra
l c

ha
ng

e 
st

ra
te

gy
; 

an
d 

· 
Bu

ild
 s

up
po

rt
iv

e 
an

d 
re

si
lie

nt
 c

om
m

un
iti

es
 b

y 
us

in
g 

th
e 

W
el

lb
ei

ng
 In

no
va

tio
n 

Fu
nd

. 

· 
H

&
W

B 
St

ra
te

gy
 p

ub
lis

he
d.

 
· 

M
ea

su
ra

bl
e 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 in
 H

ea
lth

 
ou

tc
om

es
 e

vi
de

nc
ed

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

JS
N

A,
 P

H
, 

N
H

S 
an

d 
AS

C 
O

ut
co

m
es

 fr
am

ew
or

k.
 

D
es

ig
n 

an
d 

Co
m

m
is

si
on

 In
te

gr
at

ed
 C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
· 

Pr
ov

id
er

 in
 p

la
ce

 a
nd

 n
ew

 c
on

tr
ac

t.
 

124



H
ea

lt
h 

Pa
th

w
ay

s:
 

· 
D

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
t a

 p
at

hw
ay

 fo
r H

ea
lth

 
Vi

si
to

r,
 S

ch
oo

l N
ur

si
ng

 a
nd

 C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

Ce
nt

re
s.

 
D

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
t a

 re
fr

es
he

d 
A

du
lt

 S
oc

ia
l 

Ca
re

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
an

d 
Cu

st
om

er
 Jo

ur
ne

y 
th

at
 is

 
co

m
pl

ia
nt

 w
it

h 
th

e 
Ca

re
 A

ct
: 

·  
Re

fr
es

h 
th

e 
Co

m
m

un
ity

 C
ar

e 
Po

lic
y;

 
· 

Im
pl

em
en

t a
 n

ew
 o

pe
ra

tin
g 

m
od

el
 fo

r a
du

lt 
so

ci
al

 c
ar

e 
op

er
at

io
ns

; a
nd

 
· 

Re
vi

ew
 o

pt
io

ns
 fo

r s
up

po
rt

 p
la

nn
in

g 
an

d 
br

ok
er

ag
e 

ex
te

rn
al

ly
. 

· 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 ti

m
el

in
es

s 
of

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t.

 
· 

AS
CO

F 
3A

 - 
O

ve
ra

ll 
sa

tis
fa

ct
io

n 
of

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 
us

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 w

ith
 th

ei
r c

ar
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t.

 

Im
pl

em
en

t t
he

 C
ar

e 
A

ct
 a

nd
 n

ew
 d

ut
ie

s 
on

 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

, t
o 

in
cl

ud
e 

th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
ar

ea
s :

 
· 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

Ad
vi

ce
 a

nd
 G

ui
da

nc
e;

 
·  

Sa
fe

gu
ar

di
ng

; 
· 

Ca
re

rs
; 

·  
Ca

re
 M

ar
ke

t;
 a

nd
 

· 
Pe

rs
on

al
 b

ud
ge

ts
. 

· 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f c

lie
nt

s 
un

de
rt

ak
in

g 
se

lf-
as

se
ss

m
en

t. 
· 

N
um

be
r o

f c
ar

er
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 in

cr
ea

se
d.

 
·  

N
um

be
r o

f c
lie

nt
s 

si
gn

po
st

ed
. 

· 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f c

lie
nt

s 
pr

og
re

ss
in

g 
to

 re
fe

rr
al

. 
· 

N
um

be
r o

f p
eo

pl
e 

on
 d

ire
ct

 p
ay

m
en

ts
. 

· 
AS

CO
F 

3D
 –

 T
he

 p
ro

po
rt

io
n 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ho
 

us
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 a
nd

 c
ar

er
s 

w
ho

 fi
nd

 it
 e

as
y 

to
 

fin
d 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ab
ou

t s
up

po
rt

. 
Re

fr
es

h 
th

e 
Ca

re
rs

 S
tr

at
eg

y.
 

· 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f c

ar
er

s 
re

ce
iv

in
g 

se
rv

ic
es

. 
D

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
t a

 ra
ng

e 
of

 h
ou

si
ng

 
pa

th
w

ay
s:

 
·  

Im
pl

em
en

t t
he

 O
ld

er
 P

er
so

ns
 H

ou
si

ng
 

Pa
th

w
ay

; 
· 

Co
m

pl
et

e 
pa

th
w

ay
s 

fo
r o

th
er

 s
pe

ci
al

is
t n

ee
d 

ho
us

in
g;

 a
nd

 

·  
Re

fr
es

h 
ap

pr
oa

ch
 to

 h
ou

si
ng

 s
ol

ut
io

ns
 a

nd
 

ho
m

el
es

sn
es

s.
 

· 
Im

pl
em

en
t P

at
hw

ay
 A

ct
io

n 
Pl

an
 to

 e
st

ab
lis

h 
an

d 
la

un
ch

 in
te

gr
at

ed
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n,
 A

dv
ic

e 
an

d 
G

ui
da

nc
e 

se
lf-

as
se

ss
m

en
t t

oo
ls

 fo
r O

ld
er

 
Pe

op
le

 b
y 

en
d 

20
15

/1
6.

 

D
el

iv
er

 a
 ra

ng
e 

of
 a

ff
or

da
bl

e 
ho

us
in

g:
 

· 
W

or
k 

w
ith

 d
ev

el
op

er
s 

to
 d

el
iv

er
 a

ff
or

da
bl

e 
ho

us
in

g 
in

 ru
ra

l a
re

as
 a

nd
 w

ith
in

 H
er

ef
or

d 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
 a

ff
or

da
bl

e 
ho

us
in

g 
by

 2
00

 u
ni

ts
. 

125



ci
ty

. 
Pr

om
ot

e 
an

d 
de

liv
er

 e
ff

ec
ti

ve
 h

ou
si

ng
 s

ol
ut

io
ns

 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
e 

pr
ev

en
ti

on
 o

f h
om

el
es

sn
es

s .
 

· 
Re

du
ce

 n
um

be
rs

 o
f R

ou
gh

 S
le

ep
er

s.
 

· 
Re

du
ce

 T
em

po
ra

ry
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
(e

xc
ep

t 
fo

r u
se

 in
 e

m
er

ge
nc

y)
. 

· 
Be

d 
&

 B
re

ak
fa

st
 u

sa
ge

. 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f H
om

e 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t A
ge

nc
y 

se
rv

ic
e 

to
 s

up
po

rt
 p

re
ve

nt
io

n .
 

· 
N

um
be

r o
f m

aj
or

 a
da

pt
at

io
ns

 c
om

pl
et

ed
. 

· 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

on
 n

um
be

r o
f p

eo
pl

e 
on

 th
e 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 h

ou
si

ng
 re

gi
st

er
. 

Tr
an

sf
or

m
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

pa
th

w
ay

s 
th

ro
ug

h 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

: 
·  

To
 g

ro
w

 th
e 

Te
le

ca
re

 a
nd

 T
el

eh
ea

lth
 o

ff
er

; 
· 

Im
pl

em
en

t a
 ra

ng
e 

of
 w

eb
-b

as
ed

 s
el

f-
ca

re
 

an
d 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n,

 a
dv

ic
e 

an
d 

gu
id

an
ce

 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 (e

-m
ar

ke
t, 

co
m

m
un

ity
 h

ub
s)

; 
·  

To
 e

xp
lo

re
 a

nd
 ro

ll 
ou

t m
ob

ile
 w

or
ki

ng
 fo

r o
ur

 
w

or
kf

or
ce

 a
nd

 P
op

 U
p 

Ad
ul

ts
 a

nd
 W

el
lb

ei
ng

 
cl

in
ic

s;
 a

nd
 

· 
To

 re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 d

ev
el

op
 o

ur
 c

as
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t 

sy
st

em
 (F

ra
m

ew
or

ki
) a

nd
 p

la
n 

fo
r i

ts
 

su
cc

es
si

on
. 

· 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f c

lie
nt

s 
su

pp
or

te
d 

by
 A

ss
is

tiv
e 

te
ch

no
lo

gy
. 

·  
N

um
be

r o
f a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

n.
 

· 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 w

ai
tin

g 
lis

ts
. 

·  
Ta

ke
 u

p 
of

 te
ch

no
lo

gy
 (e

.g
. h

its
 o

n 
IA

G
 

w
eb

si
te

). 
· 

N
um

be
r o

f p
op

-u
p 

cl
in

ic
s 

he
ld

. 

In
te

gr
at

io
n 

– 
w

or
ki

ng
 m

or
e 

cl
os

el
y 

w
it

h 
ou

r 
pa

rt
ne

r 
ag

en
ci

es
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

cl
ie

nt
s 

ex
pe

ri
en

ce
 

of
 c

ar
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 

Ex
pa

nd
 o

ur
 r

an
ge

 o
f c

o-
co

m
m

is
si

on
in

g 
ac

ti
vi

ti
es

 
w

it
h 

H
ea

lt
h 

to
 o

ff
er

 a
 m

or
e 

jo
in

ed
 u

p 
se

rv
ic

e 
to

 
cl

ie
nt

s,
 to

 in
cl

ud
e :

 
·  

Re
si

de
nt

ia
l a

nd
 N

ur
si

ng
 p

ro
vi

si
on

; 
· 

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s;
 

·  
Le

ar
ni

ng
 D

is
ab

ili
ty

 s
er

vi
ce

s;
 

· 
In

te
gr

at
ed

 P
er

so
na

l B
ud

ge
ts

; a
nd

 
·  

In
te

rm
ed

ia
te

 C
ar

e 
an

d 
H

os
pi

ta
l a

dm
is

si
on

 
pr

ev
en

tio
n.

 

· 
AS

CO
F 

1G
 –

 L
D

 c
lie

nt
 li

vi
ng

 a
t h

om
e 

or
 w

ith
 

fa
m

ily
. 

· 
AS

CO
F 

2A
 –

 ra
te

 o
f p

er
m

an
en

t a
dm

is
si

on
s 

to
 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l a

nd
 n

ur
si

ng
. 

· 
AS

CO
F 

1C
 –

 P
ro

po
rt

io
n 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
us

in
g 

so
ci

al
 

ca
re

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
w

ho
 re

ce
iv

e 
se

lf-
di

re
ct

ed
 

su
pp

or
t,

 a
nd

 th
os

e 
re

ce
iv

in
g 

D
ire

ct
 P

ay
m

en
ts

. 

Im
pl

em
en

t t
he

 B
et

te
r C

ar
e 

Fu
nd

. 
· 

AS
CO

F 
2C

 –
 D

el
ay

ed
 T

ra
ns

fe
rs

 o
f C

ar
e.

 
· 

N
on

-e
le

ct
iv

e 
ad

m
is

si
on

s 
ag

ed
 6

5+
 p

er
 1

00
0 

po
pu

la
tio

n.
 

126



· 
Pe

rm
an

en
t a

dm
is

si
on

s 
to

 re
si

de
nt

ia
l a

nd
 

nu
rs

in
g 

ho
m

es
. 

·  
AS

CO
F 

2B
 - 

O
ld

er
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ho
 w

er
e 

st
ill

 a
t 

ho
m

e 
91

 d
ay

s 
af

te
r d

is
ch

ar
ge

 fr
om

 h
os

pi
ta

l 
in

to
 re

ab
le

m
en

t/
re

ha
bi

lit
at

io
n 

se
rv

ic
es

. 
· 

Cu
st

om
er

 S
at

is
fa

ct
io

n/
U

se
r S

ur
ve

y.
 

· 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 fa

lls
 re

la
te

d 
ad

m
is

si
on

s.
 

Im
pl

em
en

t a
n 

im
pr

ov
ed

 tr
an

si
ti

on
s 

pa
th

w
ay

 a
nd

 
be

 c
om

pl
ia

nt
 w

it
h 

bo
th

 th
e 

Ca
re

 A
ct

 a
nd

 
Ch

ild
re

n’
s 

&
 F

am
ili

es
 A

ct
 

 

D
ev

el
op

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

Pl
an

s 
fo

r:
 

· 
O

be
si

ty
; 

·  
Ph

ys
ic

al
 A

ct
iv

ity
; 

· 
Pu

bl
ic

 M
en

ta
l W

el
lb

ei
ng

; a
nd

 
·  

Su
pp

or
t P

la
nn

in
g 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
pe

er
 s

up
po

rt
 

pl
an

ni
ng

. 

· 
Co

m
m

is
si

on
in

g 
of

 p
at

hw
ay

s 
w

hi
ch

 a
re

 
fin

an
ci

al
ly

 s
us

ta
in

ab
le

. 

Co
m

m
is

si
on

in
g 

– 
en

su
ri

ng
 th

at
 a

ll 
se

rv
ic

es
 

pr
oc

ur
ed

 a
re

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
ne

ed
s 

da
ta

 a
nd

 c
an

 
de

m
on

st
ra

te
 v

al
ue

 fo
r 

m
on

ey
 

Pr
om

ot
e 

Co
-p

ro
du

ct
io

n,
 e

ng
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 c
o-

w
or

ki
ng

 w
it

h 
co

m
m

un
it

ie
s,

 s
er

vi
ce

 u
se

rs
 a

nd
 

ca
re

rs
: 

· 
Co

nt
in

ua
tio

n 
of

 A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
di

sc
us

si
on

 
ab

ou
t f

ut
ur

e 
st

ra
te

gy
. 

· 
Pr

od
uc

e 
an

 a
nn

ua
l ‘

M
ak

in
g 

it 
Re

al
 B

oa
rd

’ 
re

po
rt

. 
·  

Pr
od

uc
e 

th
e 

Lo
ca

l A
cc

ou
nt

. 

Co
m

pl
et

e 
m

ar
ke

t t
es

ti
ng

 a
nd

 r
e-

co
m

m
is

si
on

 th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
co

nt
ra

ct
s:

 
·  

Se
xu

al
 H

ea
lth

; 
· 

Su
bs

ta
nc

e 
M

is
us

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
; 

·  
Ca

re
rs

 H
ea

lth
 &

 W
el

lb
ei

ng
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

(C
ar

er
s 

Br
ea

ks
); 

· 
D

ay
 O

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s;

 a
nd

 
· 

Bl
oc

k 
co

nt
ra

ct
s 

up
 fo

r r
en

ew
al

. 

· 
Re

du
ce

 th
e 

Al
co

ho
l a

tt
rib

ut
ab

le
 a

dm
is

si
on

s 
D

SR
 p

er
 1

00
,0

00
 (N

I3
9)

. 
·  

Re
du

ce
 ra

te
s 

of
 s

yp
hi

lis
 a

nd
 H

IV
. 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f c

ar
er

s 
ta

ki
ng

 s
ho

rt
 

br
ea

ks
. 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f r

es
id

en
ts

 a
cc

es
si

ng
 

da
y 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

. 

To
 w

or
k 

w
it

h 
se

rv
ic

e 
us

er
s 

an
d 

pr
ov

id
er

s 
to

 
in

cr
ea

se
 m

ar
ke

t r
es

ili
en

ce
, t

o 
pr

om
ot

e 
a 

di
ve

rs
e 

m
ar

ke
t a

nd
 im

pr
ov

e 
ac

ce
ss

 a
nd

 c
ho

ic
e 

of
 

· 
AS

CO
F 

-1
C 

– 
Pr

op
or

tio
n 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
us

in
g 

so
ci

al
 

ca
re

 w
ho

 re
ce

iv
e 

se
lf-

di
re

ct
ed

 s
up

po
rt

, a
nd

 
th

os
e 

re
ce

iv
in

g 
di

re
ct

 p
ay

m
en

ts
. 

127



se
rv

ic
es

: 
· 

Pe
rs

on
al

is
at

io
n;

 
·  

Vi
rt

ua
l P

er
so

na
l A

ss
is

ta
nt

 p
oo

l; 
· 

Au
tis

m
, L

D
 e

tc
. P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 B

oa
rd

s;
 

·  
Co

or
di

na
te

 P
ro

vi
de

r F
or

um
s;

 a
nd

 
· 

Fa
ci

lit
at

e 
3 

m
ar

ke
t d

ev
el

op
m

en
t d

ay
s.

 
Re

de
si

gn
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
t s

tr
on

ge
r c

on
tr

ac
t 

m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 q

ua
lit

y 
as

su
ra

nc
e 

fu
nc

ti
on

: 
· 

To
 d

el
iv

er
 a

 s
up

po
rt

iv
e 

qu
al

ity
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
fr

am
ew

or
k 

w
ith

 c
ar

e 
pr

ov
id

er
s 

in
 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
, e

ns
ur

in
g 

st
ro

ng
 a

nd
 e

qu
ita

b l
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

 m
an

ag
em

en
t;

 u
si

ng
 b

ot
h 

ha
rd

 a
nd

 
so

ft
 in

te
lli

ge
nc

e,
 s

ha
rin

g 
go

od
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

pr
ov

id
er

s 
an

d 
in

vo
lv

in
g 

pr
ov

id
er

s 
to

 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
st

an
da

rd
s 

of
 c

ar
e;

 a
nd

 
· 

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
em

be
dd

in
g 

of
 e

le
ct

ro
ni

c 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

sy
st

em
 (E

M
S)

 b
y 

H
om

e 
Ca

re
 

Pr
ov

id
er

s.
 

· 
To

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f c
om

pl
ia

nt
 

pr
ov

id
er

s.
 

· 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f s

er
vi

ce
 u

se
rs

 w
ith

 E
M

S 
in

st
al

le
d.

 

O
pe

ra
ti

on
s 

qu
al

it
y,

 e
ff

ic
ie

nc
y 

an
d 

St
at

ut
or

y 
du

ty
 

de
liv

er
y  

Em
be

d 
vi

si
bl

e 
an

d 
cr

ed
ib

le
 le

ad
er

sh
ip

 a
nd

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t a
cr

os
s 

ou
r d

ir
ec

to
ra

te
: 

· 
Em

be
d 

ne
w

 s
tr

uc
tu

re
s;

 
·  

Im
pr

ov
e 

vi
si

bl
e 

le
ad

er
sh

ip
; 

· 
Su

cc
es

si
on

 a
nd

 c
on

tin
ui

ty
 p

la
ns

 in
 p

la
ce

; 
·  

Im
pl

em
en

t n
ew

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

an
d 

su
pe

rv
is

io
n 

gu
id

an
ce

; 
· 

Se
ni

or
 a

nd
 m

id
dl

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t c
oa

ch
in

g 
in

 
pl

ac
e;

 a
nd

 
· 

Te
am

 d
el

iv
er

y 
pl

an
s 

an
d 

au
di

t a
ss

ur
an

ce
 

fr
am

ew
or

k 
m

on
ito

re
d 

on
 a

 q
ua

rt
er

ly
 b

as
is

. 

· 
Au

di
t S

up
er

vi
si

on
 P

ol
ic

y 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

on
 a

 
qu

ar
te

rly
 b

as
is

. 
· 

Se
ni

or
 M

an
ag

em
en

t p
os

ts
 re

cr
ui

te
d.

 
·  

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 in
 s

ta
ff

 s
ur

ve
y 

fe
ed

ba
ck

. 
· 

D
ire

ct
or

at
e 

ta
rg

et
s 

an
d 

ou
tc

om
es

 a
ch

ie
ve

d.
 

D
el

iv
er

 a
 ra

ng
e 

of
 in

it
ia

ti
ve

s 
to

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 
de

ve
lo

p 
ou

r 
w

or
kf

or
ce

: 
· 

Im
pl

em
en

t t
he

 S
up

er
vi

si
on

 p
ol

ic
y;

 

· 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f c

as
es

 a
ud

ite
d 

as
 g

oo
d/

ex
ce

lle
nt

 
· 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t s

ta
ff

 s
ur

ve
y.

 
· 

Re
du

ct
io

n 
in

 s
ta

ff
 s

ic
kn

es
s.

 

128



· 
Ro

ll 
ou

t Q
ua

lit
y 

As
su

ra
nc

e 
Fr

am
ew

or
k 

to
 

m
on

ito
r a

nd
 im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
qu

al
ity

 o
f o

ur
 s

oc
ia

l 
w

or
k;

 a
nd

 
· 

M
on

ito
rin

g 
an

d 
ev

al
ua

tin
g 

em
pl

oy
ee

 
op

in
io

ns
. 

· 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 re
te

nt
io

n 
of

 s
ta

ff
. 

St
re

ng
th

en
 o

ur
 H

ea
lt

h 
Pr

ot
ec

ti
on

 a
rr

an
ge

m
en

ts
: 

· 
Co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 H

ea
lth

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n 

lo
ca

l 
au

th
or

ity
 d

ut
ie

s;
 a

nd
 

·  
D

el
iv

er
 th

e 
lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

rit
y 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

 
st

at
ut

or
y 

du
tie

s.
 

· 
Q

ua
rt

er
ly

 H
ea

lth
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 
m

ee
tin

gs
. 

· 
Q

ua
rt

er
ly

 W
es

t M
er

ci
a 

LH
RP

. 
·  

Q
ua

rt
er

ly
 re

po
rt

s 
to

 th
e 

H
ea

lth
 a

nd
 W

el
lb

ei
ng

 
Bo

ar
d.

 
Im

pl
em

en
t M

ak
in

g 
Sa

fe
gu

ar
di

ng
 P

er
so

na
l. 

· 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f s

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g 

as
se

ss
m

en
ts

 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 in
 2

8 
da

ys
. 

·  
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f s

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g 

ca
se

s 
w

he
re

 c
lie

nt
 

fe
el

s 
sa

fe
r a

s 
a 

re
su

lt 
of

 th
e 

sa
fe

gu
ar

di
ng

 
in

te
rv

en
tio

n.
 

· 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f c

as
es

 w
he

re
 s

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g 

de
ci

si
on

 is
 m

ad
e 

w
ith

in
 2

 d
ay

s.
 

D
el

iv
er

 a
 s

us
ta

in
ab

le
 fi

na
nc

ia
l p

os
it

io
n,

 a
nd

 
ac

hi
ev

e 
sa

vi
ng

s 
ta

rg
et

s:
 

·  
Co

nt
in

ue
 to

 m
on

ito
r o

ur
 fi

na
nc

ia
l p

os
iti

on
 s

o 
th

at
 w

e 
ca

n 
m

ee
t t

he
 re

du
ce

d 
bu

dg
et

 
po

si
tio

n.
 

· 
O

n 
or

 u
nd

er
 b

ud
ge

t f
or

 2
01

5/
16

. 
· 

D
yn

am
ic

 b
ud

ge
t m

an
ag

em
en

t i
n 

pl
ac

e.
 

· 
D

ev
ol

ve
d 

bu
dg

et
s 

in
 p

la
ce

. 

Im
pr

ov
e 

da
ta

 q
ua

lit
y 

an
d 

re
co

rd
 m

an
ag

em
en

t t
o 

en
ab

le
 e

vi
de

nc
ed

 b
as

ed
 c

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
an

d 
pr

ov
id

e 
ou

tc
om

e 
fo

cu
ss

ed
 p

er
fo

rm
an

c e
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t:

 
· 

Re
gu

la
r a

ud
it 

of
 c

as
e 

re
co

rd
s;

 
·  

Ad
di

tio
na

l t
ra

in
in

g 
fo

r a
ll 

st
af

f; 
an

d 
· 

In
cl

ud
e 

as
 c

or
e 

ob
je

ct
iv

e 
in

 a
ll 

st
af

f P
D

P’
s 

de
liv

er
y 

of
 g

oo
d 

da
ta

 q
ua

lit
y.

 

· 
Q

ua
rt

er
ly

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 re
vi

ew
s.

 
· 

In
di

vi
du

al
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 re

vi
ew

s.
 

· 
Sp

ot
lig

ht
 o

n 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 q

ua
rt

er
ly

 in
 e

ac
h 

te
am

. 

129



CH
IL

D
RE

N
’S

 W
EL

LB
EI

N
G

 

D
IR

EC
TO

RA
TE

 P
RI

O
RI

TI
ES

 2
01

5/
16

 

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Pl

an
 P

ri
or

it
ie

s 
 

· 
En

ab
le

 R
es

id
en

ts
 to

 b
e 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t a

nd
 le

ad
 fu

lfi
lli

ng
 li

ve
s 

-
 

Pr
ot

ec
tin

g 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
gi

vi
ng

 th
em

 a
 g

re
at

 s
ta

rt
 in

 li
fe

. 
-

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 e
xc

el
le

nt
 e

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

le
ar

ni
ng

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
at

 a
ll 

le
ve

ls
. 

-
 

O
ut

co
m

es
 fo

r c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 im

pr
ov

e.
 

-
 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
eq

ua
lit

y 
of

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 a
nd

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 re

du
ce

 in
eq

ua
lit

y 
in

 h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 w

el
lb

ei
ng

 o
ut

co
m

es
. 

-
 

Pu
bl

ic
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

ar
e 

pr
io

rit
is

ed
 to

 s
up

po
rt

 th
os

e 
in

 n
ee

d 
of

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
to

 m
ai

nt
ai

n 
th

ei
r i

nd
ep

en
de

nc
e 

of
 s

ta
y 

sa
fe

. 
-

 
Pe

op
le

 a
re

 a
ct

iv
e 

in
 th

ei
r c

om
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 lo

ok
 o

ut
 fo

r t
he

 m
or

e 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 s
o 

th
ey

 c
an

 li
ve

 m
or

e 
in

de
pe

nd
en

tly
 

Ke
y 

O
ut

co
m

es
  

· 
Pr

op
or

tio
n 

of
 p

up
ils

 a
tt

ai
ni

ng
 5

 G
CS

E’
s 

A
-C

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
En

gl
is

h 
an

d 
M

at
hs

 (T
op

 q
ua

rt
ile

 n
at

io
na

lly
 b

y 
20

16
) (

H
C.

04
). 

· 
Th

e 
at

ta
in

m
en

t g
ap

 a
t a

ge
 1

6 
be

tw
ee

n 
fr

ee
 s

ch
oo

l m
ea

l p
up

ils
 a

nd
 th

ei
r p

ee
rs

 (T
op

 q
ua

rt
ile

 n
at

io
na

lly
 b

y 
20

16
) (

H
C.

05
). 

· 
Im

pr
ov

e 
O

fs
te

d 
ra

tin
g 

of
 S

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g 

Ch
ild

re
n 

to
 b

e 
go

od
 b

y 
20

16
 (H

C.
06

). 
· 

Va
lu

e 
fo

r m
on

ey
 w

ill
 in

cr
ea

se
 (H

C.
03

). 
W

ha
t w

e 
w

an
t t

o 
ac

hi
ev

e 
Ke

y 
ac

ti
on

s 
H

ow
 s

uc
ce

ss
 w

ill
 b

e 
m

ea
su

re
d:

 

Ed
uc

at
io

n 
O

ut
co

m
es

 
Im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
ed

uc
at

io
na

l a
tt

ai
nm

en
t a

nd
 p

ro
gr

es
s 

so
 th

at
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 is
 in

 th
e 

to
p 

qu
ar

til
e 

in
 

20
16

/1
7 .

 
 Th

is
 in

cl
ud

es
 L

oo
ke

d 
A

ft
er

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 g

ro
u p

s 
pa

rt
ic

ul
ar

ly
 in

 re
la

tio
n 

to
 

pr
og

re
ss

 g
ap

s 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 th

ei
r p

ee
rs

. 
 

· 
Co

nt
in

ue
 d

ev
el

op
in

g 
th

e 
sc

ho
ol

 to
 s

ch
oo

l 
su

pp
or

t c
ar

rie
d 

ou
t i

n 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
w

ith
 th

e 
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 S
ch

oo
l I

m
pr

ov
em

en
t 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p.

 
· 

Co
nt

in
ue

 d
ev

el
op

in
g 

th
e 

‘C
lo

si
ng

 th
e 

ga
p 

ap
pr

oa
ch

’ s
o 

ch
ild

re
n/

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
as

 v
ul

ne
ra

bl
e 

an
d/

or
 w

ho
 a

re
 n

ot
 a

ch
ie

vi
ng

 
ar

e 
tr

ac
ke

d.
 W

he
re

 s
et

tin
gs

 a
re

 n
ot

 c
on

fid
en

t 
th

at
 th

e 
ch

ild
/y

ou
ng

 p
er

so
n 

w
ill

 m
ee

t t
he

 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 le

ve
l a

t t
he

 n
ex

t k
ey

 s
ta

ge
, a

 m
ul

ti -
 

di
sc

ip
lin

ar
y 

pl
an

 is
 p

ut
 in

 p
la

ce
 a

nd
 

m
on

ito
re

d.
 

· 
An

 a
nn

ua
l r

ep
or

t o
n 

at
ta

in
m

en
t a

nd
 p

ro
gr

es
s 

w
hi

ch
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

na
ly

si
s 

of
 a

ll 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 
gr

ou
ps

 a
nd

 s
ch

oo
ls

. 
· 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f p
up

ils
 a

tt
en

di
ng

 a
 s

ch
oo

l a
nd

 o
r 

se
tt

in
g 

th
at

 is
 g

oo
d 

an
d 

or
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
: 

-
 

Pr
im

ar
y 

– 
90

%
 

-
 

Se
co

nd
ar

y 
– 

95
%

 

Re
du

ce
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 a
re

 n
ot

 
in

 e
du

ca
tio

n,
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t o

r t
ra

in
in

g 
so

 w
e 

ar
e 

in
 
· 

Pr
oa

ct
iv

el
y 

m
on

ito
r a

nd
 e

va
lu

at
e 

th
e 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

M
ar

ch
es

 S
ki

lls
 p

la
n 

· 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

no
t i

n 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t e
du

ca
tio

n 
or

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 is
 le

ss
 th

an
 

130



th
e 

to
p 

qu
ar

til
e 

of
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 n

at
io

na
lly

 a
nd

 
th

os
e 

w
ho

se
 d

es
tin

at
io

n 
is

 n
ot

 k
no

w
n 

ac
ro

ss
 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 to

 le
ss

 th
an

 2
%

 lo
ca

lly
. 

 

w
ith

 p
ar

tic
ul

ar
 re

fe
re

nc
e 

to
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

. 
· 

Re
vi

ew
 th

e 
ex

pe
rie

nc
es

 o
f y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

an
d 

th
e 

im
pa

ct
 o

f p
ro

gr
am

m
es

 to
 in

fo
rm

 a
nd

 
de

ve
lo

p 
pr

ac
tic

e 
on

 a
 m

on
th

ly
 b

as
is

. I
nc

lu
de

 
ev

id
en

ce
 fr

om
 p

ub
lic

 h
ea

lth
 li

fe
st

yl
es

 s
ur

ve
y 

on
 th

os
e 

N
ot

 in
 E

du
ca

tio
n 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t o

r 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
. 

· 
Fo

r t
ho

se
 w

ith
 le

ar
ni

ng
 d

iff
ic

ul
tie

s 
an

d 
di

sa
bi

lit
ie

s,
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f a

 w
id

er
 ra

ng
e 

of
 s

up
po

rt
 in

to
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t t

hr
ou

gh
 th

e 
w

or
k 

of
 th

e 
16

-2
5 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t G
ro

up
. 

5.
5%

. 
· 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ho
se

 
de

st
in

at
io

n 
is

 n
ot

 k
no

w
n 

is
 le

ss
 th

an
 2

%
. 

H
ig

h 
qu

al
ity

, f
in

an
ci

al
ly

 s
us

ta
in

ab
le

 s
ch

oo
ls

 a
cr

os
s 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
. 

· 
D

ev
el

op
 lo

ng
 te

rm
 p

ro
po

sa
ls

 fo
r s

ch
oo

l 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

to
 in

cl
ud

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
pt

io
ns

. 
(E

du
ca

tio
n 

Ca
pi

ta
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t S
tr

at
eg

y 
to

 b
e 

ag
re

ed
 a

ut
um

n 
20

15
). 

·  
Co

nt
in

ue
 to

 re
vi

ew
 im

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 fo

r r
ev

is
ed

 
na

tio
na

l s
ch

oo
l f

un
di

ng
 fo

rm
ul

a 
in

 p
ar

tic
ul

ar
 

its
 re

le
va

nc
e 

to
 th

e 
de

m
og

ra
ph

ic
s 

of
 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 s
pe

ci
al

is
t p

ro
vi

si
on

. 

· 
Vi

a 
te

rm
ly

 re
po

rt
s 

on
 th

e 
nu

m
be

rs
 p

la
ce

d 
in

 
sp

ec
ia

lis
t p

ro
vi

si
on

. 
· 

Pe
r c

ap
ita

 s
pe

nd
. 

· 
N

o 
sc

ho
ol

s 
go

in
g 

in
 to

 d
ef

ic
it.

 

Im
pl

em
en

ta
ti

on
 o

f C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

&
 F

am
ili

es
 

A
ct

/C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

it
h 

D
is

ab
ili

ti
es

 
Im

pl
em

en
t t

he
 C

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ith

 D
is

ab
ili

tie
s 

st
ra

te
gy

 
th

at
 in

co
rp

or
at

es
 th

e 
de

liv
er

y 
of

 th
e 

ed
uc

at
io

n,
 

he
al

th
 &

 c
ar

e 
pl

an
. 

· 
Im

pl
em

en
t p

er
so

na
l b

ud
ge

ts
. 

· 
Co

nt
in

ue
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

hi
gh

 q
ua

lit
y 

‘L
oc

al
 

O
ff

er
’ o

f i
nf

or
m

at
io

n,
 s

er
vi

ce
s/

pr
ov

is
io

n 
in

 
co

lla
bo

ra
tio

n 
fa

m
ili

es
 a

nd
 p

ro
vi

de
rs

 in
 li

ai
so

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f i

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

an
d 

ad
vi

ce
 g

ui
da

nc
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 w
ith

 A
du

lts
 

W
el

lb
ei

ng
. 

· 
St

at
ut

or
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t m

et
 fo

r E
du

ca
tio

n 
H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 S
oc

ia
l C

ar
e 

pl
an

s.
 

·  
Al

l e
lig

ib
le

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
of

fe
re

d 
pe

rs
on

al
 

bu
dg

et
 –

 to
 b

e 
re

po
rt

ed
 te

rm
ly

. 
· 

Ed
uc

at
io

n 
he

al
th

 a
nd

 c
ar

e 
pl

an
s 

ar
e 

pr
od

uc
ed

 
to

 2
0 

w
ee

k 
tim

es
ca

le
. 

Re
de

si
gn

 o
f a

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ith
 D

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
se

rv
ic

e 
th

at
 is

 fi
t f

or
 p

ur
po

se
 a

nd
 m

ee
ts

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

. 
 

· 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 C

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ith

 D
is

ab
ili

tie
s 

se
rv

ic
e 

re
de

si
gn

 to
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

e 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 
ta

rg
et

in
g 

of
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

to
 m

ee
t t

he
 n

ee
ds

 o
f t

he
 

cl
ie

nt
 g

ro
up

. 

· 
Su

pp
or

t m
or

e 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 in

 to
 lo

ca
l 

se
rv

ic
es

. 
·  

A 
re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 u

se
 o

f i
ns

tit
ut

io
na

lis
ed

 
ca

re
/s

pe
nd

. 
· 

16
-1

8 
ca

se
s 

be
in

g 
w

or
ke

d 
on

 b
y 

ea
ch

 s
oc

ia
l 

w
or

ke
r.

 

131



Re
-s

ha
pi

ng
 in

te
gr

at
ed

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r 
fa

m
ili

es
 

Im
pl

em
en

t t
he

 fa
m

ili
es

 fi
rs

t (
tr

ou
bl

ed
 fa

m
ili

es
) 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

ac
ro

ss
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 to
 ta

rg
et

 th
e 

m
os

t v
ul

ne
ra

bl
e 

fa
m

ili
es

. 

· 
Im

pr
ov

e 
da

ta
 s

ha
rin

g,
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 g
re

at
er

 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g 

of
 n

ee
ds

 to
 

im
pr

ov
e/

co
m

m
is

si
on

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
ac

ro
ss

 th
e 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p.

 
·  

Im
pl

em
en

t n
ex

t 5
 y

ea
r p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
an

d 
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

ly
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 th
e 

nu
m

be
r o

f 
fa

m
ili

es
 s

up
po

rt
ed

 a
nd

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t.
 

· 
N

um
be

r o
f f

am
ili

es
 tu

rn
ed

 a
ro

un
d 

– 
to

 b
e 

ad
vi

se
d 

as
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 p
ha

se
 2

 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

(1
,0

60
 fa

m
ili

es
 o

ve
r 5

 y
ea

r 
pe

rio
d)

. 

D
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

t a
 w

ho
le

 s
ys

te
m

s 
fr

am
ew

or
k 

to
 m

an
ag

e 
fa

m
ily

 p
at

hw
ay

s 
fr

om
 e

ar
ly

 
he

lp
 to

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 i n

te
rv

en
tio

n.
 

 

· 
Co

nt
in

ue
 to

 e
m

be
d 

th
e 

ne
w

 le
ve

l o
f n

ee
ds

 
gu

id
an

ce
. 

·  
Co

ns
ul

t d
ev

el
op

 a
nd

 a
gr

ee
 th

e 
pr

io
rit

ie
s/

ac
tio

ns
 n

ee
de

d 
to

 m
an

ag
e 

th
e 

fa
m

ily
 p

at
hw

ay
s.

 
· 

M
ar

ke
t a

nd
 c

om
m

un
ity

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t t
o 

in
cr

ea
se

 th
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
of

 u
ni

ve
rs

al
 

se
rv

ic
es

 in
 d

ea
lin

g 
w

ith
 fa

m
ily

 is
su

es
. 

·  
Re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 d
ev

el
op

 In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

Ad
vi

ce
 a

nd
 

G
ui

da
nc

e 
so

 fa
m

ili
es

 c
an

 h
el

p 
th

em
se

lv
es

. 
· 

O
ng

oi
ng

 re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 e

va
lu

at
io

n 
of

 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s 

of
 p

re
ve

nt
at

iv
e/

ea
rly

 
in

te
rv

en
tio

n 
ap

pr
oa

ch
. 

·  
Es

ta
bl

is
hm

en
t o

f I
nt

eg
ra

te
d 

Ea
rly

 Y
ea

rs
 

St
ra

te
gy

. 

· 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f f

am
ili

es
 b

ei
ng

 
re

fe
rr

ed
 to

 h
ig

he
r l

ev
el

 o
f n

ee
d 

se
rv

ic
es

. 
·  

16
-1

8 
ca

se
s 

be
in

g 
w

or
ke

d 
on

 b
y 

ea
ch

 s
oc

ia
l 

w
or

ke
r.

 
· 

70
%

 o
f a

ud
its

 d
em

on
st

ra
te

 th
at

 th
er

e 
is

 a
 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
of

 th
re

sh
ol

ds
 a

cr
os

s 
ag

en
ci

es
. 

· 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t i
n 

Ed
uc

at
io

n 
an

d 
he

al
th

 
ou

tc
om

es
 a

t a
ge

 5
 y

ea
rs

. 

Th
e 

de
liv

er
y 

of
 a

 1
6+

 s
er

vi
ce

 th
at

 is
 fi

t f
or

 p
ur

po
se

 
an

d 
m

ee
ts

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
. 

· 
Es

ta
bl

is
h 

sc
op

e 
of

 a
 tr

an
sf

or
m

ed
 s

er
vi

ce
 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
po

te
nt

ia
l t

o 
m

er
ge

 w
ith

 
co

m
pl

im
en

ta
ry

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
n 

in
te

gr
at

ed
 m

od
el

. 
·  

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 a
n 

in
te

gr
at

ed
 y

ou
th

 
su

pp
or

t s
er

vi
ce

 to
 re

du
ce

 d
up

lic
at

io
n 

of
 

se
rv

ic
e 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
to

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e;
 im

pr
ov

in
g 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 c

on
tin

ui
ty

 o
f s

er
vi

ce
 p

ro
vi

si
on

. 

· 
A 

nu
m

be
r o

f y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
in

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 
ho

us
in

g,
 in

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t e
du

ca
tio

n 
or

 tr
ai

ni
ng

.  
· 

N
um

be
r o

f C
hi

ld
re

n 
ac

ce
ss

in
g 

w
or

k 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

an
d 

in
te

rv
ie

w
 s

up
po

rt
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 

th
e 

bu
si

ne
ss

es
 o

f H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
. 

Pl
ac

in
g 

lo
ok

ed
 a

ft
er

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
lo

ca
lly

 w
he

re
ve

r 
· 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 In

te
ns

iv
e 

Pl
ac

em
en

t S
up

po
rt

 
· 

Ch
ild

re
n 

w
ill

 b
e 

pl
ac

ed
 in

 fa
m

ily
 b

as
ed

 

132



po
ss

ib
le

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t o

f p
la

ce
m

en
t 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t s

er
vi

ce
s,

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
of

 a
n 

in
te

gr
at

ed
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 p

at
hw

ay
. 

se
rv

ic
e 

de
liv

er
s 

a 
re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f 

ch
ild

re
n 

in
 re

si
de

nt
ia

l a
nd

 o
ut

 o
f c

ou
nt

y 
pl

ac
em

en
ts

, a
nd

 re
du

ce
 th

e 
as

so
ci

at
ed

 c
os

ts
 

an
d 

de
liv

er
 s

av
in

gs
 

se
tt

in
gs

 in
 c

ou
nt

y 
to

 e
na

bl
e 

th
em

 to
 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
th

e 
be

st
 p

os
si

bl
e 

ca
re

 a
nd

 a
ch

ie
ve

 
th

ei
r f

ul
l p

ot
en

tia
l. 

O
pe

ra
ti

on
al

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

En
su

re
 im

pr
ov

em
en

t i
n 

th
e 

tim
el

in
es

s 
an

d 
qu

al
ity

 
of

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
w

ith
in

 S
af

eg
ua

rd
in

g 
&

 E
ar

ly
 H

el
p .

 

· 
D

ec
is

io
n 

m
ak

in
g 

on
 th

e 
sa

m
e 

w
or

ki
ng

 d
ay

 o
f 

th
e 

co
nt

ac
t, 

th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

of
 

a 
Q

ua
lif

ie
d 

So
ci

al
 W

or
ke

r,
 a

nd
 to

 a
ch

ie
ve

 
co

m
pl

et
io

n 
of

 a
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 w
ith

in
 ti

m
es

ca
le

. 
· 

D
ec

is
io

ns
 m

ad
e 

w
ith

in
 a

gr
ee

d 
tim

es
ca

le
s 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
w

ho
le

 s
ys

te
m

; i
.e

. w
ith

in
 th

e 
m

ul
ti-

ag
en

cy
 s

af
eg

ua
rd

in
g 

hu
b,

 th
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

in
 n

ee
d 

te
am

s 
an

d 
th

e 
lo

ok
ed

 a
ft

er
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

te
am

s.
 

·  
Ch

ild
re

n 
re

ce
iv

e 
th

e 
su

pp
or

t a
nd

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n 

th
ey

 n
ee

d 
in

 a
 ti

m
el

y 
m

an
ne

r.
 

· 
95

%
 o

f c
on

ta
ct

s 
an

d 
re

fe
rr

al
s 

re
ce

iv
ed

 
pr

og
re

ss
ed

 w
ith

in
 2

4 
ho

ur
s.

 
·  

CP
 v

is
its

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 w

ith
in

 ti
m

es
ca

le
. 

· 
LA

C 
vi

si
ts

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 w

ith
in

 ti
m

es
ca

le
. 

Im
pl

em
en

t a
n 

ov
er

al
l w

or
kf

or
ce

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
th

at
 

de
liv

er
s 

a 
ca

pa
bl

e,
 s

ta
bl

e,
 s

us
ta

in
ab

le
 a

nd
 

af
fo

rd
ab

le
 w

or
kf

or
ce

 in
 o

rd
er

 to
 im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
qu

al
ity

 a
nd

 c
on

tin
ui

ty
 o

f s
oc

ia
l c

ar
e 

ex
pe

rie
nc

ed
 

by
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d 

fa
m

ili
es

. 

Im
pl

em
en

t p
ha

se
 2

 o
f t

he
 w

or
kf

or
ce

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
st

ra
te

gy
 a

nd
 1

5/
16

 W
or

kf
or

ce
 T

ra
in

in
g 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

ac
ro

ss
 C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
W

el
lb

ei
ng

. T
o 

in
cl

ud
e:

 
· 

Re
cr

ui
tm

en
t a

nd
 re

te
nt

io
n 

pl
an

s;
 

·  
W

or
kf

or
ce

 in
du

ct
io

n 
an

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t;
 

· 
Le

ad
er

sh
ip

 a
nd

 e
ng

ag
em

en
t;

 
·  

W
or

ki
ng

 to
ol

s,
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t a
nd

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t;

 
· 

W
or

kl
oa

d 
an

d 
ca

se
 a

llo
ca

tio
n;

 a
nd

 
· 

Su
pe

rv
is

io
n 

an
d 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 m
an

ag
em

en
t.

 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
d 

av
er

ag
e 

te
nu

re
 (l

ea
ve

rs
 a

nd
 c

ur
re

nt
 

in
te

rim
 a

nd
 p

er
m

an
en

t s
ta

ff
). 

· 
Pr

of
ile

 - 
%

 o
f e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
ro

le
s 

fil
le

d 
by

 
in

te
rim

 s
ta

ff
 (r

ed
uc

ed
 to

 <
30

%
). 

· 
Fe

w
er

 th
an

 5
 p

er
m

an
en

t S
oc

ia
l W

or
ke

r 
le

av
er

s.
 

·  
16

-1
8 

ca
se

s 
be

in
g 

w
or

ke
d 

on
 b

y 
ea

ch
 s

oc
ia

l 
w

or
ke

r.
 

 

133



EC
O

N
O

M
Y,

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
IE

S 
&

 C
O

RP
O

RA
TE

 

D
IR

EC
TO

RA
TE

 P
RI

O
RI

TI
ES

 2
01

5/
16

 

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Pl

an
 P

ri
or

it
ie

s 
· 

Cr
ea

te
 a

nd
 m

ai
nt

ai
n 

a 
su

cc
es

sf
ul

 e
co

no
m

y 
-

 
En

co
ur

ag
e 

in
di

vi
du

al
s,

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 a
nd

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

ns
 d

o 
m

or
e 

fo
r t

he
m

se
lv

es
 a

nd
 fo

r t
he

ir 
lo

ca
l a

re
a.

 
-

 
Su

pp
or

ts
 e

co
no

m
ic

 g
ro

w
th

 a
nd

 c
on

ne
ct

iv
ity

 (i
nc

lu
de

s 
br

oa
db

an
d,

 lo
ca

l i
nf

ra
st

ru
ct

ur
e,

 tr
an

sp
or

t a
nd

 e
co

no
m

ic
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t)

. 
-

 
Su

pp
or

ts
 th

e 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t i
n 

qu
al

ity
 o

f o
ur

 n
at

ur
al

 a
nd

 b
ui

lt 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t.
 

-
 

Em
br

ac
es

 n
ew

 w
ay

s 
of

 re
sp

on
di

ng
 to

 c
ha

ng
in

g 
pr

es
su

re
s 

(in
cl

ud
es

 s
us

ta
in

ab
le

 a
nd

 m
or

e 
lo

ca
l w

at
er

, f
ue

l a
nd

 fo
od

 s
up

pl
ie

s)
. 

-
 

H
as

 v
ib

ra
nt

 to
w

n 
ce

nt
re

s 
w

ith
 s

ho
ps

, r
es

ta
ur

an
ts

 a
nd

 le
is

ur
e 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
th

at
 k

ee
p 

pe
op

le
 s

pe
nd

in
g 

lo
ca

lly
. 

Ke
y 

O
ut

co
m

es
 

· 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 ro

ad
 c

on
di

tio
ns

 (H
C.

07
). 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
 m

ed
ia

n 
w

ag
es

 in
 th

e 
co

un
ty

 fa
st

er
 th

an
 th

e 
W

es
t M

id
la

nd
s 

re
gi

on
 (H

C.
08

). 
· 

Bu
ild

 m
or

e 
ho

m
es

 fo
r a

ll 
te

nu
re

s 
(H

C.
09

). 
· 

Va
lu

e 
fo

r m
on

ey
 w

ill
 in

cr
ea

se
 (H

C.
03

). 
W

ha
t w

e 
w

an
t t

o 
ac

hi
ev

e 
Ke

y 
ac

ti
on

s 
H

ow
 s

uc
ce

ss
 w

ill
 b

e 
m

ea
su

re
d:

 

Be
tt

er
 m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 o

f e
xi

st
in

g 
ro

ad
s 

M
aj

or
 in

ve
st

m
en

t i
n 

th
e 

hi
gh

w
ay

 a
ss

et
 to

 d
el

iv
er

 
su

st
ai

ne
d 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t i

n 
ro

ad
 c

on
di

tio
n.

 

· 
Co

nt
in

ue
 to

 im
pl

em
en

t a
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
of

 ro
ad

 
co

nd
iti

on
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 a

cr
os

s 
th

e 
co

un
ty

 
th

ro
ug

h 
a 

ta
rg

et
ed

 a
ss

et
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
st

ra
te

gy
. 

·  
D

el
iv

er
 P

ub
lic

 R
ea

lm
 A

nn
ua

l P
la

n 
20

15
/1

6 
w

ith
 B

al
fo

ur
 B

ea
tt

y 
Li

vi
ng

 P
la

ce
s.

 

· 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 ro

ad
 c

on
di

tio
ns

. 
· 

Re
du

ct
io

n 
in

 n
um

be
r o

f p
eo

pl
e 

ki
lle

d 
an

d 
se

rio
us

ly
 in

ju
re

d 
in

 ro
ad

 tr
af

fic
 c

ol
lis

io
ns

 in
 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
. 

Bu
ild

 n
ew

 ro
ad

 in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 to

 s
up

po
rt

 g
ro

w
th

 
Co

m
pl

et
e 

th
e 

H
er

ef
or

d 
Ci

ty
 C

en
tr

e 
Li

nk
 R

oa
d 

sc
he

m
e 

w
hi

ch
 s

up
po

rt
s/

en
ab

le
s 

re
ge

ne
ra

tio
n 

of
 

th
e 

ur
ba

n 
vi

lla
ge

 b
y 

pr
ov

id
in

g 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t a

re
a  

th
at

 w
ill

 e
ve

nt
ua

lly
 d

el
iv

er
 8

00
 

ho
us

es
 a

nd
 7

60
 jo

bs
. 

· 
Co

m
m

en
ce

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
w

or
ks

 in
 S

pr
in

g 
20

15
. 

· 
Ro

ad
 c

om
pl

et
e 

an
d 

op
en

 in
 2

01
6.

 

D
ev

el
op

 S
ou

th
 W

ye
 P

ac
ka

ge
 w

hi
ch

 w
ill

 in
cl

ud
e 

a 
ne

w
 ro

ad
 li

nk
 fr

om
 th

e 
A

49
 –

 B
43

49
 (1

st
 p

ha
se

 o
f 

W
es

te
rn

 R
el

ie
f R

oa
d)

 to
 s

up
po

rt
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f 

· 
Se

cu
re

 p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 fo
r n

ew
 ro

ad
 

du
rin

g 
20

15
/1

6.
 

· 
Pr

ep
ar

e 
fo

r C
PO

 p
ro

ce
ss

. 

· 
Ac

hi
ev

em
en

t o
f p

la
nn

in
g 

pe
rm

is
si

on
. 

134



th
e 

H
er

ef
or

d 
En

te
rp

ris
e 

Zo
ne

. T
hi

s 
w

ill
 e

ve
nt

ua
lly

 
de

liv
er

 1
,1

00
 h

ou
se

s 
an

d 
1,

10
0 

jo
bs

. 
Re

vi
se

 a
nd

 d
el

iv
er

 tr
an

sp
or

t s
tr

at
eg

y 
Re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 d
el

iv
er

 tr
an

sp
or

t s
tr

at
eg

y 
to

 s
up

po
rt

 
ac

ce
ss

 a
nd

 e
co

no
m

ic
 g

ro
w

th
 a

nd
 to

 s
up

po
rt

 th
e 

Co
re

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
an

d 
se

cu
re

 fu
nd

in
g.

 

· 
D

ev
el

op
 n

ew
 L

oc
al

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
 P

la
n 

(L
TP

) 
20

16
/1

7,
 a

nd
 a

do
pt

 b
y 

fu
ll 

co
un

ci
l. 

· 
Ad

op
te

d 
LT

P.
 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
d 

le
ve

ls
 o

f c
yc

lin
g.

 
·  

Im
pr

ov
ed

 a
ve

ra
ge

 jo
ur

ne
y 

tim
e 

pe
r m

ile
 in

 
H

er
ef

or
d 

Ci
ty

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

m
or

ni
ng

 p
ea

k.
 

· 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 lo

ca
l b

us
 p

un
ct

ua
lit

y.
 

D
el

iv
er

 w
as

te
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t t

o 
re

du
ce

 
co

st
 a

nd
 in

cr
ea

se
 re

cy
cl

in
g,

 a
nd

 r
ed

uc
e 

CO
2 

em
is

si
on

s 
th

ro
ug

h 
re

du
ce

d 
en

er
gy

 c
on

su
m

pt
io

n 
an

d 
as

so
ci

at
ed

 c
ar

bo
n 

em
is

si
on

s  

· 
Co

m
m

is
si

on
, o

n 
sc

he
du

le
, a

 Jo
in

t E
ne

rg
y 

fr
om

 
W

as
te

 fa
ci

lit
y 

w
ith

 W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ire
 C

ou
nt

y 
Co

un
ci

l. 
·  

Pr
om

ot
e 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
ca

pt
ur

e 
of

 re
cy

cl
in

g 
an

d 
re

du
ce

 re
si

du
al

 w
as

te
. 

·  
D

el
iv

er
 e

ne
rg

y 
ef

fic
ie

nc
y 

an
d 

re
ne

w
ab

le
 

sc
he

m
es

 o
n 

an
 in

ve
st

 to
 s

av
e 

ba
si

s:
 

o
 

LE
D

 s
tr

ee
tli

gh
t i

nv
es

tm
en

t p
ro

gr
am

m
e;

 
o

 
So

la
r P

V 
in

ve
st

m
en

t p
ro

gr
am

m
e;

 a
nd

 
o

 
Bu

ild
in

g 
ef

fic
ie

nc
y 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e.

 
· 

Re
fr

es
h 

an
d 

ex
te

nd
 th

e 
co

un
ci

l’s
 c

ar
bo

n 
m

an
ag

em
en

t s
tr

at
eg

y.
 

· 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 re

si
du

al
 w

as
te

 p
er

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
. 

· 
M

ax
im

is
e 

th
e 

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
 w

as
te

 s
en

t f
or

 
re

us
e,

 re
cy

cl
in

g 
an

d 
co

m
po

st
in

g.
 

·  
Re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 %

 o
f m

un
ic

ip
al

 w
as

te
 g

oi
ng

 to
 

la
nd

fil
l. 

· 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 C

O
2 

em
is

si
on

s 
fr

om
 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
op

er
at

io
ns

. 
·  

M
ax

im
is

e 
in

co
m

e 
fr

om
 re

ne
w

ab
le

 e
ne

rg
y 

so
ur

ce
s.

 
· 

M
in

im
is

e 
th

e 
co

un
ci

l’s
 e

ne
rg

y 
sp

en
d.

 

Th
e 

M
ar

ch
es

 (H
er

ef
or

d)
 E

nt
er

pr
is

e 
Zo

ne
 

W
e 

w
ill

 m
an

ag
e 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t o

f t
he

 H
er

ef
or

d 
En

te
rp

ris
e 

Zo
ne

 in
 R

ot
he

rw
as

.  C
re

at
e 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t a

nd
 fa

ci
lit

at
e 

bu
si

ne
ss

 e
xp

an
si

on
 

th
ro

ug
h 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
of

 s
er

vi
ce

d 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t l
an

d.
 

M
an

ag
e 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t o

f t
he

 H
er

ef
or

d 
En

te
rp

ris
e 

Zo
ne

 in
cl

ud
in

g:
 

· 
Th

e 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

of
 s

er
vi

ce
d 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t l

an
d 

to
 

th
e 

m
ar

ke
t. 

· 
Th

e 
pr

om
ot

io
n 

an
d 

sa
le

s 
of

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
pl

ot
s.

 
· 

Th
e 

cr
ea

tio
n 

of
 a

 ra
ng

e 
of

 b
us

in
es

s 
su

pp
or

t 
ne

tw
or

ks
 a

nd
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

. 

· 
17

 a
cr

es
 o

f l
an

d 
so

ld
. 

· 
18

0,
00

0 
sq

. f
t.

 o
f w

or
ks

pa
ce

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n.

 
·  

15
0 

jo
b 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
in

 in
ve

st
m

en
t 

co
m

m
itm

en
ts

. 

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

sk
ill

s/
kn

ow
le

dg
e 

ba
se

 w
it

hi
n 

th
e 

c o
un

ty
 

· 
Su

pp
or

t d
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f a

 H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 

U
ni

ve
rs

ity
, d

ev
el

op
in

g 
th

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
 c

as
e 

an
d 

co
nf

irm
 s

ite
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s.

 

· 
Si

te
s 

be
in

g 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

to
 th

e 
U

ni
ve

rs
ity

. 

In
flu

en
ce

 th
e 

in
cr

ea
se

 in
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t 

· 
W

or
k 

w
ith

 lo
ca

l b
us

in
es

se
s,

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
an

d 
· 

In
cr

ea
se

 th
e 

%
 o

f t
he

 w
or

ki
ng

 p
op

ul
at

io
n 

in
 

135



th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 a
nd

 in
cr

ea
se

 in
 th

e 
av

er
ag

e 
w

ag
e 

le
ve

ls
 

ag
en

ci
es

 a
cr

os
s 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 a

nd
 th

e 
W

es
t 

M
id

la
nd

s 
to

 in
cr

ea
se

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t.
 

·  
W

or
k 

w
ith

 lo
ca

l b
us

in
es

se
s,

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
an

d 
ag

en
ci

es
 a

cr
os

s 
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 a
nd

 th
e 

W
es

t 
M

id
la

nd
s 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
av

er
ag

e 
w

ag
e 

le
ve

ls
. 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t. 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
 e

ar
ni

ng
s 

(w
or

kp
la

ce
 b

as
ed

) a
nd

 
na

rr
ow

 th
e 

ga
p 

be
tw

ee
n 

th
e 

co
un

ty
 a

nd
 th

e 
re

gi
on

. 

Lo
ca

l D
ev

el
op

m
en

t F
ra

m
ew

or
k 

Pr
og

re
ss

 to
w

ar
ds

 th
e 

pr
ep

ar
at

io
n 

of
 a

n 
up

 to
 d

at
e 

an
d 

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 p

la
nn

in
g 

po
lic

y 
fr

am
ew

or
k 

fo
r 

th
e 

co
un

ty
. T

he
 F

ra
m

ew
or

k 
w

ill
 c

om
pl

y 
w

ith
 th

e 
N

at
io

na
l P

la
nn

in
g 

Po
lic

y 
Fr

am
ew

or
k 

an
d 

en
ab

le
 

ho
us

in
g 

an
d 

ec
on

om
ic

 g
ro

w
th

 in
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 
w

hi
ls

t p
ro

te
ct

in
g 

its
 u

ni
qu

e 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t  o
f 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
. 

· 
Pr

ep
ar

e 
pl

an
 fo

r a
do

pt
io

n 
of

 C
or

e 
St

ra
te

gy
 (b

y 
su

m
m

er
/a

ut
um

n 
20

15
). 

 
· 

Pu
bl

ic
at

io
n 

of
 A

nn
ua

l M
on

ito
rin

g 
Re

po
rt

 
(A

M
R)

 b
y 

en
d 

of
 2

01
5.

 

· 
Ad

op
tio

n 
of

 C
or

e 
St

ra
te

gy
. 

· 
D

ur
in

g 
th

e 
pe

rio
d 

up
 to

 2
03

1,
 th

is
 w

ill
 

ev
en

tu
al

ly
 e

na
bl

e 
th

e:
 

-
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f 1

6,
50

0 
ho

us
es

 (6
00

 in
 

20
15

/1
6)

 
-

 
D

el
iv

er
y 

of
 1

48
 h

ec
ta

re
s 

of
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t 

la
nd

 (3
7 

he
ct

ar
es

 to
 b

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

du
rin

g 
20

15
/1

6)
 

-
 

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

of
 a

 H
er

ef
or

d 
Tr

an
sp

or
t 

St
ra

te
gy

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 a

 H
er

ef
or

d 
Re

lie
f R

oa
d.

 
 

· 
D

ra
ft

 C
om

m
un

ity
 In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 L
ev

y 
(C

IL
) 

Ch
ar

gi
ng

 S
ch

ed
ul

e 
pu

bl
is

he
d 

fo
r c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
su

m
m

er
 2

01
5.

 

· 
Ad

op
tio

n 
of

 C
IL

. 

Br
oa

db
an

d.
 

Pr
ov

id
e 

gr
ea

te
r B

ro
ad

ba
nd

 c
ov

er
ag

e 
an

d  
ta

ke
 u

p 
by

 re
si

de
nt

s 
an

d 
bu

si
ne

ss
es

, b
y 

th
e 

de
liv

er
y 

of
 

br
oa

db
an

d 
in

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

. 

· 
O

ve
rs

ee
 th

e 
ro

ll-
ou

t o
f t

he
 fi

br
e 

br
oa

db
an

d 
ne

tw
or

k.
 

· 
Ra

is
e 

aw
ar

en
es

s 
of

 th
e 

ne
w

 b
ro

ad
ba

nd
 

ne
tw

or
k 

to
 g

en
er

at
e 

up
 ta

ke
. 

·  
Se

ek
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 fu
nd

in
g 

fo
r g

re
at

er
 c

ov
er

ag
e 

an
d 

m
ax

im
is

e 
co

ve
ra

ge
 in

 d
ee

pl
y 

ru
ra

l a
re

as
. 

· 
O

pe
ra

te
 a

 v
ou

ch
er

 s
ch

em
e 

to
 in

ve
st

 in
 

ad
di

tio
na

l c
on

ne
ct

iv
el

y 
w

he
re

 n
ee

d 
is

 
de

m
on

st
ra

te
d.

 
·  

O
pe

ra
te

 th
e 

CR
EA

TE
 in

te
rn

at
io

na
l p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
to

 s
tim

ul
at

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
 s

up
po

rt
. 

· 
O

pe
ra

te
 th

e 
D

ig
ita

l I
nc

lu
si

on
 P

ro
gr

am
m

e 
th

at
 

en
co

ur
ag

es
 g

re
at

er
 u

se
 o

f b
ro

ad
ba

nd
 to

 
en

ab
le

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s.
 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
%

 o
f p

re
m

is
es

 w
ith

 th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l 
to

 a
cc

es
s 

>2
M

bp
s 

br
oa

db
an

d 
ac

ro
ss

 th
e 

co
un

ty
 b

y 
en

d 
of

 2
01

6.
 

·  
%

 o
f p

re
m

is
es

 w
ith

 th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l t
o 

ac
ce

ss
 

N
G

A 
br

oa
db

an
d 

se
rv

ic
es

 b
y 

th
e 

en
d 

of
 2

01
6.

 
· 

%
 o

f p
re

m
is

es
 w

ith
 th

e 
po

te
nt

ia
l t

o 
ac

ce
ss

 
fib

re
 b

ro
ad

ba
nd

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
by

 e
nd

 o
f 2

01
8.

 

136



· 
Su

pp
or

t i
nc

re
as

ed
 2

G
 c

ov
er

ag
e 

in
 n

ot
-s

po
t i

n 
th

e 
co

un
ty

. 
Im

pr
ov

e 
Re

si
de

nt
s 

In
te

ra
ct

io
n 

To
 e

na
bl

e 
re

si
de

nt
s 

an
d 

bu
si

ne
ss

es
 to

 a
cc

es
s 

se
rv

ic
e 

in
 th

e 
m

os
t e

ff
ec

tiv
e 

an
d 

co
st

 e
ff

ic
ie

nt
 

w
ay

. 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
d 

se
lf-

se
rv

ic
e 

op
tio

ns
 fo

r c
us

to
m

er
s 

vi
a 

w
eb

 a
nd

 p
ay

 p
oi

nt
s,

 a
nd

 s
el

f-
is

su
e 

fo
r 

lib
ra

rie
s.

 
· 

Pr
ov

id
e 

a 
ra

ng
e 

of
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

in
 th

e 
m

ar
ke

t 
to

w
ns

 a
nd

 H
er

ef
or

d 
Ci

ty
 o

pe
ra

te
d 

by
 th

e 
l o

ca
l 

au
th

or
ity

 a
nd

 d
iff

er
en

t o
rg

an
is

at
io

ns
. 

·  
Pr

ov
id

e 
op

po
rt

un
ity

 fo
r c

us
to

m
er

s 
to

 
es

ta
bl

is
h 

a 
pe

rs
on

al
 o

n-
lin

e 
ac

co
un

t f
or

 
se

rv
ic

es
 s

uc
h 

as
 C

ou
nc

il 
Ta

x.
  

· 
In

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f w

eb
 a

nd
 p

ay
 p

oi
nt

 
tr

an
sa

ct
io

ns
. 

·  
Pr

og
re

ss
 c

o-
lo

ca
tio

n 
of

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
in

 th
e 

m
ar

ke
t 

to
w

ns
 a

nd
 H

er
ef

or
d 

ci
ty

. 
·  

Im
pr

ov
e 

w
eb

 s
at

is
fa

ct
io

n.
 

· 
Im

pl
em

en
t D

ig
ita

l S
tr

at
eg

y.
 

Co
m

m
un

it
y 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t.
 

Su
pp

or
t p

eo
pl

e 
to

 b
e 

ac
tiv

e 
in

 th
ei

r  c
om

m
un

ity
 b

y 
en

co
ur

ag
in

g 
gr

ea
te

r 
in

vo
lv

em
en

t i
n 

lo
ca

l d
ec

is
io

n 
m

ak
in

g 
an

d 
se

rv
ic

e 
de

liv
er

y.
 

· 
D

ev
ol

ve
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

tr
an

sf
er

 a
ss

et
s 

to
 lo

ca
l 

co
un

ci
ls

 a
nd

 v
ol

un
ta

ry
 s

ec
to

r o
rg

an
is

at
io

ns
. 

· 
Ai

d 
es

ta
bl

is
hm

en
t a

nd
 o

pe
ra

tio
n 

of
 

co
m

m
un

ity
 a

nd
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 li

br
ar

ie
s.

 
· 

Pr
ov

id
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t s

up
po

rt
 fo

r s
oc

ia
l 

en
te

rp
ris

es
, s

ta
tu

to
ry

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
an

d 
vo

lu
nt

ar
y 

gr
ou

ps
 

·  
M

an
ag

e 
gr

an
t p

ro
gr

am
m

es
 a

nd
 a

cc
es

si
ng

 
ex

te
rn

al
 fu

nd
in

g.
 

· 
Su

pp
or

t c
om

m
un

iti
es

 a
nd

 n
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
s 

to
 

in
cr

ea
se

 s
el

f-
re

lia
nc

e.
 

· 
Pr

om
ot

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

 c
oh

es
io

n 
an

d 
ad

dr
es

s 
an

ti-
so

ci
al

 b
eh

av
io

ur
. 

· 
M

ai
nt

ai
n 

th
e 

le
ve

l o
f p

eo
pl

e 
w

ho
 fe

el
 s

af
e 

in
 

th
ei

r l
oc

al
 a

re
a.

 
· 

In
cr

ea
se

 th
e 

am
ou

nt
 o

f e
xt

er
na

l f
un

di
ng

 
se

cu
re

d.
 

· 
In

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
%

 o
f p

ar
is

h 
an

d 
to

w
n 

co
un

ci
ls

 
pa

rt
 o

f t
he

 le
ng

th
sm

an
 s

ch
em

e.
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s 
M

ak
e 

be
st

 u
se

 o
f t

he
 re

so
ur

ce
s 

av
ai

la
bl

e  
to

 u
s.

 
· 

M
an

ag
e 

ou
r f

in
an

ce
s 

ef
fe

ct
iv

el
y 

to
 s

ec
ur

e 
va

lu
e 

fo
r m

on
ey

 a
nd

 d
el

iv
er

 a
 b

al
an

ce
d 

bu
dg

et
. 

· 
Sp

en
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
co

un
ci

l’s
 o

ve
ra

ll 
bu

dg
et

. 
· 

An
y 

D
ire

ct
or

at
e 

ov
er

sp
en

d 
to

 b
e 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 b
y 

Ca
bi

ne
t w

ith
 a

 c
om

pe
ns

at
in

g 
un

de
rs

pe
nd

. 
·  

98
.5

%
 o

f C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x 

an
d 

Bu
si

ne
ss

 ra
te

s 
ar

e 
co

lle
ct

ed
. 

· 
Fo

r h
ou

si
ng

 b
en

ef
its

, r
ed

uc
e 

th
e 

nu
m

be
r o

f 
da

ys
 ta

ke
n 

to
: 

-
 

de
al

 w
ith

 n
ew

 c
la

im
s 

an
d 

ch
an

ge
s 

of
 

137



ci
rc

um
st

an
ce

; 
-

 
de

al
 w

ith
 n

ew
 c

la
im

s;
 a

nd
 

-
 

de
al

 w
ith

 c
ha

ng
es

 o
f c

irc
um

st
an

ce
. 

Im
pr

ov
e 

ca
pa

bi
lit

y,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

us
e 

of
 te

ch
no

lo
gy

; 
en

su
ri

ng
 w

e 
ha

ve
 th

e 
sk

ill
s,

 k
no

w
le

dg
e 

an
d 

to
ol

s 
to

 d
o 

th
e 

jo
b 

w
el

l . 
 

· 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 s

im
pl

ify
 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
an

d 
en

ab
le

 s
hi

ft
 to

 d
ig

ita
l. 

· 
D

ef
in

e 
an

d 
im

pl
em

en
t n

ew
 re

cr
ui

tm
en

t 
fr

am
ew

or
k.

 
·  

Re
vi

ew
 a

nd
 re

fr
es

h 
H

R 
po

lic
ie

s.
 

·  
D

ev
el

op
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 a

nd
 e

ng
ag

em
en

t 
cu

ltu
re

 a
nd

 im
pr

ov
ed

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 to
ol

s.
 

·  
D

el
iv

er
 a

 le
ad

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 re
fr

es
h 

of
 m

an
da

to
ry

 tr
ai

ni
ng

.  
· 

D
ev

el
op

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
 h

ea
lth

 a
nd

 w
el

lb
ei

ng
 

st
ra

te
gy

 a
nd

 p
la

n 
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

em
pl

oy
ee

 
ph

ys
ic

al
 a

nd
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
. 

· 
Pr

oc
es

se
s 

ar
e 

st
re

am
lin

ed
 a

nd
 a

ut
om

at
ed

, 
re

du
ci

ng
 o

ve
rh

ea
d 

co
st

s.
 

· 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 s

ub
st

an
tiv

e 
po

st
s 

be
in

g 
fil

le
d 

by
 

ag
en

cy
 w

or
ke

rs
, r

ed
uc

in
g 

ov
er

he
ad

 c
os

ts
. 

· 
H

R 
po

lic
ie

s 
an

d 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 re
fr

es
he

d,
 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

ed
 a

nd
 e

as
ily

 a
cc

es
si

bl
e ,

 e
ns

ur
in

g 
co

ns
is

te
nc

y 
an

d 
re

du
ci

ng
 ri

sk
 o

f e
rr

or
. 

·  
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t i
n 

em
pl

oy
ee

 e
ng

ag
em

en
t 

(m
ea

su
re

d 
th

ro
ug

h 
st

af
f s

ur
ve

y)
 fr

om
 3

3%
 

an
d 

ap
pr

ai
sa

l c
om

pl
et

io
n 

fr
om

 5
9%

 to
 8

0%
. 

· 
10

0%
 m

an
da

to
ry

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

fo
r a

ll 
st

af
f w

ith
 o

ve
r f

ou
r w

ee
ks

’ s
er

vi
ce

. 
· 

Re
du

ce
 s

ic
kn

es
s 

ab
se

nc
e 

fr
om

 4
%

. 
Su

pp
or

t t
he

 d
em

oc
ra

ti
c 

go
ve

rn
an

ce
 o

f t
he

 
Co

un
ci

l 
· 

M
an

ag
e 

el
ec

tio
ns

 2
01

5.
 

· 
In

du
ct

 n
ew

 m
em

be
rs

. 
·  

Re
vi

ew
 c

on
st

itu
tio

n.
 

· 
El

ec
tio

ns
 h

el
d 

w
ith

ou
t s

uc
ce

ss
fu

l c
ha

lle
ng

e.
 

· 
10

0%
 o

f m
em

be
rs

 c
om

pl
et

e 
m

an
da

to
ry

 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 w

ith
in

 a
gr

ee
d 

tim
es

ca
le

s.
 

·  
Co

ns
tit

ut
io

n 
re

vi
ew

ed
 a

nd
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

by
 

Co
un

ci
l b

y 
th

e 
en

d 
of

 M
ay

 2
01

6.
 

Fu
rt

he
r 

im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

ut
ili

sa
ti

on
 a

nd
 e

ff
ic

ie
nc

y 
of

 
pr

op
er

ty
 a

ss
et

s 
· 

D
ev

el
op

 n
ex

t s
ta

ge
 o

f A
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n 

St
ra

te
gy

. 
· 

Re
du

ct
io

n 
in

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

nd
 m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 

lia
bi

lit
ie

s.
 

 

138


	Agenda
	PublicInformationfireinfo oct 14
	3 MINUTES
	4 Public Health Annual Report
	Public Health Annual Report

	5 Herefordshire Older People's Housing Strategy and Pathway
	Appendix A Herefordshire Older People's Housing Strategy and Pathway

	6 Staying Put Strategy
	APPENDIX A Staying Put Policy
	APPENDIX B Staying Put Procedures

	7 Waste Management Services Contract Update
	8 Corporate Delivery Plan 2015-16
	APPENDIX A Corporate Delivery Plan 2015-16


